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between Qatari,
Saudi investors

QNA
Riyadh

atar Chamber has partici-

pated in the inauguration

ceremony of the 35th edi-
tion he Restatex Riyadh Real
Estate Exhibition 2026, which
was opened by the Saudi Minister
of Municipal, Rural Affairs, and
Housing, Majed al-Hogail, at the
Riyadh International Convention
and Exhibition Center.

The Chamber was represented
at the event by QC'’s Second Vice
Chairman, Rashid bin Hamad al-
Athba.

In his remarks, Al-Athba
stressed the close relations be-
tween the State of Qatar and the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, empha-
sising the importance of strength-
ening the role of the private sector
in both countries and expanding
partnerships between Qatari and
Saudi investors. He noted that this
collaboration would contribute to
the development of various eco-
nomic sectors, particularly real
estate, which is one of the main
pillars of sustainable development
and economic growth in both
countries.

Al-Athba underscored the
Chamber’s commitment to
strengthening regional partner-
ships, enhancing cooperation be-
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The Minister of State for Energy Affairs, HE Saad bin Sherida al-Kaabi, who is also the President and CEO of
QatarEnergy, recently hosted a special farewell reception in honour of Abdulaziz Jassim al-Muftah, who is
retiring as executive vice president for Industrial Cities at QatarEnergy. The minister extended his sincere
appreciation of al-Muftah’s long and dedicated service and recognised his leadership and outstanding
contributions and achievements throughout his career. Al-Kaabi said, “With four decades of exceptional
service, Abdulaziz Jassim al-Muftah left an enduring mark on QatarEnergy’s achievements and successes.
I would like to thank him for his exemplary leadership, his invaluable contributions, and wish him all the
best.” Al-Muftah joined QatarEnergy in 1986 as a development trainee. Since then, he has occupied a series
of positions, including head of Specialist Engineering, head of Projects (Dukhan), engineering manager
(offshore), and director of Ras Laffan Industrial City. In November 2014, he was appointed as executive vice
president for Industrial Cities. Al-Muftah is succeeded by Homoud Fahad al-Qahtani, who has 29 years of

experience in industrial cities and ports management and operations, having served in several key leadership

roles within QatarEnergy, the most recent of which was manager, Mesaieed and Dukhan Concession Area.

Qatar Chamber was represented at the event by QC’s Second
Vice-Chairman, Rashid bin Hamad al-Athba. He stressed the close
relations between Qatar and Saudi Arabia, emphasising the importance
of strengthening the role of the private sector in both countries and
expanding partnerships between Qatari and Saudi investors.

tween the public and private sec-
tors, and promoting the exchange
of expertise. He indicated that
these efforts play a pivotal role
in creating an attractive invest-
ment environment and support-
ing high-quality projects in real
estate development and sustain-
ability.

Elaborating on the significance
of the Restatex Riyadh Real Es-
tate Exhibition, he stated that
it has contributed to enhanc-
ing integration among various

stakeholders within the real es-
tate ecosystem in Saudi Arabia.
He noted that it is considered a
leading platform for dialogue and
the exchange of expertise, as well
as a stimulating environment for
presenting investment opportu-
nities and connecting developers,
financiers, investors, and deci-
sion-makers. This supports the
sustainability and growth of the
real estate sector and aligns with
the Kingdom’s ambitious devel-
opment plans.

QNB Financial Services conducts
investment awareness workshop

QNB Financial Services (QNBFS), a subsidiary
of QNB Group, has conducted an investment
awareness workshop for employees of Barwa
Real Estate, as part of its ongoing commitment
to promoting financial literacy and professional

development in Qatar.

The workshop focused on helping participants
understand how financial markets can support
long-term financial security, rather than quick,
short-term gains, translating institutional

investment concepts into clear, real-world

applications to help employees build practical
financial capability and support informed personal

financial planning.

This initiative contributes to broader efforts to
enhance financial literacy and market awareness
in Qatar, in line with the Qatar National Vision 2030

The workshop was delivered by Sahbi
Mohamed al-Kasraoui, financial advisor

licensed by the Qatar Financial Markets

and the Third Financial Sector Strategic Plan, which

emphasise sustainable economic development,
financial sector resilience, and informed

participation in capital markets.

The session introduced core principles of structured
investing, including the importance of aligning
investment risk with time horizon, diversification as
a primary risk-management tool, and the principle
of “time in the market, not timing the market.”

The discussion highlighted how capital markets can
support wealth preservation, income generation,
and protection against inflation, while showcasing
investment opportunities available to Barwa Real
Estate employees and their family members.

The workshop was delivered by Sahbi Mohamed
al-Kasraoui, financial advisor licensed by the Qatar
Financial Markets Authority (QFMA), vice president
and head of Retail Banking and High Net Worth

Authority, vice president and head of
Retail Banking and High Net Worth
Clients at QNBFS

Clients at QNBFS. He shared practical insights
drawn from his institutional market experience

to help participants strengthen their resilience in

navigating changing market conditions.

The initiative reflects QNBFS’ broader mission to
promote financial literacy, encourage a responsible
investment culture, and extend high-quality capital
markets insight to professionals across Qatar

and other markets in which QNB operates. It also
aligns with the group’s continued efforts to support
professional development through credible and
accessible financial education.

QNBFS remains committed to contributing to a
resilient and informed financial ecosystem by
delivering educational initiatives that enhance
market understanding and support sustainable
personal and economic growth.

Lusail

TENDER ADVERTISEMENT

Tender No.: 55018489

Tender Title:
Construction Package CP13-C3: Design and Construction of Seef Lusail South PWC Plant

Brief Description of the Works:
The scope of works shall include Engineering, Procurement, Construction, Testing, Commissioning and 2 years
Operation of PWC plant in Lusail City

Eligibility of Tenderers:
Tenderers/Joint Ventures shall strictly fulfill the following criteria:

1. Tenderer /Lead Joint Venture Partner/ Pneumatic Waste Collection Specialist Subcontractor shall be a
Pneumatic Waste Collection specialist for Pneumatic Waste Collection plants and systems with experience
in the design, manufacturing, construction, testing and operation of Pneumatic Waste Collection Plant &
system. In case of Pneumatic Waste Collection specialist participating as “Subcontractor”, the following
additional requirements shall be met:

* The Pneumatic Waste Collection Specialist Subcontractor shall be nominated in the Tender submittal
for the purpose of evaluating the adequacy and relevance of his experience. If the PWC Specialist
Subcontractor, doesn’'t have commercial registration in Qatar / operating from other GCC country,
equivalent documents shall be submitted.

* The Contract award shall be conditional upon the Contractor submitting a fully executed sub-contract
agreement with the approved Pneumatic Waste Collection Specialist within fourteen (14) days from award.

2. Tenderer/Lead Joint Venture Partner/ Pneumatic Waste Collection Specialist Subcontractor shall have
executed a minimum of two similar projects in Qatar or GCC region during the last ten (10) years and shall
substantiate the successful completion of similar projects by submitting copies of project completion
certificates duly attested by owners/employers.

3. Tenderer /Civil/MEP Partner/Civil/MEP sub-contractor shall be a First-Class Building Contractor, classified by
Ministry of Finance - Qatar, with experience in similar scale of projects in Qatar within the last 10 years. Civil
& MEP Partner or Sub-contractor shall be nominated in the tender submittal for the purpose of evaluating
the adequacy and relevance of his experience.

4. Tenderer /Civil/MEP Partner/Civil/MEP sub-contractor shall be a First-Class Buildinﬁ Contractor, classified by
Ministry of Finance - Qatar, with experience in similar scale of projects in Qatar within the last 10 years. Civil
& MEP Partner or Sub-contractor shall be nominated in the tender submittal for the purpose of evaluating
the adequacy and relevance of his experience.

5. Tenderer shall submit a comprehensive responsibility matrix detailing the roles and responsibilities of main
contractor, subcontractors, and design consultant on the different phases of the project.

6.  Tenderer/Lead Joint Venture partner/PWC Subcontractor shall have a valid commercial registration in Qatar.

7. Average annual turnover for the last five years of the Tenderer organization shall be a minimum of QR
40 million (or aggregate average turnover for Joint Ventures). Tenderer shall submit audited financial
statements for the years 2025, 2024, 2023, 2022 and 2021. Moreover, Tenderer must be financially capable to
successfully complete the project and pay his subcontractors and suppliers. Relevant documents pertained
to the status of bank facilities and capability to provide Bank Guarantees will be requested as part of the
Tender submission.

Tender Bond Value:
QAR 2,400,000 (Two Million Four Hundred Thousand Qatari Riyal). Valid for 180 days from Tender Closing Date.
(Cash payment is not acceptable).

Tender Closing Date:
11-MARCH-2026, not later than 12.00 noon local Doha time

Tender Document Collection:
Tender Documents shall be released online upon payment confirmation as detailed below by QD’s Document
Control - Procurement Department. Email: procurementlocal@qataridiar.com

Tender Collection Date & Time:
From 11-FEBRUARY-2026, between 09.30 a.m. to 01.30 p.m. (Except Friday & Saturday)

Tender Fee:

A payment of non-refundable tender fee in the amount of Ten Thousand Qatari Riyals (QAR10,000) should be
deposited/telegraphic transferred to Qatari Diar Real Estate Investment Company Bank Account

No. 0013-002643-060 (IBAN - QA65 QNBA 0000 0000 0013 0026 4306 0) with Qatar National Bank. Include your
company’s name when making deposit or online bank transfer so it appears in the bank document. Please
immediately email a copy of the deposit slip or Bank transfer advice to arqd@qataridiar.com attention of Finance
along with your Company’s full name, Company’s CR and state the tender number as a subject. After confirmation
of payment, an electronic receipt will be emailed back to you and a copy to QD’s Document Control - Procurement
department to process online release of tender document.

Required documents in order to collect the Tender Documents are as follows:
¢ Copy of the Company Incorporation/Commercial Registration.

e Company Authorization letter and ID of the person who will collect the Tender Document.

o Pr;sentation of the receipt for the tender fee submitted to the Finance Department of Qatari Diar in Lusail Site
Office.

Completed Confidentiality Undertaking which shall be collected from the above-mentioned office or requested
by Email: procurementlocal@qataridiar.com.

For further queries please communicate in writing to procurementlocal@gqataridiar.com
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Trust relationships and rights to property

By Dr AbdelGadir Warsama Ghalib

A trust is a legal relationship in which a
person who has legal rights to property
has the duty to hold it for the use or
benefit of another person.

The person benefited by a trust is
considered to have “equitable title” to the
property because it is being maintained for
his benefit. This means that he is regarded
as the real owner even though the trustee
has the legal title in his name. A trust may
be created in a number of different ways,
as an owner of property may declare that
he is holding certain property in trust.

Or an owner of property may transfer
property to another person with the
expressed intent that person is not to
have the use of it but rather is to hold it for
the benefit of either the original owner-
donor or a third person. Or, a trust may be
created by operation of law.

A person who creates a trust is known

as the donor or the settlor. The person
who holds the property in trust is known
as the trustee. The person for whose
benefit the property is held is known

as the beneficiary. The property held is
sometimes called the corpus or res, and a
distinction is made between the property
in trust, which is known as the principal,
and the income that is produced by the
principal.

A trust that is established and made
effective during the donor’s lifetime is
known as an inter vivos (or living) trust.

If a trust is established by a will and takes
effect on the donor’s death, it is known as a
testamentary trust.

Five basic elements are required for the
creation of an express trust including:
The donor must have legal capacity to
convey property. This means that the
donor must have the capacity needed

to make a contract in the case of a trust

created by contract of the testamentary
capacity to make a will in the case of a
trust created by will. Or, the donor must
intend to create a trust at the present time
and to impose enforceable duties on the
trustee. The donor must do this with the
required formalities in the case of a trust
must be created in writing.

Special and somewhat less restrictive rules
govern the establishment of charitable
trust. If the settlor does not name a trustee
for a validity created trust, the court will
appoint one. Similarly, a court will replace
a trustee who resigns, is incompetent, or
refuses to act.

In a special type of trust, known as a Totten
trust, a settlor places his assets in trust for
the benefit of another. During his lifetime,
the trust is revocable but on his death it is
irrevocable and the trust corpus becomes
the property of the beneficiary.

The law recognizes certain trusts, known
as resulting trusts that are based on the

Aramoco sells oil from Jafurah
field as huge Saudi project starts

Bloomberg
Riyadh

Saudi Aramco sold oil from its $100bn Jafu-
rah project in the first reported export from
the massive natural gas development.
Jafurah is Aramco’s first unconventional
field, developed using the type of hydraulic
fracturing, or fracking, techniques pioneered
in the US shale patch.

The deposit, which Chief Executive Officer
Amin Nasser calls the company’s crown
jewel, will produce massive amounts of
natural gas once at capacity, expected in
2030. It also has plentiful volume of liquid
fuels that will boost the company’s returns,
Nasser has said.

The oil that Aramco sold is condensate, a
light oil liquid that’s often found in gas depos-
its, according to traders with knowledge of
the purchases. It will go to buyers in Asia for
loading later this month or in early March, the
traders said.

Aramco declined to comment on the sales.
Saudi Arabia, already a global oil giant and
the world’s top crude exporter, is striving

to ramp up gas production as the country
seeks to power its ambitious growth targets.
The most populous Gulf state has outlined

Saudi Arabia, already a global oil giant and the world’s top crude exporter, is striving to
ramp up gas production as the country seeks to power its ambitious growth targets.

an economic transformation plan requiring
hundreds of trillions of dollars to build new
industries like technology, tourism and manu-
facturing.

While some of that spending is being rolled
back or under review, the kingdom needs
growth to create jobs for a burgeoning
population and to build an economy that can
withstand the eventual decline of demand
for oil.

Jafurah’s gas output, trapped in hard-to-
access deposits below Saudi Arabia’s desert
sands, is planned primarily to meet the king-
dom’s growing electricity demand. It will also

help free for export about Tmn barrels a day
of crude oil that the country has had to burn
for power until now, and pump out more than
600,000 barrels a day of natural gas liquids
and condensate by 2030.

Companies including energy majors and
refiners in Asia bought several spot cargoes
of the condensate, according to the traders
who asked not to be identified as they’re

not authorized to speak to the media. The
quality is similar to light crudes, which can be
processed to have a higher yield of products
like plastic feedstocks, including naphtha, or
gasoline.

Turkey keeps door ajar for rate cuts despite price risks

Bloomberg
Istanbul

Turkey’s central bank drew a bleaker as-
sessment of the country’s year-end inflation
trajectory but left the door open for future
interest-rate cuts.

The monetary authority expects annual
price gains to slow to between 15% and 21%
at the end of the year, slightly higher than
its previous estimated band of 13% to 19%,
Governor Fatih Karahan said on Thursday
at a quarterly presentation in Istanbul. The
year-end target — a measure used to guide

policy — remained unchanged at 16%.
Karahan said adjustments to the inflation
calculation framework, food prices and a
rise in some commodity prices were factors
in the upward revision.

When asked whether the central bank
would consider pausing the cutting cycle in
its next meeting in March, Karahan struck

a balanced tone. He said the price rises in
January — which could continue through-
out February — stem from food. Still, he
noted the “threshold” to increase the pace
of cuts is high. Deputy Governor Cevdet
Akcay later said the size of rate cuts “has to
decrease.”

The comments mark the first time the
officials provided explicit guidance on their
policy path since the start of the year. The
headline inflation print came in higher-
than-anticipated at 30.7% in January, barely
nudging from the prior month.

“Overall, we see the central bank’s guid-
ance backing our baseline of gradual

rate cuts, taking the policy rate to 27.5%
by year-end from 37% now. That marks

a slower pace of easing from the second
half of 2025, when policymakers delivered
800 basis points of cumulative cuts,” says
Selva Bahar Baziki, economist, Bloomberg
Economics
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B IEA still projects sizeable global

implied or presumed intent of a person to
create a trust. For example, if A transfers
property to B, intending that he be a
trustee of it, but if he fails to satisfy the
requirements for creating a valid express
trust, then B will not be permitted to retain
the property for his own use. He holds the
property in a resulting trust for A or his
successors in interest.

Another example of a resulting trust would
be where A transfers property to B to
provide for the needs of grandfather out of
the principal and income, but grandfather
dies before the trust funds are exhausted.
B then holds the trust property for the
benefit of B or his successors.

In addition to resulting trust, there is
another type of trust created by operation
of law. It imposes on the constructive
trustee a duty to convey property held

by him to another person on the grounds
that the trustee would be unjustly
enriched if he were allowed to retain it.

For example, if A obtained the transfer

of property to him by a fraudulent
misrepresentation or duress, he becomes
a constructive trustee. As such, he is
under an obligation to return the property
to the original owner.

B Dr AbdelGadir Warsama Ghalib is a
corporate legal counsel.
Email: awarsama@warsamalc.com

Syria sees economic growth
doubling to near 10% after
Trump eased sanctions

Bloomberg
Riyadh

Syria expects economic growth to double
to close to 10% this year, as the lifting of US
sanctions helps fuel a recovery from more
than a decade of civil war.

“There’s momentum now — we are entering
2026 with a lot of optimism,” Finance
Minister Mohamed Yisr Barnieh said in

an interview. He cited greater stability
throughout Syria, Washington’s crucial
move and the gradual return of skilled
Syrians who'd been among the millions who
fled.

“Most of them are investors, entrepreneurs
and intellectuals,” Barnieh said. “All this
creates good opportunities and makes

us very optimistic about our economic
performance.”

The Syrian economy, shattered by the war
that erupted in 2011 and finally ousted
long-time dictator Bashar al-Assad 14
months ago, is already on a significant
upswing, according to Barnieh. He put
2025 growth at about 5%, albeit from a low
base.

A successful rebuilding of the Middle
Eastern nation of about 25mn people will
be crucial for regional stability.

Syrian leader Ahmed al-Sharaa secured
major American sanctions relief in
November in exchange for a pledge to join
a US-led coalition to defeat Islamic State. It
came after he met President Donald Trump
at the White House.

The moves are already bearing fruit.
Chevron Corp last week signed a
memorandum of understanding with
state-owned Syrian Petroleum Co and

UCC Holding to explore for oil off the
Mediterranean coast. Syria expects similar
deals with other companies — especially
US ones — “soon,” Barnieh said, declining to
name any.

“The sanctions are behind us now,” he said
on the sidelines of the AlUla Conference
for Emerging Market Economies in Saudi

Arabia this week. “We have nothing to
complain about sanctions anymore,” he
added when asked if further relief was
needed.

Syria’s economy more than halved in

size between 2010 and 2020, and the
World Bank reclassified it a low-income
nation in 2018. Exports of oil, olive oil and
pistachio nuts largely ceased as production
collapsed.

Al-Sharaa has presented his administration
as a fresh start, and sought to build
international ties — a step that’s key

to reviving the economy. The US and
European and Gulf countries have been
receptive. Saudi Arabia among them has
announced the most generous investment
pledges.

The Syrian economy, shattered by
the war that erupted in 2011 and
finally ousted long-time dictator
Bashar al-Assad 14 months ago, is
already on a significant upswing,
according to Finance Minister
Mohamed Yisr Barnieh. He puts
2025 growth at about 5%, albeit from
alowbase

Saudi firms have struck deals to help
support Syria’s telecommunications and
aviation industries. Among the partnerships
are ones to upgrade its internet
infrastructure, renovate an airport in the
north and establish a new airline.
Regulatory reforms made in the past year
aim to create a “supportive, attractive
environment for foreign investors,” Barnieh
said. The current focus is on the energy,
infrastructure and telecommunications
sectors.

Barnieh also reiterated plans to issue Syria’s
first local sovereign Islamic bond, or sukuk,
toward the end of 2026.

“We are very optimistic about the support
that we're receiving,” the minister said.

“We hope we’ll be able to capitalize on this
opportunity to make further reforms quite
fast.”

Global oil demand to rise more
slowly as prices rally, says IEA

SR TENDER JENDER TENDER H Oil prices rise amid geopolitical
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information]

vigilant and verify the details like Domain id, Mail content efc.

o Tender document for the above invitation can be obtained as per following details:

Document Issue Date: From 15-February-2026 until Bid Closing Date.
No extension to Bid submission date due to late collection of Tender documents.

Tender Fee: Interested Parties shall first deposit the appropriate Tender Fee as mentioned above (non-refundable) into Account
Name - Qatar Fuel (WOQOD), Account Number 4010-356788-201 with Commercial Bank and IBAN: QA22 CBQA 0000 0000
4010 356788 201. Tenderer must mention their Company'’s full name and specific Tender Number on the bank deposit slip.
Tender Documents shall be sent from QATAR FUEL [WOQOD] Procurement & Contracts Department e-mail, upon receipt of
deposit slip in proof of the required payment if applicable, along with the company letter and a copy of the Commercial Registration
(CR) of the company in both English and Arabic to eprocurement@woqod.com.qa

o Tenders shall be accompanied by a Tender Bond issued by one of the Qatari Banks or by a Bank operating in Qatar, in accordance
with the terms of the tender documents and should be valid for 210 days from the Tender Closing Date.

o Offer should be valid for 180 days commencing from the Tender Closing Date.

o Avalid ICV certificate shall be mandatory for companies with local CRs to participate in all tenders w.e.f. 01-July-2023. In case of
extension of the bid closing date, the ICV score available on the original bid closing date will be used in the commercial evaluation.

o Exclusion for the mandatory ICV requirement for new companies that have been only established for less than 2 years.

o Itis requested to all bidders to obtain ICV Certification at the earliest. For more information, please visit Tawteen's ICV Digital Portal

Duly completed Tender should be delivered in sealed envelopes with the Tender Number and Bidders Company name clearly marked
on the envelope, and should be deposited in Tender Committee Office, P.O. Box: 7777, Ground Floor, WOQOD Tower, West Bay,
Doha, Qatar, not later than 10:00 AM on the Tender Closing Date mentioned above. [visit our website www.wogod.com.qa for more

& Caution Notice:

We value the trust you place on WOQOD and are committed to provide all our customers with reliable, professional & innovative solutions
to have a safe and fraudulent-free experience. However, in the wake of an increasing number of fake Email /s asking for fees against
tender / EOI / Bid Bond, etc, we suggest you to be cautious against such fraudulent Emails & Calls. We urge the public at large to be

Any tender Invitations / Emails from domains other than “wogod.com.qa” shall be considered as scamming and will be at the entire
responsibility of individuals or companies and WOQOD shall not be responsible for any direct or indirect, expressed or implied,
consequential, punitive damages, or any financial losses whatsoever in any manner.

World oil demand will rise more
slowly than expected this year, the

that cut supply in January.

projected that global supply would

is larger than other forecasts.

several producers.
“Escalating geopolitical tensions,

bullish market,” said the IEA, which
advises industrialised countries.
World oil demand is set to rise by

consumption.

International Energy Agency has said,
while warning the global market still
faces a sizeable surplus despite outages

In its monthly oil report, the agency

exceed demand by 3.73mn barrels per
day in 2026, broadly unchanged from
last month. A surplus of that scale would
equal almost 4% of world demand and

Global benchmark Brent crude prices
are still up about 14% since the start of
the year on tensions between the US
and Iran and supply outages across

snowstorms and extreme temperatures
in North America, and Kazakh supply
disruptions sparked the reversal to a

850,000 bpd this year, the IEA said,
down 80,000 bpd from last month’s
forecast and well below Wednesday’s
projection from producer group Opec.
The IEA said “economic uncertainties
and higher oil prices” were weighing on

An oil tanker is seen at sunset anchored off the Fos-Lavera oil hub near Marseille,
France. In its monthly oil report, the IEA projected that global supply would

exceed demand by 3.73mn barrels per day in 2026, broadly unchanged from last
month. A surplus of that scale would equal almost 4% of world demand and is

larger than other forecasts.

Supply has risen faster than demand
largely because OPEC+ — the
Organization of the Petroleum
Exporting Countries plus Russia and
other allies — began increasing output
in April 2025 after years of cuts. Other
producers, such as the US, Guyana, and
Brazil, have also lifted production.
OPEC+ has, however, paused its output
hikes for the first quarter of 2026. Eight
members will meet on March 1 when
they are expected to decide whether to
resume the hikes in April.

Global oil supply plunged by 1.2mn bpd
in January to 106.6mn bpd after the
outages in Kazakhstan and elsewhere,
the IEA said.

With supply cut at the start of the year,
the agency trimmed its projection for
2026 supply growth to 2.4mn bpd from
2.5mn bpd last month. OPEC+ pumped
43.3mn bpd of crude in January, down
160,000 bpd from December, the IEA
said. That remains far above the report’s
estimate of demand for OPEC+ crude
plus inventory withdrawals, which it
puts at 39.7mn bpd in the first quarter
and 39.6mn bpd in the second.

Data published by Opec on Wednesday,
however, pointed to a much smaller
surplus in the second quarter and

a supply deficit in 2026 overall if
OPEC+ output stays at January levels,
according to a Reuters calculation.
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Industries Qatar

Notice to the Shareholders of
Qatar Q.P.S.C.

Notice to the Shareholders of Industries Qatar Q.P.S.C.

We are pleased to invite you to attend the Company’s Ordinary General Assembly Meeting to be held on Tuesday, 10th
March 2026 at 8:30 p.m. Doha Time, in Al-Mukhtasar Ballroom, Ritz Carlton Hotel, Doha. In case a quorum is not met,
a second meeting will be held on Monday, 16th March 2026 at the same venue and time.

¢ Industries

year ended 31 December 2025.
financial year ended 31 December 2025.

2025.

representing 71% of the nominal share value.

remuneration.

H.E. Mr. Saad Sherida Al-Kaabi
Chairman and Managing Director
Industries Qatar

Agenda of the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting

1. Listen to the H.E. Chairman’s message for the financial year ended 31 December 2025. 1.
2. Approve the Board of Directors’ report on 1Q’s operations and financial performance for the financial

3.  Listen and approve the External Auditor’s Report on IQ’s consolidated financial statements for the
4.  Discuss and approve 1Q’s consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 3.

5. Present and approve 2025 Corporate Governance Report.
6.  Approve the Board’s recommendation for a dividend payment of QR 0.71 per share for 2025, 4.

7. Absolve the Board of Directors from liability for the year ended 31 December 2025 and fix their

8. Appoint the external auditor for the financial year ending 31 December 2026 and approve their fees.

Notes

Each shareholder shall have the right to attend the meeting of the General Assembly and shall have a number of votes that
equals the number of shares owned thereby. Resolutions shall be passed by an absolute majority of shares duly represented
therein, without prejudice to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association.

2.  Minors and the interdicted persons shall be represented by their legal guardians.

Any shareholder that is a company may authorize any one person to act as its representative at any meeting of the General
Assembly.

Attendance by proxy at the General Assembly meeting is permitted, provided that the proxy is a shareholder and that the
proxy is specific and in writing. A shareholder may not appoint a Board Director to act as his proxy at the meeting of the
General Assembly. Proxy form can be downloaded from the Company’s website: www.iq.com.qa.

5. Ashareholder may act as proxy for one or more shareholders of the Company as contemplated under the Company’s Articles
of Association. In all cases, the number of shares held by the proxy in this capacity shall not exceed (5%) of the Company’s
share capital.

6.  Instruments appointing authorized persons and proxies must be provided to the Company no less than forty-eight (48) hours
prior to the commencement of the General Assembly.

Introduction

Financial year 2025 remained challenging, shaped by volatility,
structural transformation, rapid technological advancements,
and geopolitical uncertainties. Businesses faced multiple
economic headwinds, including shifting trade policies, regional
conflicts, tariff disruptions, and supply chain interruptions,
while also benefiting from innovation, automation, and
the integration of artificial intelligence. Despite these
complexities, our resilient business model—anchored in
operational excellence, safety culture, robust governance, cost
optimization, and financial discipline—enabled us to deliver
strong operational and financial performance.

Against this challenging and uncertain backdrop, the Group
delivered solid operational and financial performance,
achieving production of 18.1 million MTs, highest since
group’s inception in 2003 with facility reliability of 98% and
availability of 86% both improved over the last year. Net profit
for the period reached QR 4.3 billion, translating to an EPS of
QRO.71.

Macroeconomic Review

The global economy rebounded in 2024 after enduring the
lingering effects of macroeconomic stress during 2022 and
2023.1n 2025, the global macroeconomic environment showed
modest improvement over 2024 but remained below long-term
growth trends. Inflation continued to decline, with major central
banks adjusting policy rates to align with disinflationary trends.
However, policy uncertainty, trade disruptions, and geopolitical
tensions persisted as key risks, particularly for operators in
emerging and developing markets. Compared to 2024, 2025
was marked by greater divergence in growth and risk profiles.
Global economic conditions shifted after a period of strong
growth, with momentum easing due to higher borrowing costs
and softer demand in some advanced markets. Meanwhile,
other economies saw a rebound supported by improved
household income and favorable interest rate environment.
China’s economy experienced a slight slowdown amid deeper
property sector and local government challenges. In response,
the Chinese government introduced targeted measures,
including lending rate cuts and infrastructure-focused financial
instruments. Overall, 2025 was characterized by slightly slower
global growth, continued disinflation, and cautious monetary
easing, coupled with heightened geopolitical and trade-related
uncertainty compared to the previous year.

In 2025, the petrochemical industry faced significant
challenges, including overcapacity, sluggish demand recovery,
sustainability pressures, and geopolitical uncertainties.
The sector entered a cyclical downturn as new production
facilities— particularly ethylene crackers and polymer plants—
came online during a period of weak global demand, resulting
in depressed operating rates and compressed margins. European
producers were disproportionately impacted by elevated energy
costs and stringent regulatory requirements, prompting some
to consider asset closures or relocation. Industry dynamics
continued to be heavily influenced by feedstock prices and
margins, with both naphtha and natural gas feedstocks—
closely tied to energy markets—remaining balanced to bearish
throughout the year.

Despite these headwinds, demand for petrochemical products
remained resilient, supported by lower inflation, favorable
interest rates, and strong consumer affordability. Key sectors
such as packaging and some other sectors remained in robust
demand. At the same time, innovation and sustainability
initiatives are reshaping the industry landscape. Strategic
investments in circular economic practices and advanced digital
technologies are enabling petrochemical companies to enhance
efficiency and maintain competitiveness in an increasingly
volatile global market.

In 2025, the nitrogen fertilizer industry experienced a mix of
stabilization and renewed volatility compared to 2024. After
trending downward through 2023 and early 2024 following the
sharp peaks of 2022, prices began fluctuating again in 2025,
driven by seasonal planting cycles, strong demand, geopolitical
tensions, trade restrictions, and input cost variability. Prices
surged in the second half of the year, supported by improved
farmer affordability, rising food demand, expansion of arable
land, adoption of advanced agricultural technologies, and
seasonal demand from major markets such as India and Brazil.

On the supply side, China maintained its restrictive export
polices, frequent delays in major Indian tenders persisted, and
imposed tariffs on some exports further constrained availability
and disrupted supply chains. While natural gas prices—a key
input—declined across most producing economies, helping
moderate production costs, other raw material costs increased,
adding pressure. The industry also witnessed growing
investment in low-carbon ammonia and sustainable practices,
although financing delays slowed progress.

Overall, 2025 brought cautious optimism to the nitrogen
fertilizer sector, with improved supply dynamics but continued
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risks stemming from trade policies, tariffs, geopolitical tensions,
and input cost volatility.

In 2025, the steel industry faced a mixed macroeconomic
environment compared to 2024, shaped by regional disparities,
shifting trade policies, and evolving demand patterns.

In 2024, steel producers encountered significant headwinds,
including global overcapacity, weak demand in major markets,
and volatile pricing, which led to reduced mill utilization
and declining margins. Benchmark long steel prices fell
significantly during the year, reflecting oversupply and subdued
construction activities. Several large steel-consuming markets
experienced consecutive declines in steel consumption,
driven by high energy costs, geopolitical tensions, and weak
manufacturing performance.

In 2025, the global steel industry showed signs of cautious
recovery following a challenging 2024. Demand rebounded in
some regions, driven by infrastructure spending, non-residential
construction, and a recovering housing market. Legislative
support and monetary policy adjustments encouraged
investment in large-scale infrastructure projects, boosting long
steel consumption. Benchmark prices began to rise again,
supported by tighter import controls, and improving demand.
However, global production forecasts were revised downward,
and persistent overcapacity continued to weigh on profitability.
Environmental regulations and decarbonization pressures also
influence investment decisions, prompting firms to cautiously
expand capacity while exploring low-carbon technologies.

Within the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC), the long steel
industry demonstrated moderate recovery and strategic
repositioning compared to 2024, fueled by mega-projects,
urbanization, and infrastructure spending. Like global peers,
GCC producers faced headwinds in 2024 from overcapacity,
weaker demand, and volatile input costs. Although global
price pressures and trade distortions impacted the region,
domestic demand remained relatively resilient due to ongoing
construction and industrial diversification initiatives.

By 2025, macroeconomic conditions improved marginally, and
the GCC long steel market benefited from stronger regional
demand, with large-scale infrastructure and housing projects
accelerating. While global crude steel production forecasts
were revised downward due to trade tensions and weak demand
elsewhere, the MENA region—including the GCC—emerged
as one of the few areas showing growth trends. Nevertheless,
challenges persisted, including competition from subsidized
Chinese exports, rising energy costs, and increasing pressure
to decarbonize steel production, which squeezed margins and
influenced investment decisions. In response, GCC producers
began exploring green steel technologies and localizing supply
chains to reduce exposure to global volatility.

Overall, 2025 marked a transition from oversupply and
stagnation toward selective recovery and strategic realignment
in the long steel sector.

Strategic Business Review

Our sustained operational and financial success reflects the
strength of our long-term, low-cost operating model, built
on integrated business synergies, economies of scale and
scope, and continuous operational optimization. This model
has enabled us to navigate another year of volatility with
resilience. Despite macroeconomic uncertainty and geopolitical
instability, we maintained stable operations across all facilities
at near-full capacity, delivering strong operating and financial
results. These achievements were driven by asset reliability,
operational excellence, and embedding flexibility and
resilience into our processes. We continue to invest prudently
in production and operating systems to enhance efficiency,
optimize costs, and uphold the highest standards of Health,
Safety, and Environment (HSE).

We have established a robust global supply chain framework
designed to deliver value to both customers and shareholders.
This supply chain has proven critical during periods of
uncertainty marked by regional conflicts and regulatory
restrictions,amongst other challenges. Our marketing partner for
petrochemicals and fertilizers, QatarEnergy Marketing, ensured
business continuity by securing optimal netbacks through
strategic arbitrage opportunities across multiple geographies
and leveraging economies of scale to minimize costs. Together
with other logistics partners, QatarEnergy Marketing facilitated
the efficient and timely distribution of all sellable products to
target customers and markets without delays. Our unwavering
commitment to maintaining a competitive cost structure
has reinforced operational stability and played a key role in
achieving strong operating and financial results.

Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) and Business
Development.

During the financial year 2025, the Group invested QR 2.2
billion in capital expenditures, primarily directed toward
turnaround  activities, reliability ~enhancements, health,

safety, and environmental (HSE) projects, as well as ongoing
investments in the new blue ammonia train (QAFCO-7) and
the PVC project. Capital expenditure for QAFCO-7 during the
year amounted to QR 0.9 billion, while an additional QR 128
million was allocated to the PVC project. To date, cumulative
spending on QAFCO-7 stands at QR 3.7 billion, and QR 0.4
billion on the PVC project.

For the next five years (2026-2030), the Group’s planned
capital expenditure will be QR 10.5 billion. This includes
the remaining portion related to the new ammonia train
(QAFCO-7), amounting to QR 0.7 billion, and IQ’s share of
CAPEX in the new PVC project, amounting to ~QR 50 million.

The QAFCO-7 project has reached its final phase of
construction and is nearing completion. The project is expected
to be commercially launched in 1H-2026. The available sellable
volumes from QAFCO-7 (capacity of 1.2 million tons per
annum) will be sold as low-carbon ammonia in the commercial
market in collaboration with QatarEnergy Renewable Solution
(QERS) once the carbon capture and storage (CCS) is
completed. Conventional grey ammonia will be sold until the
construction of the CCS is completed.

The Group’s indirect joint venture, QVC’s new PVC project,
has now been completed with investment costs just exceeding
USD 300 million at the project level, including owner’s cost, to
produce 350,000 MTs of PVC products. The project is expected
to be operational during 2026. This investment underscores the
Group’s commitment to diversify its downstream operations
and reducing import dependency on PVC in the State of Qatar.

In addition to the above, the Group will continue to invest
on its core recurring CAPEX programs, which are critically
important for improving asset integrity, operational efficiency,
reliability, cost optimization, capacity de-bottlenecking, HSE
enhancement, environmental sustainability, and regulatory
compliance.

On the strategy and business development front, we continued
to prioritize selective investments and strategic restructuring.
Our acquisition of a domestic steel mill in 2023, aimed at
consolidating domestic market share, has proven highly
successful and delivered significant synergies. In addition,
our steel subsidiary restarted several previously mothballed
facilities in late 2024 and early 2025. These restarts have
expanded the segment’s market presence and strengthened
operational integration with subsidiaries and associates. By
ensuring uninterrupted supply of raw materials at competitive
prices, the restart has enhanced supply chain reliability and
enabled the segment to capture economies of scale, resulting in
reduced unit costs and improved overall efficiency.

Cost and Operational Optimization

The Group operates in highly unpredictable and competitive
macroeconomic and market environments, exposing
consolidated financial performance and cash flow generation to
fluctuations in commodity prices and other economic variables.
In this context, maintaining cost discipline and operational
efficiency remains critical to sustaining profitability.

To address these challenges, the Group and its operating entities
continued to implement comprehensive cost and operational
optimization strategies, which are reviewed regularly for
effectiveness. Multi-disciplinary, cross-functional teams are
deployed across the value chain to assess short, medium, and
long-term asset strategies and recommend measures to enhance
financial and operational performance. These initiatives
include rationalizing OPEX and CAPEX programs, adjusting
production capacities to maximize raw material yields, and
optimize resource utilization.

Such measures have strengthened the Group’s cost structure,
both variable and fixed over time, resulting in improved
profitability margins and robust cash flow generation in the
short and long term.

Financial Performance

Given the challenging macroeconomic conditions characterized
by uncertain demand and excess global capacity, the Group’s
financial performance for the year can be considered highly
commendable. Despite softening demand and abundant supply,
our low-cost and flexible operating model enabled production
and sales at near full capacity, optimizing asset utilization.
This ability to perform in a volatile environment underscores
the Group’s resilience and adaptability, which are deeply
embedded in our operational and financial strategies.

Revenue: Total proportionate revenue for the year ended 31
December 2025 amounted to QR 18.6 billion, an increase of 11
% over last year. Reported revenue for the year amounted to
QR 16.0 billion, showing an increase of 26% versus last year.

This increase in Group revenue (based on non-IFRS
proportionate consolidation) during the current year was
mainly attributed to a combined effect of increase in blended
average selling price and sales volumes. Blended average

selling prices increased by ~4% compared to last year,
translating to an increase of ~QR 0.5 billion to Group’s net
earnings. Improvement in the fertilizer prices remained a key
contributor to the increase in the average blended product prices
during the year.

In line with the improved production and amid tightened market
conditions, Group’s sales volumes increased by 6% versus last
year and is the highest since group’s inception, primarily driven
by higher volumes sold in the steel segment.

Profits & Margins: Net profit for the year amounted to QR
4.3 billion, marginally down on last year’s restated net profit
by 8%, while Group’s EBITDA reached QR 6.4 billion, which
remained relatively unchanged compared to last year. While
improved operating profit boosted EBITDA for the year, the
reduction in other non-operating income almost offset the
improved operating income resulting in flat EBITDA versus
previous year. EBITDA margin declined due to increased
operating costs and lower non-operating income.

Financial Position and Cash Flows

In a year marked by uncertainty and challenges, the Group
maintained a robust financial position while sustaining
strong cash flow generation to fund operations and strategic
investments.

The year began with a proportionate cash and bank balance
of QR 114 billion. During the year, the Group generated
operating cash flows of QR 4.9 billion and invested QR 2.2
billion in capital expenditures, resulting in free cash flow to the
firm of ~QR 2.6 billion. Dividend distributions included a final
payout for 2024 of ~QR 2.6 billion and an interim dividend for
the current year of ~QR 1.6 billion. The Group also recorded
investment returns of ~QRO.5bil for the year. Consequently,
the Group recorded a net cash outflow of ~QR 1.1 billion and
closed the year with a proportionate cash and bank balance of
~QR 10.3 billion.

Group’s reported total assets and total equity reached QR 43.1
billion and QR 37.9 billion, respectively, as of 31 December
2025. Currently, the Group has neither short-term nor long-term
financial debt obligations.

Group’s continued strong and resilient financial and liquidity
position, together with its robust cashflow generation, is a
testament to its prudent and consistent asset and financial
management  policies, conservative capital  structure,
competitive cost positioning, and efficient operating asset
base. These prudent financial and operating policies have
led to adequate and robust cash flow generation capabilities,
supported by a strong and reliable operating asset base.

A strong financial and liquidity position is critical for the
Board to safeguard against instability and market volatilities,
while providing support to ensure a balance in maintaining
and maximizing shareholder value. It also allows further
flexibility to consider CAPEX projects and acquisitions on an
opportunistic basis to create long-term shareholder value as and
when presented.

Proposed Dividend Distribution

A total dividend of more than QR 78.8 billion has been
distributed to shareholders since the Group’s incorporation
in 2003, with an average payout ratio of ~ 70%. This is clear
evidence of the Board’s continuous commitment to consistently
maximize shareholder value and achieve robust yields while
maintaining appropriate liquidity to cater for current and future
capital projects as well as any unexpected macroeconomic and
market adversities.

With these considerations in place, coupled with a
macroeconomic forecast linked to business outlook, future
growth strategies, and capital expenditure commitments based
on our business plans, the Board of Directors proposes a 2H-
2025 dividend distribution of QR 2.7 billion (equating to QR
0.45 per share), bringing the total annual dividend distribution
for the year ended 31 December 2025 of QR 4.3 billion,
equivalent to a payout of QR 0.71 per share for the full year,
subject to necessary approval in the Annual General Assembly
Meeting.

Conclusion

The Board of Directors extends its heartfelt gratitude and
utmost appreciation to His Highness the Amir Sheikh Tamim
bin Hamad Al Thani for his wise leadership and unwavering
support and guidance to Qatar’s energy sector.

The Board of Directors also expresses its profound gratitude
to HE. Mr. Saad Sherida Al-Kaabi, Minister of State for
Energy Affairs, Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Managing Director, for his vision and outstanding leadership.
Additionally, we extend our thanks to the senior management
of the Group companies for their hard work, commitment, and
dedication. We are also thankful to our loyal shareholders for
their ongoing support and trust.

1. Proportionate figures are presented on a non-IFRS basis and comprise fully owned subsidiaries, the Group’s share of not fully owned subsidiaries, and the Group’s share of directly and indirectly held joint ventures

2. Reported revenue refers to the revenue reported in the consolidated financial statements in line with the requirements of IFRS, representing revenue from subsidiaries only, i.e., QAFCO, QAFAC and Qatar Steel, without including share of revenue from directly

and indirectly held joint ventures.

FOR MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING AGENDA MATERIALS, PLEASE VISIT WWW.IQ.COM.QA OR EMAIL US AT: IQ@QATARENERGY.QA OR CALL US AT: +974 4013 2080




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2025

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of
Industries Qatar Q.P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Industries
Qatar Q.P.S.C. (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (together the
‘Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2025, the consolidated statements of profit

or loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2025, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting
Standards).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of

Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), as applicable to audits of
the financial statements of public interest entities, together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements in the State of Qatar, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

policies and other explanatory information.

Ethics

1. Recognition of revenue See Note 9 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group recognised revenue of QR 15,978
million during the year.

As disclosed in Note 9, the Group’s share of
profits from its joint venture amounting to QR
675 million represents 16% of the Group’s profit
for the year while the total revenue for the year
generated by the joint venture amounted to QR
3,420 million.

Revenue being a key economic indicator of the
Group is significant to the consolidated financial
statements and considering significant time and
resources required to audit the revenue accounts
and inherent risk of material misstatement, we
considered this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in this area included, among others:

* evaluating the appropriateness of the selection of
accounting policies based on the requirements of
IFRS 15, our understanding of the business and
related industry practice;

assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the relevant internal
controls over revenue recognition;

inspecting the agreements with customers,
on sample basis, to evaluate that revenue is
recognised in accordance with the terms of the
agreement and the requirements of IFRS 15;

performing test of details on a sample of revenue
transactions by inspecting respective invoices, delivery
statements and customers’ acknowledgements and
other corroborating evidence;

comparing on a sample basis, the revenue
transactions recorded before and after the
reporting period with underlying supporting
documents to assess if related revenue is
recorded in the correct accounting period; and

evaluating the adequacy of the financial
statement disclosures, including disclosure of
key assumptions and judgements.

2. Measurement of provision for decommissioning and site restoration obligation (‘“DSRO”’)

See Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group recorded a provision
for DSRO which amounts to QR 1,136 million
as of 31 December 2025 representing 25% of the
Group’s total liabilities.

DSRO provision is recorded at the present
value of estimated costs of decommissioning
and restoration activities. The measurement
of DSRO provision is inherently judgemental
and requires the Group’s management and their
experts to make significant judgements and
estimates about timing of the decommissioning
activity, the Group’s expected approach to DSRO
activities, price levels, inflation & discount rates,

Our audit procedures in this area included,
among others:

- assessing the design and implementation of
the relevant internal controls over the DSRO
estimation process;

- evaluating the appropriateness of:

e the timing of recognition of the DSRO
provision in line with relevant underlying
supporting documents; and

* the expected timing of the decommissioning
activities based on relevant communications
and agreements with the lessor.

for Professional Accountants

(including International  separate opinion on these matters.

—Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

—Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

—Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 11 of 2015, whose certain provisions were
subsequently amended by Law No. 8 of 2021 (“amended QCCL”), we also report that:

1.

ii.

iii.

iv.

We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of
our audit;

The Company has maintained proper accounting records and its consolidated financial statements are
in agreement therewith;

We have read the report of the Board of Directors to be included in the Annual Report, and the financial
information contained therein is in agreement with the books and records of the Company.

Furthermore, the physical count of the Group’s inventories in Qatar was carried out in accordance with
established principles; and

technology and regulations. - evaluating: v.  We are not aware of any violations of the applicable provisions of the amended QCCL or the terms
; i e S of the Company’s Articles of Association having occurred during the year which might have had a

The ]ab(')ve' factors }ncr}e}tasBSltth degree of | o the competence, capabilities and objectivity material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or performance as at and for the year

complexity in estimating the DS provision in of management’s expert; ended 31 December 2025

accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent | the appropriateness of the methods and .

Liabilities an(.i Contingent Asslets. assumptions applied by management’s

Thg_refore, this area was cqnsgiere% to be ha key expert; and 11 February 2026 Gopal Balasubramaniam
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provision.

- involving our own valuation specialists to
assist in evaluating the appropriateness of the
discount rates and inflation rates used by the
Group, which included comparing these inputs
with externally derived data as well as our own
assessments based on our knowledge of the
Group and the industry;

- re-performing the calculation of the DSRO

Other Information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we obtained the report of the
Board of Directors which forms part of the Annual Report, and the remaining sections of the Annual
Report are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon as part of our engagement to
audit the consolidated financial statements. We have performed assurance engagements on the internal
controls over financial reporting, the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the Qatar Financial
Markets Authority’s Governance Code for Listed Companies that forms part of the other information
and provided a separate assurance practitioner’s conclusion thereon that is included within the other
information.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the
Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

—Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

—Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances.

—Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

provision to assess accuracy; and
- evaluating the adequacy of the financial Notes 2025 2024

statement disclosures, including disclosures of Restated”

key assumptions, judgements and sensitivities. ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 17,306,006 15,756,977
Capital project advances 7A 35,935 104,671
Investment in associates 8 2,139,237 2,081,580
Investment in joint venture 9 5,282,924 5,846,070
Advances 10 443,556 315,544
Rights-of-use assets 1 291,110 336,951
Other non-current assets 169,247 178,109
Deferred tax asset 23 38,039 17,264
Total non-current assets 25,706,054 24,637,166
Current assets
Inventories 13 3,299,155 3,364,009
Trade and other receivables 14 3,799,655 3,401,395
Equity securities at FVTPL 12 405,973 401,389
Fixed deposits and other bank balances 6 6,195,979 7,371,600
Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,731,259 3,433,990
Total current assets 17,432,021 17,972,383
Total assets 43,138,075 42,609,549
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 15 6,050,000 6,050,000
Legal reserve 16 360,114 327,059
Other reserves 16 (78,383) (65,105)
Retained earnings 31,598,909 31,608,979
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 37,930,640 37,920,933
Non-controlling interests 35 723,225 895,235
Total equity 38,653,865 38,816,168
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 1 334,043 390,797
Long-term provisions 19 1,694,382 511,842
Deferred tax liability 23 59,170 66,176
Total non-current liabilities 2,087,595 968,815
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 2,276,711 2,623,178
Lease liabilities 1 70,696 64,331
Income tax payable 23 49,208 137,057
Total current liabilities 2,396,615 2,824,566
Total liabilities 4,484,210 3,793,381
Total equity and liabilities 43,138,075 42,609,549
* The comparative information has been restated due to the completion of acquisition accounting for a
subsidiary. Refer to Note 31.
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on
11 February 2026 and signed on its behalf by:

Saad Sherida Al-Kaabi Abdulaziz Mohammed Al Mannai
Chairman and Managing Director Vice Chairman

Licensed by QFMA: External
Auditors’ License No. 120153
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2025 (QR ‘000)

Notes 2025 2024
Restated*
Revenues 24 15,977,995 12,652,136
Cost of sales 25 (12,177,476) (9,874,270)
Gross profit 3,800,519 2,777,866
General and administrative expenses 28 (855,623) (761,081)
Selling and distribution expenses (83,590) (89,646)
Share of net results of investment in joint ventures 9 674,891 1,259,966
Share of net results of investment in associates 8 139,838 345,509
Income from other investments 27 432,254 708,639
Finance cost (60,822) (29,857)
Other income — net 26 302,726 554,509
Profit before tax 4,350,193 4,765,905
Income tax expense 23 (26,702) (37,960)
Profit for the year 4,323,491 4,727,945
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 4,300,053 4,665,879
Non-controlling interests 35 23,438 62,066
4,323,491 4,727,945
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR per share) 22 0.71 0.77
* The comparative information has been restated due to the completion of acquisition accounting for a
subsidiary. Refer to Note 31.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2025 (QR ‘000)

Equity
attributable Non-
Share Legal Other Retained to owners of controlling

Note capital reserve reserves earnings the Company interests  Total equity
At 1 January 2024 6,050,000 271,942 (62,265) 33,699,253 39,958,930 17,411 39,976,341
Profit for the year (Restated*) - - 4,665,879 4,665,879 62,066 4,727,94!
Other comprehensive loss for the year E E (2,840) E (2,840) - (2,840
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the - - (2,840) 4,665,879 4,663,039 62,066 4,725,105
year (Restated*)
Acquisition of a subsidiary with NCI
(Restated) 31 - - - - - 817,708 817,708
Social and sports contribution fund provision
(Restated") 17 - - - (106,536) (106,536) - (106,536)
Transfer to legal reserve 16 - 55,117 - (55,117) - - -
Transaction with owners of the Company:
Dividends - - - (6,594,500) _ (6,594,500) (1,950) __ (6,596,450)
At 31 December 2024 (Restated*) 6,050,000 327,059 (65,105) 31,608,979 37,920,933 895,235 38,816,168
At 1 January 2025 6,050,000 327,059 (65,105) 31,608,979 37,920,933 895,235 38,816,168
Profit for the year ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ 4,300,053‘ ‘ 4,300,053‘ ‘ 23,438‘ ‘ 4,323,491)|
Other comprehensive loss for the year 4 4 (13,278)| - (13,278)| B (13,278
;:;?' comprehensive income / (loss) for the - - (13,278) 4,300,053 4,286,775 23,438 4,310,213
Social and sports contribution fund provision 17 - - - (102,568) (102,568) - (102,568)
Transfer to legal reserve 16 - 33,055 - (33,055) - - -
Transaction with owners of the Company:
Dividends - - - (4174,500)  (4,174,500) (195,448)  (4,369,948)
At 31 December 2025 6,050,000 360,114 (78,383) 31,598,909 37,930,640 723,225 38,653,865

* The comparative information has been restated due to the completion of acquisition accounting for a subsidiary. Refer to Note 31.
* The accompanying notes 1 to 37 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

TES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2025

(All amounts are in QR ‘000, unless otherwise specified)

1. Legal status and principal activities

Qatar Q.P.S.C. (the “Company” or “IQ") is a Qatari Public Shareholding Company, incorporated in

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2025 (QR ‘000)

Notes 2025 2024
Restated*
Profit for the year 4,323,491 4,727,945
Other comprehensive (loss) / income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation in subsidiaries 19.1 (1,933) (5,749)
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation in a joint venture 9 (7,333) (6,575)
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Share of other comprehensive (loss) / income of associates 8 (4,012) 9,484
Other comprehensive loss for the year (13,278) (2,840)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4,310,213 4,725,105
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 4,286,775 4,663,039
Non-controlling interests 35 23,438 62,066
4,310,213 4,725,105
* The comparative information has been restated due to the completion of acquisition accounting for a
subsidiary. Refer to Note 31.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2025(QR ‘000)

the State of Qatar on 19 April 2003, in accordance with Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law No. 5 of 2002, as
replaced by Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law number 11 of 2015, for a 50-year term by resolution No. 33
of 2003 from the Ministry of Commerce and Industry of the State of Qatar. The Company’s shares are listed
on the Qatar Stock Exchange. The Company's registered office is situated in Doha, State of Qatar.
QatarEnergy is the controlling shareholder of the Company and QatarEnergy is owned by Supreme Council
for Economic Affairs and Investment of the Government of State of Qatar, which is the ultimate controlling
party.

1Q, its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (together the “Group’) operate in three main distinct
segments: petrochemicals, fertilisers and steel. More information about the Group’s activities is given in Note
32. The structure of the Group, included in these consolidated financial statements is as follows:

Country of Percentage
i i of holding

2025 2024
Qatar Steel Company (Qatari Private .
Shareholding Company) (“Qatar Steel") Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Qatar Steel Company FZE (Dubai Subsidial UAE 100% 100%

y ( ) ry
Al Qataria for Production and Reinforcing Steel . o
W.LL. (“Al Qataria”) Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Qatar Fertiliser Company (Qatari Private . o o
Shareholding Company) (‘QAFCO” Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Gulf Formaldehyde Company (Qatari Private . " o
Shareholding Company) (‘GFC") Subsidiary Qatar 70% 70%
Qatar Melamine Company (Qatari Private - " "
Shareholding Company) (“QMC") Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Qatar Fuel Additives Company Limited (Qatari . . N
Private Shareholding Company) (‘QAFAC’) Subsidiary Qatar 50% 50%
(Cgaf;zg:)ochemma\ Company Q.P.J.S.C Joint venture Qatar 80% 80%
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. (“Q-COAT") Associate Qatar 50% 50%
g " Kingdom of

SOLB Steel Company (“SOLB") Associate Saudi Arabia 40.44% 40.38%
Foulath Holding B.S.C. Associate Bahrain 25% 25%

Qatar Steel Company (“Qatar Steel”), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of
Qatar, and wholly owned by IQ. Qatar Steel is engaged in manufacturing of steel billets and reinforcing bars
for sale in the domestic and export markets.

Qatar Steel Company FZE (Dubai), a wholly owned through Qatar Steel with limited liability incorporated in
Dubai on 22 July 2003 pursuant to Dubai Law No. 9 of 1992 and implementing the regulations of the Jebel Ali
Free Zone Authority. The principal activities of Qatar Steel Company FZE (UAE) are manufacturing and selling
of steel products.

Al Qataria for Production of Reinforcing Steel W.L.L. (“Al Qataria”), a company with limited liability
incorporated in the State of Qatar, and wholly owned through Qatar Steel, Al Qataria is engaged in the
production of reinforcing steel. The principal activities of Al Qataria include the production of billets, rebars,
and trading of iron.

Qatar Fertiliser Company (“QAFCO”), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of
Qatar, and wholly owned by Q. QAFCO is engaged in the production and sale of Urea and Ammonia.

Qatar Melamine Company (“QMC”), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of
Qatar, and wholly owned through QAFCO, is engaged in the production and sale of Melamine. The Group has
resolved to transfer QMC's assets to QAFCO through a merger process. As at 31 December 2025, the merger
is in process and is subject to further approvals and the fulfilment of legal and regulatory requirements.

Gulf Formaldehyde Company (“GFC”), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of
Qatar, is 70% owned through QAFCO and 30% owned by Qatar Industrial Manufacturing Company (Q.P.S.C.).
GFC is engaged in the production and sale of Urea Formaldehyde Concrete.

Qatar Fuel Additives Company Limited (“QAFAC”), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated
in the State of Qatar, whose 50% of the shares are owned by IQ and 50% shares are held by a related party.
The principal activities of QAFAC are to construct, own, operate and maintain facilities for the production,

to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Business combination

Acquisitions of a business are for using the method. The i { ina
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition
related costs are generally recognised in profit of loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
values, except that:

. Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognized and measured under the Group's accounting policies; and

. Assets (or disposal group) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with the Group's accounting
policies.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle holders to a proportionate share of
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation is initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of the measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a buslness combination includes assels or liabilities
resulting from a contingent at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the cons\derahon transferred in a buslness combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted with against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are those that arise from ion obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the oon(lngen( conslderatlon that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not measured at subsequent reporting dates and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, as appropriate,
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group'’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss. Amounts arising from interest in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other 1sive income are to profit or loss where such treatment would be
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial for a business is by the end of the financial reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting
is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the ‘measurement period’, or additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect the information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amount recognised at that date.

3.2 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

Equity method of accounting

The Group accounts for its investments in associates and joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of ing, the i are initially at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group's share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received from equity accounted investees are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables for which settlement is neither planned nor
expected to happen in foreseeable future, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its equity accounted investees are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. For presentation purpose, the Group has elected to eliminate
the unrealised gains from the carrying value of its mves(ment in joint ventures and share of profits from its
investment in joint ventures. L ised losses are also unless the 1 provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate / joint venture or when the investment is classified as held for sale. In case of disposal, the difference
between carrying amount of the associate / joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

‘When the Group changes its ownership interest in an associate / joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group does not remeasure the existing interest. In case of acquisition of additional
interest, purchase consideration is compared with net assets acquired; any excess of purchase consideration
over net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill (included within carrying value of associate / joint venture),
while any excess of net assets acquired over purchase consideration is recognised in profit or loss as part of
share of profit from associate / joint venmre In case of decrease in interest while equity method continues to
be applied, between sale 1 and net assets as of the date of dilution is recognised in
profit or loss as part of share of associate / joint venture.

3.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Managing
Director (“MD") who is the chief operating decision maker of the Group. The MD is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. Additional disclosures on each of these
segments are shown in Note 32, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the
measurement basis of segment information.

3.4 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the received or i , and amounts
receivable for goods supplied, stated net of rebates, trade allowances, returns, freight and amounts collected
on behalf of third parties including value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group; and
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Sale of steel products

The Group manufactures and sells a range of steel products and by-products. Sales of goods are recognised
when the Group has delivered products to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the channel and
price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products.

Delivery does not occur until the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either of the following has been satisfied
i) the customer has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, ii) the acceptance provisions
have lapsed or iii) the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied

Revenue from sales is measured based on the price specified in the sales contracts, net of the estimated
volume discounts and returns at the time of sale. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for
the discounts and returns. The volume discounts are assessed based on anticipated annual purchases. No
element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 30 to 90 days.

Sales of petrochemical and fertiliser products

The Group manufactures and sells a range of petrochemical and fertiliser products and by-products which
includes Urea, Ammonia, Melamine, Methanol, MTBE, and Pentane. Sales of goods are recognised when the
Group has delivered products to the customer and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer's acceptance of the products. Terms of delivery to customers are specified in the offtake
requirements for regulated products. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding
recovery of the consideration due or possible return of goods.

3.5 Leases

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

At 1 of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the conlract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office
furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the

date, by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily

and export of methyl-tertiary-butyl-ether (MTBE) and methanol.
Notes 2025 O, ‘2‘02_,‘}, Qatar Petrochemical Company Q.P.J.S.C. (“QAPCO”), a Qatari Private Joint Shareholding Company
T 1 in the State of Qatar, is a joint venture between IQ (80%) and Total Energies Petrochemicals
France S.A. (20%). QAPCO is engaged in the production and sale of ethylene, polyethylene, hexane and other
Cash flows from operating acti petrochemical products.
Foulath Holding B.S.C. is a Bahraini Closed Joint Stock Company owned through Qatar Steel and
Pl‘qﬁt for the year 4’323’491 4’727’945 incorporated on 26 June 2008 in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Foulath Holding B.S.C. is a holding company for a
Adjustments for: group of commercialfindustrial companies that are engaged in the manufacture and sale of various steel
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 1,688,543 1,534,568 products.
Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 7 (222,000) - SOLB Steel Company (“SOLB”) is a company owned through Qatar Steel incorporated in the Kingdom of
Amortization of other non-current assets 37,845 26,960 Saudi Arabia and is engaged in the manufacture and sale of steel products.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 61,986 52,397 Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. (“Q-COAT”) is a limited liabilty owned through Qatar Steel
Gain on lease modifications 11 (1 63) _ ;:corporaled |nﬁ(iﬁaar involved in lhiz;ai:chon of epoxy resin coated bars. Q-COAT is managed by the Group
Reversal of loss allowance on trade and other receivables 14 (3) -
i g : ~ The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2025 were approved and
ZLOVISIOfn fO{ emplLOyeﬁs en(ti of Sf,rv"c‘? ?ene?ts 1%'1 (6;258’3?)7 (1 25791’986865) authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 11 February 2026.
are of net results of investment In joint ventures N B B . X
Share of net results of investment in associates 8 (139,838) (345,509) 2. Basis of preparation
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 504 15,843 21 Statement of compliance
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL 27 (1 8,660) (22,01 7) The consolidated financial stalements of the Group have been prepared in accordanoe with IFRS Accounting
Bargain purchase gain 26 . (225,762) as issued by Board (IFRS Standards).
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest 26 - (146,476) 2.2 Basis of measurement
Unrealised (gain) / loss from financial assets at FVTPL 26 (4,584) 19,690 These consolidated financial statements are prepared using the historical cost basis except for certain assets
Finance cost 60,822 29,857 acquired in a business combination and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured
Reversal of provision on financial guarantee 26 - (142,659) atfair value.
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories 13 30,089 28,787 2.3 Functional and presentation currency
Income t_ax expense 23 26,702 37,960 These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyals (QR), which is the Company's
Interest income 27 (413,594) (686,622) functional currency. All the financial ir inthese financial has been
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 4,862,236 3,716,881 rounded off to nearest thousands (QR ‘000) except where otherwise indicated.
2.4 New currently effective il or qui
Change.s in workmg capltal The accounting policies adopted by the Group in the of the consolidated financial are
Inventories 34,765 (308,372) consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the changes required as per the adoption of the
Trade and other receivables (509’ 1 33) 358’21 0 new standards, amendments and interpretations.
Trade and other payables (529,588) 210,806
Cash generated from operations 3,858,280 3,977,525 New currently effective requirements
Payments of end of service benefits 19.1 (67,057) (59,417) The table below lists the recent changes to the Accounting Standards that are required to be applied by the
Payments of income tax 23 (142,332) (3,746) Group with an annual reporting period beginning on 1 January 2025:
Social and sports contribution fund paid (102,146) (108,836) Effective from 1 January 2025 | e Lack of ity to IAS 21
Net cash generated from operating acti 3,546,745 3,805,526 The application of these amendments had no material impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
Accountina standards issued but not vet effective
Cash flows from investing activities A number of new accounting standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 1 January
P f N I f | . 44 2025 and earlier application is permitted. However, the Group has not early adopted the following new or
roceeds from dlsposa S O property, P! ant and equmem 8 595 amended accounting standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
Additions to property, plant and equipment (1,841,765) (2,752,022)
. A.IFRS 18 d Di in Fil ial
Movement in other non-current assets (28,983) (2,617) an fn Financia
Dividends and tax benefit payments received from associates 8 139,056 275,612 IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and applies for annual reporting periods
Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary _ 478,288 beginning on or after 1 January 2027. The new standard introduces the following key new requirements.
Advances to a related party (128,01 2) (177,747) * Entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories in the statement of profit or
Dividends received from financial assets at FVTPL 18,660 22,017 Entios are 1o roquired 15 resent & newy-deined operatig o subloal Enies net proft il i
Dividends and tax benefits from joint ventures 1,230,704 916,490 change.
Additional investment in an associate (48,686) - *  Manag defined performance (MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in the financial
Movement in fixed deposits and other bank balances 6 1,175,621 3,582,585 S dance i orovi ) o
. * Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group in the financial
Interest received 512,269 515,187
Net cash from investing activities 1,029,312 2.858,388 In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the starting point for the statement
2 2 2 = of cash flows when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method.
1 H i H The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly with respect to the
Cash flOWS from flnanc'ng a.ctl_V.lt es structure of the Group’s statement of profit or loss, the statement of cash flows and the additional disclosures
Interest pald related to lease |Iabl|lty (24,004) (23,71 6) required for MPMs. The Group is also assessing the impact on how information is grouped in the financial
Repayment of principal related to lease |iabi|ity (66’371) (54’160) statements, including for items currently labelled as ‘other’.
Finance costs paid (1,164) (507) B. Other accounting standards
Movement in unclaimed dividends payable (10,259) (15,095) The following new and amended accounting standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the
Dividends paid to equity owners of the Company (4,174,500) (6,594,500) Group's consolidatad financial stztements: ? o ’
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 2,490 1,950
p . . - g. ( ) ( ) Effective for the year inning 1| e ¢ of Financial _
Cash used in financing activities (4,278,788) (6,689,928) January 2026 Ao et lFRSQand/FRS .
o Contracts ~ Referencing ~ Nature-dependent  Electricity ——
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 297,269 (26,014) Amendments to IFRS 9 and JFRS 7
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 3,433,990 3,460,004 __ o Annual f0JFRS dards - Volume 11
. Effective for the year 1| e iFRS 19 without Public Di
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 5 3,731,259 3,433,990 January 20;
Available for optional adoption /| e Saje or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Non-cash transactions: effective date deferred Associate or Joint Venture — to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
that these new and amendments to i will
. P . . . be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of
The following non-cash activities are entered into by the Group and are not reflected in the consolidated these amendments to accounting standards is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated
statement of cash flows: financial statements of the Group in the period of initial application.
. ", . . . . 3. Material accounting policies
. The Group recognized additional right of use assets and lease liabilities amounting to QR 20.4 million 34 Basis of _ "
(2024: QR 127.5 million). Refer to Note 11. -1 Basis ol an
Basis of consolidation
i During the year 2024, the Group transferred QR 191.5 million from advances to investments in The' Cﬁnzogid(ar:edcfmancial ita‘erse_gss viHC)orgoratle‘ the F:yancidal f‘la\etrr:\egs of the Company and entities
associates. Refer to Note 8. controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Group:
. has the power over the investee;
. ) . X - ) . s isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
. During the year, in connection with the subscription to a rights issue of shares by SOLB, the Group «  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
transferred QR 12.2 million (2024: Nil) from “Due from related parties” under trade and other receivables The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
to investment in associates. Refer to Note 8. changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
‘When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power
. . .. . . . . . over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
* During the year, the Group recognised a provision for site restoration obligations amounting to QR 1,106 activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
million (2024: Nil). Accordingly, additions to property, plant and equipment include non-cash whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:
Cap“allsatlon of the related decommlsswnlng asset. Refer to Note 7 and Note 19.2. . the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;
. potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;
" . . . . . . . rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
The comparative information has been restated due to the completion of acquisition accounting for a « any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current
subsidiaw. Refer to Note 31. ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.
* The accompanying notes 1 to 37 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which Company obtains control and continued to be
consolidated until the date when such control ceases.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
All intragroup balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
and dividends are eliminated or reversed in full.
Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted

FOR MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING AGENDA MATERIA

determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

. Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

. The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

. The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

. Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

. The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

. The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

. Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is \mpa\red and accounts for any identified
impairment loss as described in the 'Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “General and administrative
expenses” in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.6 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other income or other expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit
orloss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost is the initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction
cost, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, initial estimate of the present value of
decommissioning obligations and directly attributable borrowing costs. These costs are capitalized and
depreciated over the useful life of the related assets. Adjustments arising from changes in the provision are
added to or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and depreciated prospectively.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to allocate the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis
commencing when the assets become ready for their intended use. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting date, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The Group's estimated useful lives on each asset classification are as follows:

Buildings 13 - 35 years
Plant machinery and equipment 3 -35years
Furniture and other equipment 3-10 years
Decommissioning assets 9- 12 years

Items in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet
determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such items
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other
subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of
property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as the expense is incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised.

Capital work-in-progress (including capital advance) is initially recognised at cost, which includes cost of
materials, direct labour and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for
its intended use. Following the initial recognition; capital work-in-progress is carried at cost less impairment
losses — if any. Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated or amortized.

Capital work-in-progress will be transferred to respective classes of property, plant and equipment when the
asset is ready for use as intended by the management

3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Non- financial assets
that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows, which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
Groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

3.9 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are those expenses incurred in
bringing each product to its present location and condition, as follows:

. Warehouse inventory - purchase cost after deducting rebates and discounts, on a moving weighted average basis.

. Work-in-progress and finished product inventories - production costs on a moving weighted average
basis. The production costs include the cost of direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
allocation of overheads allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and that to be incurred to make the sale.

3.10 Catalysts

Catalysts are classified as other non-current assets and initially recorded at cost. Subsequently, they are
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment in value. Catalysts are amortised over
the estimated useful lives of 1 to 12 years. Catalysts not in use at the plant are kept under inventories and
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

3.11 Fair value measurement

For measurement and disclosure purposes, the Group determines the fair value of an asset or liability at initial
measurement or at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use
of unobservable inputs Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on the basis as explained above, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of IFRS 2; leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16 for current year and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value, but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting date.

3.12 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability
is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments designated at amortised cost
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL. Specifically:

. Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

. Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The
Group has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables as well as on financial
guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(1) The financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(2) The borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(3) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

(i) Definition of default

The Group employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of probability of
default (“PD”) of exposures with the passage of time. This analysis includes the identification for any changes
in default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors across various geographies of the Group.

(i) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above);

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial fiabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not designated as FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

D ition of fi ial liabiliti

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

3.13 Employee benefits
Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating annual and sick leaves
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
included in trade and other payables.

Post-employment benefits
The Group operates defined contribution and defined benefit retirement plans.
a)  Defined contribution pension pian

Group has a defined contribution plan for the Qatari (who joined Group on or after 6 March 2003) and other
GCC national employees. In case of Qatari employee, Group contributes as pension, 14% of salary (Basic
Salary + Social Allowance + Housing Allowance) on behalf of the employee and employee contributes 7% and
therefore 21% is remitted to Government Pension Fund as per requirements of Social Insurance Law No 1 of
2022 (amending Law No. 24 of 2002 pertaining to Retirement and Pensions). In case of other GCC nationals,
Group and other GCC employees contribute at specified rates which are then remitted to Government pension
fund. Under this Law and Group’s policy, Group does not have any legal or constructive obligation to pay future
pension to those employees and hence Group 's obligations are limited to its contributions paid to respective
Government’s Pension Fund which are expensed when due.

b)  Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. In accordance with Qatar Labour
Law number 14 of 2004, the Group makes payments to non-Qatari employees on their retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. This benefit was amended
to also include Qatari employees who have completed 20 years’ service.

For subsidiaries and associates located outside the State of Qatar, the Group follows the applicable laws and
regulations in their countries.

For Qatari employees who retired prior to 2003, the Group pays pension to them in accordance with
QatarEnergy pension scheme. These payments meet the definition of a defined benefit scheme under IAS 19
and are therefore accounted accordingly.

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of end of service benefits and defined
benefit pension plans should be the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. When no deep
market in such bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are recognised, when material, in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. They
are included in retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in the statement of
financial position, if any.

Other short-term employees’ benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash
bonus if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee, and the obligation can be measured reliably.

3.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

3.15 F ision for and site

The Group recognizes a provision for decommissioning and site restoration obligations associated mainly with
plant and related assets. These obligations arise from either legal or constructive obligations, as a result of
past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.

In accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and IAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment, the estimated present value of future restoration costs is recognized as a provision at the date
when the obligation arises, and the corresponding amount is capitalized as part of property, plant and
equipment and depreciated over its useful life. The provision is measured at the present value of expected
future cash outflows based on expected timing of decommissioning, discounted using a rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognized as a finance cost in profit or loss. Provisions are reviewed periodically and adjusted for
changes in estimates, including timing, cost assumptions, inflation and discount rates. Adjustments to
decommissioning provision are accounted for prospectively, impacting both the provision and the carrying
amount of the related asset. Additional assets which arise due to further development / construction are
recognised as addition to property, plant and equipment and provision for decommissioning and site
restoration obligation when they occur.

3.16 Income tax

Income tax is provided in accordance with the Qatar Income Tax Regulations. Current tax comprises the
expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax
payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if
any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

In 2020, management received a signed Memorandum of Understanding ("hereby referred to as the MOU")
between QatarEnergy, General Tax Authority and Ministry of Finance. The MOU covers the tax reporting and
payment implications applicable to the components of certain companies listed on Qatar Stock Exchange.

In determination of the Group's tax liability, the probability that the tax authority will accept certain tax
treatments has been considered. Where it has been concluded that it is probable that the tax authority will
accept such tax treatments the Group has determined the tax liability consistently with the tax treatments used
or planned to be used in its income tax filings.

The Group has determined that the global minimum top-up tax is an income tax in the scope of IAS 12. The
Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the impacts of the top-up tax
and accounts for it as a current tax when it is incurred.

3.17 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Under this
method, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax losses, to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference and the
carry forward of unused tax losses can be utilised. A tax rate range of 10-35%, which is applicable to the
Group, is used to measure deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
itis no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow deferred tax asset to be recovered.

3.18 Social and sports contribution fund

The Group makes contributions equivalents to 2.5% of the of the adjusted consolidated net profit relating to
Qatar operations for the year into a state social and sports contribution fund for the support of social and sports
activities. This is presented in the statement of changes of equity as appropriation of profit in accordance with
Law No. 13 of 2008.

3.19 Dividends distribution

Liabilities for dividend distributions are recognised for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately
authorised and no longer at the discretion of the Group, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period. Dividend distribution liabilities are recognised as a direct charge
to retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, with any unpaid amount is presented
under trade and other payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

3.20 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

. the profit or loss attributable to ordinary owners of the Group
. by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account the effect of any dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3.21 Events after the reporting date

The consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the reporting date
and the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue, provided they give evidence
of conditions that existed at the reporting date. Any post year-end events that are non-adjusting are disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements when material.

3.22 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash at banks and short-term fixed deposits below 90 days
and exclude restricted bank balances.

4.  Critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires the management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. Future events
may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change. The effects of any
change in estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably
determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in
the consolidated financial statements:

411 in

ining the timing of sati: ion of per (“POs”)
Performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group considers the general requirements of control
(i.e. direct the use of asset and obtain substantially all benefits) and the following non-exhaustive list of
indicators of transfer of control:

. Entity has present right to payment

. Customer has legal title

. Entity has transferred physical possession

. Customer has risk and rewards of ownership
. Customer has accepted the asset

In making their judgement, the management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue set
out in IFRS 15 and, in particular, whether the Group had transferred control of the goods to the customer.

4.1.2 Business mode/ assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the business model
test. The Group determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting
all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance
measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and how the
managers of the assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand
the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for
which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business
model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate
whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those
assets.

4.1.3 Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or
stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether
the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

4.1.4 Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended
(or not terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.

4.1.5 Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going
concern basis.

4.1.6 Classification of Qatar Metals Coating Company WLL (Q-coat) as an associate

The Group has 50% interest in Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L., with the remaining 50% held by Qatar
Industrial Manufacturing Company Q.P.S.C. The articles of association and shareholder agreement of Qatar
Metals Coating Company W.L.L. requires appointment of equal number of board members by each company
from which the Chairman is selected based on mutual understanding between both shareholders, and the
Chairman has voting casting power; therefore, control is not demonstrated by the entity that does not appoint
the Chairman. The current term of office requires appointment of the Chairman by Qatar Industrial
Manufacturing Company. The Group has assessed that since the Chairman is appointed by Qatar Industrial
Manufacturing Company in the current term, it limits the ability of the Group to exercise control and therefore,
its interest in Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. is recognized as an associate and is accounted for using
equity method in consolidated financial statements as described in Note 3.

4.1.7 Classification of investments as joint ventures

Management evaluated the Group’s interests in QAPCO and concluded that the joint arrangement is a joint
venture where the entity is jointly controlled and the partners have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangements. In this investment, all decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties that collectively control the arrangement, as established contractually in the agreement and articles of
association. Hence, management recognized this investment as investment in joint venture and accordingly
accounted for the investment under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

4.1.8 Provision for and site

The Group has land lease agreements mainly with QatarEnergy (“the Lessor”) over the land on which plant
and its related facilities have been constructed. Under these agreements, the Lessor has the right, upon
termination or expiration of the lease term, to notify the Group that it requires to either:

* Transfer the facilities to the Lessor or a transferee nominated by the Lessor, against a price acceptable by
the Group (in certain cases), or;

* Remove the facilities and all other property from the land and restore it to the condition in which it was
delivered to the Group, at the Group's cost, unless otherwise is agreed with the Lessor.

On 24 August 2025, the Lessor issued formal decommissioning guidelines outlining the prescribed
methodology and technical parameters for determining decommissioning obligations.

During the year, the Group management has re-assessed its position based on issuance of formal
decommissioning guidelines by the Lessor, recent communications from the Lessor and land lease
agreements and has concluded that an obligation has been created as the Lessor may choose the option to
remove the facilities or fund the decommissioning program, as appropriate. As a result, provision for
decommissioning and site restoration obligation has been recognized in these consolidated financial
statements for various assets and entities across the Group, as applicable. Refer Note 19.2.

These decommissioning activities are estimated to occur in the future for an extended period upto 2071. This
estimated time period is many years into the future and precise requirements that will have to be met when
these decommissioning activities will actually occur are uncertain.

4.1.9 Income tax

Under the provisions of the Law 24 of 2018, in particular Article 4 (11) of the said law, the tax exemptions do
not apply to the share of profits attributable to companies that are owned, wholly or partly by the State, whether
owned directly or indirectly, and that are engaged in Petroleum Operations or operating in Petrochemical
Industry. Furthermore, Article 2 (12) of the executive regulations accompanying the Tax Law states that the
tax exemption available to companies listed on the capital markets is not applicable to their components.

Management received a signed MOU between QatarEnergy, General Tax Authority and Ministry of Finance.
The MOU covers the tax reporting and payment implications applicable to the components of certain
companies listed on Qatar Exchange.

The MOU also states that the tax amounts due on the share of the public shareholding companies will be
recorded in the books and in the tax returns to be submitted to General Tax Authority. Each company shall
pay the amount of the income tax relating to the share of profit of the public shareholding company directly to
the public shareholding company, and settlement of this amount with the General Tax Authority will be made
through the defined arrangement between the public shareholding company, QatarEnergy and the Ministry of
Finance as per the MOU.

Accordingly, for the purpose of accruing the tax liability for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2025
management of the component entities of the Group has considered the taxable income of components as
100% taxable.

Management of the Group has recorded the tax benefit or refund received through the settlement mechanism
defined in the MOU within the tax exempted income for that related to subsidiaries and within the share of
results of investments in associates and joint ventures for the benefit related to those Group entities. Deferred
tax has been adjusted accordingly. The payments received by the Group from the joint ventures and associates
relating to the tax benefit are recorded within the investment in those entities.

Management has exercised critical judgement to evaluate open tax assessments, which are included in Note
30(c).

4.1.10 Reversal of impairment on property, plant and equipment

During the prior years, Qatar Steel decided to mothball some of the production facilities due to losses made
on international sales. Due to this mothballing exercise Qatar Steel recognized full impairment on the assets
related to said facilities. During the current year, Qatar Steel reassessed its business outlook and, supported
by increased demand across the GCC region (including from new customers and infrastructure-led projects),
decided to partially de-mothball the previously mothballed facilities. Accordingly, they assessed property, plant
and equipment (CGU) for impairment reversal by comparing the recoverable amount of the CGU to its carrying
amount. This resulted in a reversal of impairment as disclosed in Note 7 to these consolidated financial
statements. The Group has considered overall production facilities as one cash generating unit (CGU). While
concluding the CGU, management has considered the fact that the output from one plant routinely becomes
input for another, performance of the Group is measured at overall level and the different production facilities
producing the final products have been aggregated and treated as a single CGU for the purpose of impairment
testing.

4.2 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty at the consolidated
financial position date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within are discussed below.

4.2.1 Measurement of loss on potential liabilities related to financial guarantee

When measuring the potential liability related to financial guarantees given by the Group to the associate
(“SOLB Steel Company” located in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia) bank for certain facilities extended to the
associate, Management has considered the terms and conditions of the financial guarantees signed with banks
for purpose of providing adequate provision against any breach by the associate. Based on this consideration,
management has used the best estimate towards any exposure that might result for such instance to ensure
an adequate provision is provided in the Group’s consolidated financial statements considering the
requirement of 1AS 37.

4.2.2 Di

ing of lease

The lease payments are discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”). Management has
applied judgments and estimates to determine the IBR at the commencement of lease.

4.2.3 Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and
equipment for calculating depreciation as outlined in Note 3. This estimate is determined after considering the
expected usage of the asset, physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting date, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. At year-end, management assessed that no
changes occurred to these estimates.

4.2.4 impaiy of il in

As required by IFRS Accounting Standards, the Group assessed its investments in associates for impairment
(where indicators were identified) by comparing the recoverable amount of investment to its carrying value.
The recoverable amount is estimated by the Group using the “value in use”. The value in use calculations were
based on the following assumptions for those investments where the impairment indicators were identified:

Discount rates: 11%

Utilization of capacity: 80% to 100%

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) margin: 10% - 16%
Terminal period growth rate: 3%

Projected cash flows over 5 years
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The above assumptions are based on management's best estimate and any change thereof may result in
materially different recoverable amount. Based on this assessment, management did not identify any further
impairment as the value in use exceeded the carrying values of investment in associates.

Where indicators of impairment were identified, the recoverable amount of the relevant investment was
determined based on recoverable amount calculation of investee using the approved cash flow projections.
The calculation is sensitive to changes in key assumptions, in particular the discount rate and terminal growth
rate. Management performed sensitivity analyses by applying reasonably possible changes to these
assumptions, including an increase in the discount rate and reductions in terminal growth rate. Based on the
sensitivity analyses performed, management concluded that no reasonably possible change in key
assumptions would result in the carrying amount of the investment exceeding its recoverable amount and,
accordingly, no impairment in Investment is required.

4.2.5 Pension for retired Qatari employees
The assumptions used in determining the cost for employees’ end of service obligations of retired Qatari
employees include the discount rate, mortality rates, proportion married, spouse’s age and children pension
allowance. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the amount of end of service obligations.

The table below sets out the key assumptions used to assess the provision for end of service benefits:
Assumption

2025 2024

Discount rate
Mortality rates

4.9%
83.5 years (Male) 86.6 years (Female)
90%

5.1%
83.4 years (Male) 86.5 years (Female)
Proportion married 90%
Spouse’s age Husband 5 years older than wives Husband 5 years older than wives
Children pension allowance Nil Nil

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This discount rate should be
used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the
employees’ end of service obligations.

4.2.6 Provision for end of service benefits for Qatari employees

QatarEnergy has provided guidelines in relation to end of service benefits (‘ESB”) for Qatari nationals as per
the Law No. 14 of 2016. Accordingly, management has concluded that service below the 20-year threshold
does not earn any benefit. Therefore, the service below the 20-year threshold does not create an obligation
for the Group. For the employees who have completed 20 years of services, management has assessed
the obligation and created necessary provision.

4.2.7 Calcuiation of loss allowance

When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based
on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each
other. The Group uses estimates for the computation of loss rates.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows
from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

4.2.8F ision for

and site r

The Group accounts for its obligations to decommission plant and its related facilities in accordance with the
initial estimate with underlying assumptions that have been discussed amongst the Lessor and the Group.

Based on management's current assessment, a provision has been made in these consolidated financial
statements (refer Note 19.2). The amount of the provision recognized is the present value of the estimated
future expenditures. The estimate of the future expenditure has been prepared in accordance with international
best practices and is based on current local conditions and requirements, including legal requirements,
technology, price levels, etc. Actual costs are uncertain, and estimates can vary as a result of changes in the

expected approach to decommissioning and site restoration obligations, advancement in technology and the
relevant laws and regulations. In addition to these factors, the present values of these estimated future
expenditures are also impacted by the estimated time of decommissioning, discount and inflation rates.

The estimate has been developed based on available technical and executional details within the typical range
of a Class 3 study and feasibility estimate. The key assumptions used and their sensitivity analysis is disclosed
in Note 19.2

4.2.9 Reversal of impairment on property, piant and equipment

The determination of the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment of Qatar Steel is based on a
value in use methodology. The value in use calculations were performed based on the following assumptions:

Discount rate: 11%

Utilization of capacity: 70% to 80%

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) margin: 10% - 11%
Terminal period growth rate: 3%

Projected cash flows over 5 years

The above assumptions are based on management'’s best estimate, and any change thereof may result in
materially different recoverable amounts.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“*CGU”) was determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using approved cash flow projections. The calculation is sensitive to changes in key assumptions,
in particular the discount rate and terminal growth rate. Management performed sensitivity analyses by
applying reasonably possible changes to these assumptions, including an increase in the discount rate and
reductions in terminal growth rate. Based on the sensitivity analyses performed, management concluded that
no reasonably possible change in key assumptions would result in the conclusion with regard to the impairment
reversal on property, plant and equipment.

5.  Cash and cash equivalents

2025 2024
Cash in hand 175 173
Cash at banks 594,413 1,034,296
Short term fixed deposits — less than 90 days 3,136,671 2,399,521
3,731,259 3,433,990

6. Fixed deposits and other bank balances
2025 2024
Fixed deposits (i) 6,033,924 7,282,356
Restricted bank balance (ii) 83,070 -
Dividend accounts (jii) 78,985 89,244
6,195,979 7,371,600

Fixed deposits are held with banks and denominated mainly in US Dollars with an average effective interest
rate of 4.6% (31 December 2024: 5.9%).

The Group entered into service agreements with QatarEnergy, whereby the Group provides project
management and execution services for the development activities of the Carbon Capture and Storage
(CCS) and urea production complex. QatarEnergy reimburses the Group for costs incurred in providing
these services, in accordance with the agreement’s terms. QatarEnergy is the sole owner of these projects.
This represents bank balances for the funds received in relation to Urea and CCS project, and as per
agreement can be utilised for these projects only.

iii) Dividend accounts are restricted bank balances for the amounts deposited in the bank for the dividends
declared which are yet to be collected by the shareholders.

7. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture
Plant machinery and other Capital work in Decommission
Buildings and equipment equipment progress -ing assets (v) Total
Cost:
At 1 January 2024 4,873,766 15,685,490 193,418 2,176,621 - 22,929,295
Additions 1,850 3,555 215 2,746,402 - 2,752,022
Transfers from capital project advances (Note 7A) - 70,370 - 70,370
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31) (Restated*) 129,692 4,067,829 86,366 128,997 - 4,412,884
Other transfers 122,832 506,568 44,493 (673,893) - -
Disposals and write-offs (60,913) (584,068) (1,790) - - (646,771)
At 31 December 2024 / 1 January 2025 (Restated*) 5,067,227 19,679,374 322,702 4,448,497 - 29,517,800
Additions - 22,736 709 1,818,320 1,106,023 2,947,788
Transfers from capital project advances (Note 7A) - - - 68,736 - 68,736
Other transfers 42,784 826,201 31,728 (900,713) - -
Disposals and write-offs (1,388) (221,105) (3,884) - - (226,377)
At 31 December 2025 5,108,623 20,307,206 351,255 5,434,840 1,106,023 32,307,947
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
At 1 January 2024 1,757,969 7,800,117 141,807 - - 9,699,893
Depreciation charge (Restated*) (iii) 251,671 1,257,820 25,077 - - 1,534,568
Acquisition of a subsidiary 65,461 3,005,938 85,297 - - 3,156,696
Disposals and write-offs (60,913) (567,630) (1,791) - - (630,334)
At 31 December 2024 / 1 January 2025 (Restated*) 2,014,188 11,496,245 250,390 - - 13,760,823
Depreciation charge (jii) 254,077 1,359,911 27,757 - 46,798 1,688,543
Disposals and write-offs (831) (220,710) (3,884) - - (225,425)
Reversal of impairment (iv) (26,044) (195,956) - - - (222,000)
At 31 December 2025 2,241,390 12,439,490 274,263 - 46,798 15,001,941
Net carrying value:
At 31 December 2025 2,867,233 7,867,716 76,992 5,434,840 1,059,225 17,306,006
At 31 December 2024 (Restated*) 3,053,039 8,158,757 96,684 4,448,497 - 15,756,977
* Refer to Note 31.
Notes: Qatar Metals
Summarised statement of Foulath Holding Coating Company SOLB Steel
(i)  Buildings mainly include the industrial plant, offsite and administrative facilities constructed on land | €omprehensive income B.S.C. W.L.L. Company (SSC)
leased from various parties. 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
(i) Plant, machinery and equipment include capital spares and other spares with a net book value of QR | Revenue 8,714,894 9,428,375 104,408 69,642 541,340 489,236
160.7 million (2024: QR 172.4 million) with useful lives ranging between 15 to 25 years. Profit / (loss) for the year 763,729 1,054,618 4,901 2,714 (120,958) 1,022,506
Other comprehensive (loss) / income (16,047) 37,939 - - - -
(i) Depreciation charge has been allocated in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: Total comprehensive income / (loss) 747,682 _ 1,092,557 _ 4,901 2,714 _(120,958) 1,022,506
Group’s share of profit / (loss) 190,932 263,654 2,451 1,357  (48,915) 412,888
2025 2024 Adjustments to share of profit at the
Restated* Group level (738) - 13,075 - _ (16,967) (332,390)
Group's adjusted share of profit /
Cost of sales (Note 25) 1,641,469 1,499,988 (loss) 190,194 263,654 15,526 1,357  (65,882) 80,498
General and administrative expenses (Note 28) 46,213 33,708 Group’s share in other
Selling expenses 861 872 comprehensive income (4,012) 9,484 - - - -
1,688,543 1,534,568 Dividends received (136,556)  (273,112) (2,500)  (2,500) - -
+ Refer to Note 31. 9. Investments in joint ventures
(iv) In 2020, Qatar Steel decided to mothball some of the assets and recorded QR 1.19 billion of impairment The carrying amount of the Group's equity-accounted joint ventures has changed as ‘f]zi,lg)ws: 2024
against certain production facilities as a result of business model assessment. No additional impairment of
property, plant and equipment was recognised after the initial recognition on such assets. During 2023, Qatar
Steel restarted some of the mothballed assets, which resulted in a net reversal of QR 550 million. During 2025, éth;riagfu;rgﬁt including adjustment related to tax benefit sg;i%? ?;ggggg
Qatar Steel restarted part of the remaining mothballed production facilities, which resulted in a net impairment Share of other comprehensive loss @ 533) ’ ® '575)
reversal of QR 222 million the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The impairment on the remaining Dividends and tax benefits “ 230'704) “ 293'290)
mothballed assgts has not been reversed based on management's assessment of when these assets will Transfer to subsidiary (Note 31) R ('896:996)
resume production. At 31 December 5,282,924 5,846,070

(v) During the year, the Group has capitalised decommissioning assets and recognized a provision for
decommissioning, and site restoration obligations amounting to QR 1,106 million (2024: Nil). Refer to Note
19.2.

7A. Capital project advances
The Group entered into an agreement for the construction of QAFCO Plant VII (Ammonia VII), which is

expected to be completed in 2026. An advance payment of QR 192.37 million in respect of this project was
made during 2022.

2025 2024
At 1 January 104,671 175,041
Released to capital work in progress (68,736) (70,370)
At 31 December 35,935 104,671

8. Investments in associates

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December 2025, which are accounted for using the
equity method. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held
directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Place of i Per of

country of incorporation uwnerqshig

2025 2024

Foulath Holding B.S.C. Kingdom of Bahrain 25% 25%
SOLB Steel Company Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 40.44%  40.38%
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 50% 50%

The associates above are private entities with no available quoted price. The carrying amount of each equity-
accounted associate is as follows:

2025 2024

Foulath holding B.S.C. 1,853,210 1,803,583
SOLB Steel Company (SOLB) 266,996 271,991
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. 19,031 6,006
2,139,237 2,081,580

The carrying amount of the Group’s equity-accounted associates has changed as follows:

2025 2024

At 1 January 2,081,580 1,810,706
Conversion of advances to an investment (i) - 191,493
Additional investment (i) 60,887 -
Share of profit 139,838 345,509
Share of other comprehensive income (4,012) 9,484
Dividends received (139,056) (275,612)
At 31 December 2,139,237 2,081,580

i. In 2023, the Group paid an advance of QR 191.49 million to SOLB to fund its cash and working capital
requirements, with an objective to settle existing loans obtained by SOLB with financial institutions and
obtain release of the financial guarantee provided by the Group as a shareholder. This funding helped
SOLB settle the loan and, upon release of the financial guarantee from the lender in 2024, the Group
reversed the provision for the financial guarantee, resulting in a gain of QR 142.66 million (Note 26).

During 2024, the Group converted advances of QR 191.49 million previously made to SOLB into an
investment, which increased its ownership interest from 31.03% to 40.38%.

In 2025, the Group subscribed to additional shares in SOLB through a rights issue amounting to QR 60.89
million, which increased its ownership interest from 40.38% to 40.44%. The subscription was partly settled
through the transfer of QR 12.2 million from “Due from related parties” under trade and other receivables,
with the remainder settled in cash.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out in the following table
which represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the Group when using the
equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting policy, if any.

Qatar Metals
Summarised statement of Coating Company
W.L.L.

Foulath Holding SOLB Steel Company
B.S.C.

financial position (soLB)

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Current assets 4,199,263 4,095,045 60,464 49,673 279,484 300,971
Non-current assets 5,338,105 5,108,436 7,820 7,212 1,744,439 1,802,448
Current liabilities (2,233,177) (1,750,132) (27,179) (15,850) (1,439,130) (1,505,576)
Non-current liabilities (2,123,745) (2,474,753)  (2,607)  (2,437) _ (58,051)  (54,166)
Net assets 5,180,446 _ 4,978,596 _ 38,498 38,598 526,742 543,677
Group's share in % 25% 25% 50% 50% 40.44% 40.38%
Group's share in QR 1,295,111 1,244,649 19,249 19,299 213,014 219,537
Impairment and other losses (120,000)  (120,000) - - (150,796) (150,796)
Goodwill 684,804 684,804 - - 203,250 203,250
Pre-acquisition equity adjustment 660 660 - - - -
Intercompany margin elimination (7,173) (6,435) (218)  (13,293) - -
Other adjustments (192) (95, - - 1,628 -
Carrying amount 1,853,210 1,803,583 19,031 6,006 266,996 271,991

The summarised financial information regarding the Group’s joint ventures is set out in the following table
which represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the Group when using the
equity method, including adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting policy, if any.

Right-of-use assets Lease
liabilities
Land and Heavy duty Motor Other
building _equipment __ vehicles assets Total
At 1 January 2024 171,000 53,370 3,384 34,090 261,844 381,784
Additions 86,958 9,249 30,831 466 127,504 127,504
Depreciation expense (32,986) (14,272) (4,095) (1,044) (52,397) -
Interest expense - - - - - 23,716
Payments - - - - - (77,876)
At 31 December 2024 / 1
January 2025 224,972 48,347 30,120 33,512 336,951 455,128
Additions 6,592 9,945 3,832 - 20,369 20,369
Depreciation expense (35,622) (17,614) (7,706) (1,044) (61,986) -
Interest expense - - - - - 24,004
Payments - - - - - (90,375)
Modifications (4,128) - (96) - (4,224) (4,387)
At 31 December 2025 191,814 40,678 26,150 32,468 291,110 404,739
Maturity analysis of contractual cashflows of lease liability is as follows:
2025 2024
Not later than 1 year 90,713 87,855
Later than 1 but not later than 5 years 252,222 300,790
Later than 5 years 233,162 257,917
576,097 646,562
The lease liability is presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as:
2025 2024
Non-current 334,043 390,797
Current 70,696 64,331
404,739 455,128

The depreciation charge of right-of-use assets has been allocated in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as follows.

2025 2024
Cost of sales (Note 25) 52,527 42,584
General and administrative expenses (Note 28) 9,459 9,813
61,986 52,397

The Group does not face significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities.

12. Equity securities at FVTPL

2025 2024
At 1 January 401,389 421,079
Increase / (decrease) in fair value (Note 26) 4,584 (19,690)
At 31 December 405,973 401,389

The above investments are held in quoted equity instruments and include investments in related parties
amounting to QR 172.56 million (2024: QR 179.99 million).

13. Inventories

2025 2024

Finished goods and goods for resale 885,507 1,221,576
Raw materials 579,853 457,246
Spares and consumables 1,361,857 1,169,714
Work in process 230,096 269,039
Additives 300,415 292,633
Goods in transit 231,032 213,317
3,588,760 3,623,525

Less: provision for slow-moving inventories 289,605 259,516
3,299,155 3,364,009

Movement in the provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories is as follows:

2025 2024

At 1 January 259,516 230,729
Provision 30,089 28,787
At 31 December 289,605 259,516

14. Trade and other receivables

2025 2024

Trade accounts receivable 1,312,782 810,577
Due from related parties (Note 21(b)) 1,997,464 2,004,819
Advance to suppliers 10,784 13,785
Prepayments 51,053 40,245
Loans to employees 118,222 115,007
Accrued interest 219,824 318,499
Other receivables 147,918 156,858
3,858,047 3,459,790

Less: expected credit loss (i) (58,392) (58,395)
3,799,655 3,401,395

(i) As at 31 December, the expected credit loss allowance amounting to QR 58.04 million (2024: QR 58.04
million) relates to amounts due from related parties (Note 21(b)) and QR 0.35 million (2024: QR 0.36 million)
relates to other receivables. The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired
assets.

The ageing analysis of unimpaired trade accounts receivable as at 31 December is as follows:
Past due but not impaired

Neither
past due
nor 31to 60 61to 90 91to 180 to 365
Total impaired <30 days days days 180 days days
2025 1,312,782 891,737 421,045 - - - -
2024 810,577 635,637 148,141 12,005 14,794 - -
15. Share capital
2025 2024
Authorised, issued and paid-up:
6,050,000,000 shares of QR 1 each 6,050,000 6,050,000

QatarEnergy owns a Special Share of the Company, as per the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Special Share grants QatarEnergy various powers including amongst others the control of the Company, the
right to appoint seven out of eight directors provided that the chairman and the vice chairman are amongst
those. All shares other than Special Share bear equal rights.

16. Reserves

The following table shows the movements in reserves during the year. A description of the nature and purpose
of each reserve is provided below the table.

Legal Other Total

reserves (i) reserves (ii) reserves

At 1 January 2024 271,942 (62,265) 209,677
Transfer to legal reserve 55,117 - 55,117
Other comprehensive loss - (2,840) (2,840)
At 31 December 2024 / 1 January 2025 327,059 (65,105) 261,954
Transfer to legal reserve 33,055 - 33,055
Other comprehensive loss - (13,278) (13,278)
At 31 December 2025 360,114 (78,383) 281,731
(i) Inaccordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, the transfer of the legal reserve is decided by

the Board of Directors. The Articles require that prior to recommending any dividend distribution to the

o : of fi 20315\PC0 2024 shareholders, the Board shall appropriate amounts to reserves that it considers necessary or
ised appropriate.
Current assets: . . . -
In consolidated financial statements, the legal reserve comprises of the legal reserves of subsidiaries
g?::r?:r:n?rgzp l;sbszltasnces 1 gggggg 1 gg‘;;g; and the amounts decided by the Company’s Board from its own profits.
2,275,586 2,486,083 Accordingly, the Board resolved to transfer 10% of IQ’s standalone net profit (2024: 10%), after deducting
Non-current assets 6.515.999 6.096.311 dividends and related tax benefits received from subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the year.
(ii)  Other reserves comprise of hedging reserve and actuarial gains / (losses) arising from experience
Current fiabilities: adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions (remeasurements) of the Group’s defined benefit
Financial liabilities (876,752) (862,955) obligation.
Other current liabilities (223,013) (304,423)
(1,099,765) (1,167,378) The hedging reserve reflects the Group’s share of cash flow hedge gains or losses on derivatives that
Non-current liabilities: are recognised in other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity method.
Financial liabilities (62,902) (80,264) These items are or maybe reclassified subsequently to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
Other non-current liabilities (1,233,191) (312,982) the associated hedged item affects the associate’s profit or loss.
(1,296,093) (393,246) 17. Social and sports contribution fund
In accordance with Law No. 13 of 2008, the Group recognised a provision of QR 102.57 million (2024: QR
Net assets 6,395,727 7,021,770 < P . . " - " .
106.54 million) which is equivalent to 2.5% of the adjusted consolidated net profit relating to Qatar operations
’ in o o o for the year to support the social and sports activities. The provision recognized for the year 2024 was originally
g;g“jg: :E:;z n é’R 5 11685?8/5 5 6178‘?1@ QR 102.15 million and has been restated by QR 4.39 million to QR 106.54 million (Note 31).
Effect of IQ’s tax benefit and other adjustments 166,342 228,654 18. Dividend
Carrying amount 5,282,924 5,846,070
During the year 2025, the Board of Directors approved an interim cash dividend in respect of the six-month
period ended 30 June 2025 of QR 0.26 per share amounting to QR 1,573 million (30 June 2024: QR 0.31 per
QAFAC* QAPCO Total share amounting to QR 1,875.5 million).
Summarised statement . ) -
of comprehensive Subsequent to the year-end, the Board of Directors has proposed a final cash dividend of QR 0.45 per share,
income 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 | amounting to QR 2,722.5 million (2024: QR 0.43 per share amounting to QR 2,601.5 million).This brings the
total dividend for the year to QR 0.71 per share amounting to QR 4,295.5 million (2024: QR 0.74 per share
Revenue - 1404000 3420453 3,570,650 3420453 4,974,650 | @amountingto QR 4,477 million).
Other income - 24,635 67,307 82,177 67,307 106,812 o o ) )
Depreciation and The above proposed final dividend and the interim dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2025 will be
amortization _ (62,260) (530,779) (498,195)  (530,779) (560,455) submitted for formal approval in the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2026.
Interest expense - (43) (22,258) (3,687) (22,258) (3,730) - . - .
Income tax expense - (203,570) (197,817) (279,260)  (197,817) (482,830) The dividends for the year 2024 amounting to QR 4,477 million were approved by the shareholders in the
Other expenses - (790,143) (2,184,784) (2,075,662) (2,184,784)  (2,865,805) | Annual General Meeting held on 25 February 2025.
Profit for the year - 372,619 552,122 796,023 552,122 1,168,642 .
Other comprehensive 19. Long-term provisions
income - - (9,166) (8.219) (9,166) (8,219)
Total comprehensive Notes 2025 2024
income = 372,619 542,956 787,804 542,956 1,160,423 Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 19.1 558,309 511,842
Group’s share of profit Provision for decommissioning and site restoration obligations 19.2 1,136,073 -
before tax benefit - 186310 441,698 636818 441698 823,128 1,694,382 511,842
Effect of the Group’s tax
benefit ** - 101,785 233,193 335,053 233,193 436,838 Pravii s " ,
Group’s share of results - 288,095 674,891 971871 674891 1259966 | 1O P for employees’ end of service benefits
Group’s share of other The movements in the provision recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
comprehensive income - - (7,333) (6,575) (7,333) (6,575) 2025 2024
Dividends and related
tax benef - (273,000) (1,230,704) (1,020,290) (1,230,704) _ (1.293.290) |  A( 1 January 511,842 432,837
) Provision during the year 105,987 71,885
* QAFAC resul_ts are for the period fromv1 Januqry _2924 to 9 June 2024. Refer to Note 31. o ) Interest cost 5,604 5,634
** The C_-}roup is entitled to pre-tax profits from its joint ventures_, thergfore, applylng the principles of equl@y Acquisition of a subsidiary - 55,154
accounting under IAS 28, the Group has recorded the tax benefit received by virtue of MOU (Note 23) within Actuarial losses on re-measurement of present value of defined benefit
the share of results of investments in joint ventures. obligation 1,933 5,749
Paid during the year (67,057) (59,417)
10. Advances At 31 December 558,309 511,842
2025 2024 The breakup of the Group’s provision for employees’ end of service benefits is as follows:
Advances for investment in Qatar Vinyl Company (QVC) 443,556 315,544 2025 2024
443,556 315,544 ) ‘ ,
Pensflqn for retired Qatalfl employt_ees (a) . 110,646 124,001
On 1 March 2022, the Company entered into a ‘Principles Agreement’ with QVC and its existing shareholders Prov!s!on for end of service be”Ef!‘s for non—Qatarl employees 265,089 239,936
to develop, build and operate a Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) manufacturing facility. The project is funded by the Provision for end of service benefits for Qatari employees ;i%%‘; ;ﬁggg

Company (44.8%) and Mesaieed Petrochemical Holding Company Q.P.S.C. (a company controlled by the
Parent) (MPHC) (55.2%) as per the ‘Principles Agreement’ entered among the existing shareholders of QVC
and the Company.

Further, as per the ‘Principles Agreement’, QAPCO (31.9% shares) and QatarEnergy (12.9% shares) will
transfer their respective shareholdings in QVC to the Company for nil consideration on 1 May 2026, which is
the expiry date of existing joint venture agreement of QVC.

The Company will recognise the additional investment in its financial statements upon completion of the share
transfer and other legal formalities in this regard. Further, as of that date, the outstanding advances will be
converted into investment in QVC.

11. Right-of-use assets and lease liabi
Group as a Lessee

The Group leases several assets including land and buildings, heavy duty equipment, motor vehicles and other
assets. The lease term ranges between 2 — 30 years for land and buildings and 2 — 10 years for other assets.

(a) Pension for retired Qatari employees

The Group has a defined benefit obligation to Qatari employees, or their heirs, who retired prior to the
implementation of Qatari Pension Law No. 24 of 2002 on 5 March 2003. The Group’s obligation to these
pension benefits is significant and accordingly, accounted for using the projected unit credit method.

The assumptions used in determining the cost of pension obligations for retired Qatari employees including
the discount rate, mortality rates, proportion married, spouse’s age and children’s pension allowance, are
determined by an independent actuary at each year-end based on prevailing market and demographic
conditions. These assumptions are used to calculate the present value of estimated future cash outflows
required to settle the obligation. Any changes in the aforementioned assumptions will impact the amount of
the obligation.

19.2  Provision for d

ing and site r

During the year, the Group has recognised provision for decommissioning and site restoration obligation and
related decommissioning assets (Note 4.1 and 7). The movement in the provision for decommissioning and
site restoration obligation is as follows:
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INOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 20. Trade and other payables
2025 2024 2025 *Restzaotz?!
Provision made during the year (Nole 7) 1,106,023 R e (1) A bt
Unwinding of discount recognised as finance cost 30,050 - Due to related parties (Note 21(b)) 846:121 489:776
At 31 December 1,136,073 - Trade payables 331,138 283,201
Key assumptions used to measure above provision for decommissioning and site restoration obligation include g‘lﬁfe‘ :é“;:;:g}: contribution fund payable (Note 17) 132‘322 123*233
decommissioning year (up to 2071), the inflation rate (_based on _the releva_nt _r_narke!) i_s 2.18% and disc;)unt Other payables 85:593 70:644
rates (pre-tax rate based on relevant market and the risks specific to the liability) ranging between 6.13% to 2276.711 2623178
6.78%. ,276, ,623,
* Refer to Note 31.
An increase / (decrease) of 3 years in decommissioning year would (decrease) / increase the provision by QR . .
(163.4) million and QR 194 million respectively, with a corresponding impact in decommissioning asset. An (1) Financial guarantee
increase / (decrease) of 1% in inflation rate would increase / (decrease) the provision by QR 392.8 million and . . . . § . .
QR (267.9) million respectively, with a corresponding impact in decommissioning asset. While an increase /  1his represents the provision on financial guarantees given to one of the Group's associates which was based
(decrease) of 1% in discount rate would (decrease) / increase the provision by QR (238.3) million and QR ON maximum liability of the Group’s total exposure. During 2024, based on settlement of the loan by the
346.6 million respectively, with a corresponding impact in decommissioning asset. Group's associate and related release of guarantee from one of the lenders, the Group reversed provision of
QR 142.66 million and recognised it as other income. Refer to Note 26.
The provision and assumptions used will be re-evaluated on a periodic basis and adjustments will be made in 21 Related parties’ disclosures
the future accounting periods as deemed necessary. Related parties, as defined in International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party Disclosures, include
The provision for decommissioning and site restoration obligation is presented in the consolidated statement zsfi(t)iglsatgoﬁ?rrglrl):é‘ ITzi’nw;ajgé:::nggogesrisg’n?f'i?;r:ﬁ;si:fr:: 8?11]:(; E?yS"J;? api?'tri]:eesmF?r?L:r;Ogngz:ig;?;?d?;ﬁ%:?f
of financial position as non-current. these transaction§ are approved by the respective management. )
a) Related party transactions
Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:
Goods and services provided to related parties
2025 2024
Management Management
Sales fees Sales fees
Parent
QatarEnergy 16,928 - 8,460 -
Associates
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. 87,979 756 44,861 302
SOLB Steel Company 209,447 838 233,236 838
Entities under common control
QatarEnergy Marketing 10,840,731 - 8,662,195 -
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C. (WOQOD) 315 - 239 -
Affiliates
Qatar Vinyl Company Limited (QVC) Q.S.C. 810 b 625 -
Qatofin Company Limited Q.P.J.S.C. 200 - 113 -
11,156,410 1,594 8,949,729 1140
Goods and services from related parties
2025
Dividends Other
Administrative and tax income/
Purchases expenses benefits (expenses)
Parent
QatarEnergy 5,495,483 116,076 - 2,174
Joint venture
QAPCO* - - 1,230,704 -
Associates
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. 26 - 2,500 -
SOLB Steel Company - - - 6,223
Foulath Holding B.S.C. - - 136,556 -
Entities under common control
QatarEnergy Marketing 705 14,080 - -
Al Koot Insurance and Reinsurance Company
P.J.S.C. - 52,711 - -
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C. (WOQOD) 13,364 - - (75)
Qatar Chemical Company Ltd (Qchem) - 116 - -
Affiliates
GASAL Company Q.S.C. 76,630 - - 81
Bahrain Steel B.S.C. 1,019,147 - - -
Amwaj Catering Services Limited (Qatari
Private Shareholding Company) - 1,328 - -
* Tax benefit income from QAPCO also includes the tax benefit income from its underlying entities.
) 2024
Dividends Other
Administrative and tax income/
Purchases expenses benefits (expenses)
Parent
QatarEnergy 4,056,918 98,383 - 24,391
Joint venture
QAFAC* 14,968 - 273,000 -
QAPCO** - - 1,020,290 (1,196)
Associates
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. 159 - 2,500 -
SOLB Steel Company - - - 23,725
Foulath Holding B.S.C. - - 273,112 -
Entities under common control
QatarEnergy Marketing 152 15,165 - -
Al Koot Insurance and Reinsurance Company
P.J.S.C. - 30,243 - -
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C. (WOQOD) 11,984 - - -
Affiliates
Qatofin Company Limited Q.P.J.S.C. - - - (751)
GASAL Company Q.S.C. 63,776 - - 74
Bahrain Steel B.S.C. 726,740 - - -
Amwaj Catering Services Limited (Qatari
Private Shareholding Company) - 1,340 - -
* QAFAC balances are for the period from 1 January 2024 to 9 June 2024.
** Tax benefit income from QAPCO also includes the tax benefit income from its underlying entities.

Other transactions with related parties

2025 2024
Advances given
Affiliates
Qatar Vinyl Company Limited (QVC) Q.S.C. 128,012 177,747
Associates
SOLB Steel Company - 12,201
Foreign currency bought from the Parent 309,400 29,120
Foreign currency bought from the affiliates 683,592 4,384,744
Foreign currency sold to the Parent 1,892,119 9,221,030
Funds received from the Parent for project management services
(Note 6) 107,725 -
b) Related party balances
Due from related parties
2025 2024

Parent
QatarEnergy 7,223 7,108
Joint venture
QAPCO* 635,615 768,450
Associates
SOLB Steel Company 284,668 233,911
Qatar Metal Coating Company W.L.L. 25,141 14,568
Entities under common contro}
QatarEnergy Marketing 1,044,571 980,673
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C. (WOQOD) - 52
Qatar Chemical Company Ltd (Qchem) 116 -
Affiliates
Qatofin Company Limited Q.P.J.S.C. 62 14
Qatar Vinyl Company Limited (QVC) Q.S.C. 68 43

1,997,464 2,004,819
Less: expected credit loss (58,038) (58,038)

1,939,426 1,946,781

* The balance represents dividend and tax benefit related receivables.

Due from related parties are unsecured and non-interest bearing. These are collectible within the Group’s
normal credit terms, except for amounts of QR 58.04 million (2024: QR 58.04 million) on which expected credit
losses have been recognised.

Due to related parties

2025 2024

Parent
QatarEnergy 761,903 368,254
Entity under common controf
QatarEnergy Marketing 285 -
Al Koot Insurance and Reinsurance Company P.J.S.C. 7,734 3,719
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C. (WOQOD) 34 457
Affiliates
GASAL Company Q.S.C. 3,021 525
Bahrain Steel B.S.C. 73,144 116,821

846,121 489,776

Due to related parties are non-interest bearing and payable on demand.
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Outstanding balances as at 31 December 2025 and 2024 are unsecured and interest-free. Other than those
mentioned, there have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

Other guarantees with related parties
The Group has provided bank guarantees for one of its associates in respect of their borrowings from external

banks. Refer to Note 20.
c) Ci of key

personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management of the Group during the year was as
follows:

2025 2024

Board of Directors remuneration (1) 13,883 13,760
Remuneration and short term benefits to key management personnel 47,570 42,465
Long term benefits to key management personnel 3,062 5,970
64,515 62,195

(1) This includes the fee for Company’s Board of Directors’ amounting to QR 8.75 million (2024: QR 8.75
million). The Company has established a remuneration policy for its Board of Directors. This policy is
comprised of two components: a fixed component, and a variable component. The variable component is
related to the financial performance of the Company. The remuneration of the Directors of the Company is
within the limit prescribed by the Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law.

22. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to
Owner of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

2025 2024
Restated*
Profit for the year 4,323,491 4,727,945
Profit attributable to owners of the Company for basic and diluted
earnings 4,300,053 4,665,879
Weighted average number of shares (in thousands) 6,050,000 6,050,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 0.71 0.77
* Refer to Note 31.
23. Income tax
Tax expense
2025 2024
Restated*
Current income tax
Current income tax charge 1,091,203 817,810
Global minimum top-up tax 7,274 -
Adjustments for prior year income tax 12,021 14,791
1,110,498 832,601
Group tax benefit (i) (1,056,015) (793,920)
Net current tax expense 54,483 38,681
Deferred tax income
Relating to temporary differences (27,781) (721)
Income tax i in the of profit or loss 26,702 37,960

* Refer to Note 31.

(i) As per the MOU between the General Tax Authority, QatarEnergy and Ministry of Finance signed on 4
February 2020, the proportion of income tax of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and their components
attributable to the effective shareholding of the public shareholding company shall be settled with the
General Tax Authority by the Ministry of Finance through the defined settlement arrangement between the
public shareholding company, QatarEnergy and the Ministry of Finance.

Reconciliation of tax expense

2025 2024
Restated*
Profit before tax 4,350,193 4,765,905
Adjustments for:
Non-taxable income (1,211,659) (2,510,732)
Non-deductible expenses and losses 279,588 143,965
Taxable income 3,418,122 2,399,138
Income tax 1,070,696 817,089
Adjustments for prior year income tax 12,021 14,791
Group tax benefit relating to subsidiaries (1,056,015) (793,920)
Income tax expense 26,702 37,960
* Refer to Note 31.
Income tax payable
The movement of income tax payable is as follows:
2025 2024
At 1 January 137,057 2,323
Current income tax for the year 1,091,203 817,810
Global minimum top-up tax 7,274 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary - 99,799
Adjustments for prior year income tax 12,021 14,791
Amount paid during the year (142,332) (3,746)
Group tax benefit relating to subsidiaries (1,056,015) (793,920)
At 31 December 49,208 137,057

Deferred tax

The movement of deferred tax asset is as follows:

2025 2024

At 1 January 17,264 -

Acquisition of a subsidiary - 20,420

Deferred tax income / (expense) 20,775 (3,156)

At 31 December 38,039 17,264
The movement of deferred tax liability is as follows:

2025 2024

Restated*

At 1 January 66,176 -

Avrising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31) - 70,053

Deferred tax income (7,006) (3,877)

At 31 December 59,170 66,176

Global Minimum Tax

The Company and its subsidiaries are part of the QatarEnergy Group, a multinational enterprise (MNE)
headquartered in Qatar and subject to the Pillar Two regime introduced by the Organisation for Economic
Cooperation and Development (OECD).

On 27 March 2025, the State of Qatar published in the Official Gazette Law No. 22 of 2024, amending certain
provisions of the Income Tax Law (Law No. 24 of 2018) by introducing the Domestic Minimum Top up Tax
(DMTT) and Income Inclusion Rule (lIR), with a global minimum tax rate of 15%. These amendments are
effective from 1 January 2025. In May 2023, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) amended
IAS 12 to introduce a temporary mandatory exception from recognizing deferred taxes arising from Pillar Two
legislation. The Company and its subsidiaries have adopted this exception and has not recorded any deferred
taxes related to Pillar Two for the reporting period.

The Company and its subsidiaries mainly operate in Qatar and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). In February
2025, the Ministry of Finance (MoF) of the UAE issued Cabinet Decision No. 142 of 2024 introducing a 15%
DMTT for MNE group entities operating in the UAE and subject to Pillar Two. This Decision applies to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

QatarEnergy MNE Group has performed a preliminary impact assessment of all relevant jurisdictions,
including the Company and its subsidiaries, using the qualified CbCR for FY 2024 and applying the
Transitional Country by Country Reporting (CbCR) Safe Harbour Rule. The assessment indicates that there
is no impact on the Company and its subsidiaries in the jurisdictions in which it operates, other than QR 7.27
million recognised by the Group’s subsidiary in UAE.

The Group continues to monitor developments in Qatar and other jurisdictions, including the issuance of
Executive Regulations that may affect future tax calculations and compliance. Any material changes will be
reflected in future reporting periods.

24. Revenues

2025 2024
Disaggregation of revenue — at a point in time
Bars sales 2,818,627 2,701,720
Billets sales 555,975 233,236
Direct reduced iron (DRI) sales 1,447,776 824,763
Coil sales 297,644 221,762
Urea sales 7,660,014 6,494,660
Ammonia sales 659,060 551,440
Melamine sales 235,906 200,108
Methanol sales 629,221 383,282
Methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) sales 1,673,772 1,041,165
15,977,995 12,652,136
25. Cost of sales
2025 2024
Restated*
Raw materials, utilities and consumables used 9,028,777 6,956,399
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 1,641,469 1,499,988
Employee benefits expenses 920,112 787,848
Repair and maintenance 224,620 157,573
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 11) 52,527 42,584
External manpower cost 129,969 86,030
Professional and consultancy fee 20,015 23,614
Others 159,987 320,234
12,177,476 9,874,270
* Refer to Note 31.
26. Other income - net
2025 2024
Restated*
By-product sales - net 11,132 (42,983)
Unrealized gain / (loss) on financial assets at FVTPL (Note 12) 4,584 (19,690)
Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 222,000 -
Reversal of provision on financial guarantee (Note 20) - 142,659
Bargain purchase gain (Note 31) - 225,762
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest in a joint -
venture (Note 31) 146,476
Others 65,010 102,285
302,726 554,509
* Refer to Note 31.
27. Income from other investments
2025 2024
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL 18,660 22,017
Income on bank deposits — Islamic banks 179,100 280,977
Income on bank deposits — other banks 234,494 405,645
432,254 708,639
28. General and administrative expenses
2025 2024
Employee benefits expenses 560,808 490,420
Professional and consultancy fee (1) 18,766 30,932
External services 88,537 75,914
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 46,213 33,708
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 11) 9,459 9,813
Rental, utilities and supplies 29,569 29,231
Board of director's remuneration 13,883 13,760
Travel, transportation and communication 15,907 12,725
QatarEnergy management fees 6,059 5,843
Qatar Stock Exchange fees 2,229 2,229
Others 64,193 56,506
855,623 761,081

(1) This includes auditors’ remuneration of audit of financial statements related fees for an amount of QR 1.02
million (2024: QR 0.79 million) and services other than audit for an amount of QR 0.68 million (2024: QR
0.37 million).

29. Commitments

Significant capital expenditure contracted at the end of the reporting period but not recognized as a liability is
as follows:

2025 2024
Capital commitments from subsidiaries 1,209,408 2,638,913
Capital commitments — the Group's share of associates and joint venture 279,762 399,600
30. Contingencies
a. Group’s share in contingent liabiliti

2025 2024
Letters of credit 3,554 15,042
Bank guarantees 172 3,086
Letters of credit — the Group’s share of associates and joint venture 228,487 126,141
Bank guarantees — the Group’s share of associates and joint venture 6,308 61,253

The Group anticipates that no material liabilities will arise from the above guarantees and letter of credits,
which are issued in the ordinary course of business other than the QR 257.34 million (2024: QR 257.34 million)
already recognized (Note 20).

b. Site restoration obligations

One of the Group’s subsidiaries has entered into a land lease agreement with lessor on which the plant and
other facilities have been constructed. Under this agreement, the Lessor has the right, upon termination or
expiration of the lease term, to notify the subsidiary that it requires to either:

* Transfer the facilities to the Lessor or a transferee nominated by the Lessor, against a price acceptable by
the subsidiary, or;

* Remove the facilities and all other property from the land and restore it to the condition in which it was
delivered to the subsidiary, at the subsidiary’s cost, unless otherwise is agreed with the Lessor.

The incurrence of decommissioning and site restoration cost by the Group is contingent to which option is
opted by the lessor. Since the Lessor has not notified the subsidiary i) the option to be opted and ii) any
communications for its intent, the criteria to recognize the provision for decommissioning and site restoration
obligation is not fully met and therefore, the Group has not recognized provision for the decommissioning and
site restoration obligation as at and for the year ended 31 December 2025 in respect of this subsidiary.

c. Tax related contingencies

The General Tax Authority (“GTA") issued income tax assessments to certain components of the Group for
the years from 2012 to 2023, requiring the components to pay additional taxes and penalties of QR 2,965
million (including share of joint ventures and associates) and disallowing some expenses.

The components have submitted formal objections, as per the requirement of the tax law, rejecting the full
amount claimed by the GTA within 30 days.

Management has concluded that it is probable (i.e., it is more likely than not) based on the earlier precedence
that the General Tax Authority will accept the tax treatment in the objection and accordingly has not recorded
a liability for the assessments received or for any potential further amounts which may be assessed in relation
to this matter in the subsequent years.

Further, as per the terms of the MOU (Note 4), the Ministry of Finance undertakes to settle any income tax
amounts payable by these components for the previous years directly to the GTA. Based on the ongoing
advanced discussions and correspondence between QatarEnergy, on behalf of the Group, the Ministry of
Finance, and the GTA, it is expected that the assessments will either be withdrawn or resolved amicably
between the parties involved.

d. Other contingencies

Other than the above, the Group is involved in certain litigations, however, based on the inputs from internal
legal team, management has concluded that no provision is required to be recognised in these consolidated
financial statements (2024: Nil).

31. Acquisition of a subsidiary

During 2024, the Group acquired control over Qatar Fuel Additives Company Limited (QAFAC), which is
engaged in the production, marketing, and export of methyl-tertiary-butyl-ether (MTBE) and methanol. QAFAC
is not publicly listed.

The acquisition resulted from the expiry of the Consolidated Joint Venture Agreement (CJVA) of QAFAC on 9
June 2024. Following the expiry of CJVA, effective 10 June 2024, the Company continues to hold its 50%
shareholding interest in QAFAC. Remaining 50% shareholding in QAFAC held by other shareholders is
acquired by a related party with an economic effective date of 10 June 2024. Based on the proposed
arrangement with the related party, the Company has control over QAFAC so that it is exposed to and has
rights to variable returns from its involvement with QAFAC and has the ability to impact those returns through
its controlling shareholding in QAFAC, while the related party is entitled to 50% share of profits due to its
shareholding.

Further, management has assessed that the acquired activities and assets of QAFAC are capable of being
conducted and managed for the purpose of generating outputs and accordingly, this acquisition is a business
combination for the Company as per IFRS 3. Accordingly, QAFAC has been consolidated as a subsidiary of
the Group with effect from 10 June 2024.

31.1 Identifiable assets acqui and liabilities

The following table summarizes the final fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

Fair value
Property, plant and equipment 1,256,189
Catalysts and other non-current assets 73,064
Deferred tax assets 20,420
Inventories 251,147
Trade and other receivables 585,222
Cash and cash equivalents 478,288
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (55,154)
Trade and other payables (352,383)
Income tax payable (99,798)
Deferred tax liability 70,053
Total identifiable net assets 2,086,942
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Finalization of fair value

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed were determined with assistance
from an independent external valuation specialist. As part of the purchase price allocation, the valuation of
property, plant and equipment was performed using the Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) method, as the
assets are specialised in nature and not directly comparable in the market. This approach reflects the current
replacement cost of the assets, adjusted for allowances for obsolescence. The fair value uplift of QR 400.3
million in property, plant and equipment resulted in recognition of deferred tax liability of QR 70 million.

The valuation of inventories resulted in a fair value increase of QR 41.9 million. The uplift primarily relates to
finished goods, valued based on observable selling prices at the acquisition date, net of costs to sell and
including a reasonable margin for selling effort. The carrying values of other inventory components were
assessed to approximate fair value.

The trade receivables balance of QR 585.2 million represents contractual amounts receivable with no expected
credit losses at the acquisition date. The deferred tax assets and income tax payable was adjusted to exclude
amounts receivable from or payable to the Group (based on MOU referred in Note 4), reflecting the elimination
of intra-group balances.

The carrying values of the remaining identifiable assets and liabilities assumed are a reasonable approximation
of their fair values.

The fair values determined are categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Group finalized the acquisition accounting of QAFAC within the one-year measurement period permitted
by IFRS 3. The measurement period ended on 9 June 2025. Previously, as of 31 December 2024 and 30 June
2024, the Group had reported provisional fair values. Accordingly, upon completion of the fair values, the
comparative information presented as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been restated to
reflect the adjustments to provisional amounts as required by IFRS 3. The impact of restatement is as follows:

Impact of the finalization of
As previously
reported A As

As at 31 December 2024
Items related to the consolidated statement of
financial position:
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 15,522,415 234,562 15,756,977
Other assets 26,892,955 - 26,892,955
Total assets 42,415,370 234,562 42,649,932
Equity
Retained earnings 31,437,783 171,196 31,608,979
Non-controlling interests 902,435 (7,200) 895,235
Others 6,311,954 - 6,311,954
Total equity 38,652,172 163,996 38,816,168
Liabilities
Deferred tax liability - 66,176 66,176
Trade and other payables 2,618,788 4,390 2,623,178
Other liabilities 1,144,410 - 1,144,410
Total liabilities 3,763,198 70,566 3,833,764
Total liabilities and equity 42,415,370 234,562 42,649,932
For the year ended 31 December 2024
ltems refated to the consolidated statement of
profit or foss:
Revenues 12,652,136 - 12,652,136
Cost of sales (9,810,216) (64,054) (9,874,270)
Other income - net 325,946 228,563 554,509
Income tax expense (41,837) 3,877 (37,960)
Others 1,433,530 - 1,433,530
Profit for the period 4,559,559 168,386 4,727,945
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 4,490,293 175,586 4,665,879
Non-controlling interests 69,266 (7,200) 62,066

4,559,559 168,386 4,727,945
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings (QR per share) 0.74 0.03 0.77
Items related to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income:
Total comprehensive income for the period 4,556,719 168,386 4,725,105
Total p income attril to:
Owners of the Company 4,487,453 175,586 4,663,039
Non-controlling interests 69,266 (7,200) 62,066

4,556,719 168,386 4,725,105
ltems refated to the consolidated statement of
changes in equity:
Retained earnings 31,437,783 171,196 31,608,979
Non-controlling interests 902,435 (7,200) 895,235
Others 6,311,954 - 6,311,954
Total equity 38,652,172 163,996 38,816,168

There is no impact on operating, investing and financing cash flows due to above change.
31.2 Consideration transferred

As the Group has acquired control by virtue of expiry of the CJVA, there is no consideration transferred as part
of this business combination.

31.3 Acquisitions related cost
The Group has incurred acquisition-related costs amounting to QR 0.49 million during the year (2024: Nil)

relating to consultant and external professional fees.
31.4 Remeasurement of previously held equity interest in a joint venture
Based on the fair value, the table below summarizes the gain on remeasurement of previously held equity

interest in the joint venture on the date of acquisition, which has been recorded in profit or loss of the
comparative period as part of other income (Note 26).

Amount
50% of the fair value of the joint venture as of the date of acquisition 1,043,471
Carrying value of joint venture as of date of acquisition 896,996
Fair value gain on remeasurement of existing interest in QAFAC 146,475

31.5 Non-controlling interest

Post expiry of CJVA, effective 10 June 2024, remaining 50% shareholding in QAFAC held by other
shareholders is to be acquired by related party with economic effective date of 10 June 2024 which is only
entitled to 50% share of profits due to its shareholding. The following table summarizes the information relating
to non-controlling interest (NCI) before any intra-group eliminations at acquisition date:

Amount
Total identifiable net assets acquired 1,635,416
NCI percentage 50%
NCI as of date of acquisition — based on their proportionate share of net assets 817,708

31.6 Bargain purchase gain

Amount
Fair value of identifiable net assets 2,086,942
Fair value of investment in QAFAC as of acquisition date (1,043,471)
NCI as of date of acquisition — based on their proportionate share of net assets 817,708
Bargain purchase gain (Note 26) 225,763

32. Segment information

The Group operates in the Gulf region. For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services. In determining business units, joint ventures of the Group are treated
as if they are proportionately consolidated within the financial statements. The Group has three reportable
segments as follows:

. The petrochemical segments, which produces and sells ethylene, polyethylene, MTBE, methanol and
other petrochemical products.

. The fertilizer segment, which produces and sells urea, ammonia and other by-products.

. The steel segment, which produces and sells steel pellets, bars, billets and others.

Management of the Group monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated
based on operating profit or loss, which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured
differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue

The revenue from external parties is measured in the same way as in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

31 December 2025 31 December 2024

Revenue Revenue
from Inter- from Inter-

external segment external segment

customers revenue Total  customers revenue Total
Petrochemicals 5,039,355 33,181 5,072,536 4,982,966 18,330. 5,001,296
Fertilisers 8,554,981 - 8,554,981 7,246,209 - 7,246,209
Steel 5,120,021 - _ 5,120,021 _ 3,981,481 - 3,981,481
Total segment revenue 18,714,357 33,181 18,747,538 16,210,656 18,330 16,228,986
Revenue from joint
ventures 2,736,362 3,558,520
Revenue per consolidated
statement of profit or loss 15,977,995 12,652,136

Revenues from external customers come from the sale of steel bars, billets, coils, direct reduced iron, hot
briquetted iron, by-products, freight revenues, urea, ammonia, methyl-tertiary-butyl-ether (MTBE), methanol,
ethylene, polyethylene and other petrochemical products.

Revenues of QR 10,841 million (2024: QR 8,662 million) are derived from a single external customer,
QatarEnergy Marketing.

The Group entities are domiciled in Qatar, the Kingdom of Bahrain, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and United
Arab Emirates.

Of the Group’s consolidated revenue in 2025, 76% is earned from customers in Qatar (2024: 78%), 15% is
earned from customers in UAE (2024: 8%) and the remaining is distributed amongst the customers in a number
of countries which is not split for purpose of segment reporting.

Segment profit

The following table presents profit information regarding the Group’s operating segments for the year ended
31 December 2025 and 2024, respectively:

Please scan the QR-code
using a smart phone
for easy access to the -l
full set of financial
statements.

Petrochemicals Fertilisers Steel Total
31 December 2025
Segment profit after tax 767,141 2,675,717 532,512 3,975,370
Share of results from associates - - 139,838 139,838
Total segment profit 767,141 2,675,717 672,350 4,115,208
Unallocated income:*
Interest income 317,402
Dividend income 18,660
Other income 8,592
344,654
Unaflocated expense:*
Board of Director's fees and expenses (8,750)
QatarEnergy management fee (6,059)
Qatar Stock Exchange fees/charges (2,229)
Other expense (119,333
(136,371
Profit for the year 4,323,491

* These represent the income and expenses of IQ from its own activities excluding dividends received from
subsidiaries and joint ventures, which are eliminated as part of consolidation.

Petrochemicals Fertilisers Steel Total
31 December 2024 (Restated*)
Segment profit after tax 1,430,300 1,969,912 219,818 3,620,030
Share of results from associates - - 345,509 345,509
Total segment profit 1,430,300 1,969,912 565,327 3,965,539
Unallocated income:**
Interest income 544,288
Dividend income 22,017
Other income 387,794

954,099
Unallocated expense:**
Board of Director's fees and expenses (8,750)
QatarEnergy annual fee (5,843)
Qatar Stock Exchange fees/charges (2,229)
Other expense (174,871)
(191,693

Profit for the year 4,727,945

** These represent the income and expenses of 1Q from its own activities excluding dividends received from
subsidiaries and joint ventures, which are eliminated as part of consolidation.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following table presents segment assets and liabilities regarding the Group’s business segments as at 31
December 2025 and 2024. Reconciliation of reportable segments total assets and total liabilities:

Adjustments
Unallocated and

Petrochemicals Fertilisers Steel **_eliminations Total

Segment assets

At 31 D ber 2025
At 31 December 2024

9,902,265 17,059,695
9,459,104 15,001,768

9,289,264 8,144,170
8,536,553 9,934,843

(1,257,319) 43,138,075
(322,719) 42,609,549

(Restated*)
Adjustments
Unallocated and
Petrochemicals _Fertilisers Steel **_eliminations Total
Segment liabilities
At 31 D ber 2025 3,333,505 2,920,833 1,129,797 203,303 (3,103,228) 4,484,210
At 31 December 2024 2,072,568 2,517,078 1,054,792 270,931 (2121988) 3,793,381

(Restated*)
* Refer to Note 31.

** These represent IQ’s assets and liabilities from its own activities, excluding balances relating to its
investments in subsidiaries and joint venture and receivables with subsidiaries, which are eliminated as part
of consolidation.

33. Financial risk and capital management

a. Objectives and policies

The treasury function of each entity in the Group provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to
domestic and international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the
operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of
risks. These risks include market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange risk, and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

b.  Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and
interest rates, will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimizing the return. The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in
commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group's financial assets with floating interest rates, which are mainly cash and bank balances.

Sensitivity

For interest bearing assets, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the assets held outstanding at
the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. As at reporting date, if interest rates had
been 100 basis point higher/lower with all other variables held constant, income and equity for the year would
have been QR 99 million (2024: QR 108 million) higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income
on interest bearing assets.

(i) Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations arise. Management is of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to currency risk is
not significant as most of its foreign currency transactions are in United States Dollar which is pegged to Qatari
Riyal.

(iii)  Equity price risk

The Group’s listed investments are susceptible to equity price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investments. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and placing limits
on individual and total portfolio of equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to senior
management on a regular basis and results are reviewed by the Board of Directors.

Sensitivity

As at the reporting date, the exposure to listed equity securities at fair value was QR 405.97 million (2024: QR
401.39 million) which includes financial assets at FVTPL (Note 12). An increase or decrease of 10% on the
Qatar Stock Exchange index would have an impact of approximately QR 40.6 million (2024: QR 40.1 million)
on the equity.

All of the Group’s equity investments are publicly traded and are included in the Qatar Stock Exchange.
(iv) Commodity price risk

Volatility in oil and gas together with prices of commaodity is inherent in Group’s business and operating
environment. The Group’s key products are primarily sold through off-take agreements based on international
prices. The Group’s profit margin is therefore, affected by disproportionate fluctuations in the prices of crude
oil and commodity prices.

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk, which arises from the purchase and consumption of large
volumes of raw materials in its normal course of business. Raw material prices are linked to an index, which
is volatile and influenced by worldwide factors such as political events, supply and demand fundamentals.

The Group does not use any derivative instruments to manage commodity price risks or for speculative
purposes. The Group’ sensitivity to commodity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year.

c. Creditrisk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as
credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables.

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the creditworthiness of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and
approved by the management annually.

The Group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities. Further, the
Group limits its exposure on export customers by taking out letters of credit, where applicable.

In order to minimize credit risk, the Group develops and maintains the Group’s credit risk gradings to categorise
exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. The Group’s
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.

31 December 2025 12 month or Gross
External credit lifetime carrying Loss Net carrying
ratings ECL amount allowance amount
Trade and other receivables (1) N/A Lifetime ECL 3,796,210 (58,392) 3,737,818
Fixed deposits a2, A N2 RS Lifeime ECL 6,033,924 . 6,033,924
Bank balances (2) Aaa, Aaand A 12-month ECL 3,893,139 - 3,893,139
31 December 2024 12 month or
External credit lifetime Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
ratings ECL amount  allowance amount
Trade and other receivables (1) N/A Lifetime ECL 3,405,760 (58,395) 3,347,365
Fi . Aa2, A+, A2, A3 -
ixed deposits and Baal Lifetime ECL 7,282,356 - 7,282,356
Bank balances (2) Aaa, Aaand A 12-month ECL 3,523,061 - 3,523,061

(1) Trade and other receivables include trade accounts receivable, due from related parties, loans to
employees, accrued interest and other receivables.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate
to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of
these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix.

(2) Loss allowances on bank balances are always measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. The
Group considers bank balances to have a low risk level when their credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally
understood definition of “investment grade”. The Group considers this to be Ba3 or higher per Moody's Rating
Agency. Accordingly, no material loss allowance on bank balances.

c. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilites when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Analysis of financial liabilities

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the reporting date
based on undiscounted contractual repayment obligations:

Total Carrying
Contractual maturities of  Less than 1 Between  More than 5 contractual amount of
financial lial es year 1-5 years years cash flows iabiliti
At 31 December 2025
Lease liability 90,713 252,222 233,162 576,097 404,739
Trade payables 331,138 - - 331,138 331,138
Financial guarantees 257,342 - - 257,342 257,342
Due to related parties 846,121 - - 846,121 846,121
Accrued expenses 570,574 - - 570,574 570,574
Other payables 85,593 - - 85,593 85,593
2,181,481 252,222 233,162 2,666,865 2,495,507

Total Carrying

Contractual maturities of Less than 1 Between More than 5 contractual amount of
financial liabilities year 1-5 years years cash flows Liabilities
At 31 December 2024
Lease liability 87,855 300,790 257,917 646,562 455,128
Trade payables 283,201 - - 283,201 283,201
Financial guarantees 257,342 - - 257,342 257,342
Due to related parties 489,776 - - 489,776 489,776
Accrued expenses 1,326,435 - - 1,326,435 1,326,435
Other payables 70,644 - - 70,644 70,644
2,515,253 300,790 257,917 3,073,960 2,882,526

e. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The below table details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes.

At At 31

1 January Financing Non cash December

2025 cash flows changes 2025

Lease liabilities 455,128 (90,375) 39,986 404,739
At At 31

1 January Financing Non cash December

2024 cash flows changes 2024

Lease liabilities 381,784 (77,876) 151,220 455,128

f. Capital management
Capital management
Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent less net unrealised gains reserve.

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2025 and 2024.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. As at the reporting date, the Group had no interest-bearing
loans and borrowings. Net cash and bank balances therefore represent cash and bank balances less lease
liabilities. Capital is equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

The Group's net cash position at year end was as follows:

2025 2024

Cash and bank balances 9,765,183 10,716,346
Less: lease liabilities (404,739) (455,128)
Net cash and bank balances 9,360,444 10,261,218
2025 2024

*Restated

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 37,930,640 37,920,933

* Refer to Note 31.

The Group does not have a net debt position as at 31 December 2025 and 31 December 2024.

34. Fair value of financial instruments

a.  Fair value measurements

Financial instruments represent any contractual agreement that creates a financial asset, financial liability or
an equity instrument. Financial assets comprise bank balances, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, financial assets at fair value though profit or loss (FVTPL). Financial liabilities comprise
trade and other payables and other non-current liabilities.

Classes and categories of financial instruments and their fair vaiues
The following table combines information about:

- classes of financial instruments based on their nature and characteristics;

- the carrying amounts of financial instruments;

- fair values of financial instruments; and

- fair value hierarchy levels of financial assets and financial liabilities for which fair value was disclosed.

The following table presents the Group'’s financial assets measured and recognised at fair value at 31
December 2025 and 31 December 2024 on recurring basis:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2025
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss:
Quoted price in an active market 405,973 - - 405,973
At 31 December 2024
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss:
Quoted price in an active market 401,389 - - 401,389

During the year ended December 2025, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Carrying values of other financial assets and liabilities of the Group are a reasonable approximation of their
fair values.

35. Non-controlling interests

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material
NCI, before any intra-group eliminations.

At 31 December 2025 QAFAC GFC Total
NCI percentage 50% 30%
Non-current assets 1,503,669 75,747 1,579,416
Current assets 1,365,328 43,245 1,408,573
Non-current liabilities (681,139) (51,472) (732,611)
Current liabilities (735,680) (8,104) (743,784)
Net assets 1,452,178 59,416 1,511,594
Share of net assets 726,089 17,825 743,914
Group tax benefits and other adjustments (20,209) (480) (20,689)
Net assets attributable to NCI 705,880 17,345 723,225
Revenue 2,336,174 92,910 2,429,084
Profit / total comprehensive income 68,976 6,533 75,507
NCI share 34,488 1,960 36,448
Other adjustments at group level (13,010) - (13,010)
Share of profit / total comprehensive income attributable to
NCI 21,478 1,960 23,438
Cash flow from operating activities (95,736) 9,656 (86,080)
Cash flow from investment activities (67,067) 262 (66,805)
Cash flow from financing activities (11,764) (8,330) (20,094)
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (174,567) 1,588 (172,979)
At 31 December 2024 (Restated*) QAFAC GFC Total
NCI percentage 50% 30%
Non-current assets 1,012,631 28,821 1,041,452
Current assets 1,580,558 40,842 1,621,400
Non-current liabilities (131,240) (151) (131,391)
Current liabilities (692,829) (8,330) (701,159)
Net assets 1,769,120 61,182 1,830,302
Share of net assets 884,560 18,354 902,914
Group tax benefits - (479) (479)
Other adjustments (7,200) - (7,200)
Net assets attributable to NCI 877,360 17,875 895,235
Revenue 1,442,776 88,270 1,631,046
Profit / total comprehensive income 133,704 8,046 141,750
NCI share 66,852 2,414 69,266
Other adjustments (7,200) - (7,200)
Share of profit / total comprehensive income attributable to

59,652 2,414 62,066
Cash flow from operating activities 428,551 12,946 441,497
Cash flow from investment activities (29,814) 324 (29,490)
Cash flow from financing activities (5,807) (6,528) (12,335)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 392,930 6,742 399,672

Financial information for profit or loss and cashflows of QAFAC is for the period from 10 June 2024 to 31
December 2024.

* Refer to Note 31.

36. Comparative figures

Other than the restatement mentioned in Note 31, the comparative figures presented have been reclassified
where necessary to preserve consistency with the current period figures. However, such reclassifications did
not have any effect on the net profit or the total equity for the comparative period.

Since QAFAC was acquired on 10 June 2024 (Note 31), the comparative information for the year ended 31
December 2024 includes the results of QAFAC for a partial period only, whereas the current year includes a
full year of operations. Accordingly, certain comparative amounts may not be fully comparable with the current
year.

37. Subsequent events

No significant events have occurred after the reporting date that would materially affect the understanding or
interpretation of these financial statements except for the dividend approved by the Board of Directors as
disclosed in Note 18.

INFORMATION RELATED TO COMPANY'S SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This note provides certain information related to the Company's unconsolidated financial position as at 31
December 2025 and its comparative year. The complete set of separate financial statements of the Company
prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 27 'Separate Financial Statements' (IAS 27)
are issued separately.

Below is the breakdown of the Company’s separate statement of financial position:

31 December 31 December

2025 2024
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 6,836,892 6,836,892
Investment in a joint venture 1,623,024 1,623,024
Advances 443,556 315,544
Total non-current assets 8,903,472 8,775,460
Current assets
Other receivables 211,974 311,714
Due from related parties 1,878,137 1,649,015
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 405,973 401,389
Fixed deposits and other bank balances 6,102,909 7,361,600
Cash and cash equivalents 344,143 776,146
Total current assets 8,943,136 10,499,864
Total assets 17,846,608 19,275,324
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 6,050,000 6,050,000
Legal reserve 261,437 229,035
Retained earnings 11,331,868 12,788,850
Total equity 17,643,305 19,067,885
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 196,788 201,495
Due to a related party 6,515 5,944
Total current liabilities 203,303 207,439
Total liabilities 203,303 207,439
Total equity and liabilities 17,846,608 19,275,324

FOR MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING AGENDA MATERIALS, PLEASE VISIT WWW.IQ.COM.QA OR EMAIL US AT: IQ@QATARENERGY.QA OR CALL US AT: +974 4013 2080
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Bankers’ winter getaway to sunny Florida is upended by Al chaos

Bloomberg
New York

It was supposed to be a relatively relaxing
work week in the South Florida sun for the
hundreds of bankers, brokers, advisers,
portfolio managers, analysts and investors
attending a series of financial industry
conferences from Miami to Boca Raton.
Then Al crashed the party.

As traders dumped financial services
stocks on Tuesday due to mounting

fears that new artificial intelligence tools
threaten the businesses as we know them,
Patrick Lemmens, an executive director

at Robeco Group and 30-year investing
veteran, was wandering from meeting

to meeting at the UBS Financial Services
Conference in Key Biscayne, watching

the chaos unfold on mobile phones and
computer screens.

Lemmens, who'’s based in Rotterdam,

The Netherlands, said he “did not come

to Miami with the idea that every other

day there would be another part of the
financial services space getting killed.”

But that’s basically what happened. It’s

a continuation of a trend that’s been
unfolding over the past few weeks, as Al
worries have consumed nearly every part
of the financial sector. Wealth managers,
insurance brokers, big banks, boutique
advisers, financial data providers and even
exchanges have all taken a hit. The S&P
500 Financials index declined 4.8% this
week and the KBW Bank Index sank 5.5%,
for both the biggest weekly loss since the
tariff freakout last April.

The culprit on Tuesday was a tool unveiled
by technology startup Altruist Corp

that helps financial advisers personalise
strategies for clients and create pay stubs,
account statements and other documents.
On Monday, investors unloaded insurance
brokerage stocks after the online
marketplace Insurify rolled out a new
application that uses OpenAl’s ChatGPT to
compare auto-insurance rates. That came
on the heels of a new model released

last week by Anthropic that’s aimed at
automating financial research and legal
services, triggering selloffs in those stocks.
Moving between conferences, attendees
sporting red Bank of America Corp wrist
bands and white UBS lanyards sought
answers from executives who were just

as confused as them about what this all
means.

“You try to get back to the meetings and
ask the various companies you are talking
to in the various parts: The alts, the banks,
investment banks, the insurance brokers,
the wealth managers,” Lemmens said. “You
get sort of sucked into everybody asking
the same question. What’s your software
exposure? What are you doing with Al?
What is the danger of Al?”

“And then everybody also giving the same
answer, our exposure to software is not
that big and not all the companies are
going to be killed,” he added. “You get a
lot of that response. And then you look at
the markets and the markets obviously are
totally of a different opinion.”

As the stocks sank, executives were forced
to defend their positions on the fly, since
they were primarily there to discuss their
solid earnings and strong deal pipelines
until Al disruption stepped in and stole the
show.

“I think Al is gonna enhance the quality of
advice and it’s gonna help advisers scale
and be able to serve more clients more
effectively with the same set of resources,”
Jed Finn, Morgan Stanley’s head of wealth
management, said at the UBS conference.
Morgan Stanley shares lost 4.9% on the
week.

Goldman Sachs Chief David Solomon
kicked off the event on Tuesday before
wealth manager stocks slumped. He
reiterated expectations for strength in
capital markets activity and said the

US economy remains poised for strong
growth this year. His comments on Al were
focused on declines in software stocks,
which he thought were overdone.

One strange dynamic of the selloffs is that
while these Al tools will likely hurt financial

services employment, they actually should
help the firms improve their profits and
margins.

For example, UBS insurance analyst Brian
Meredith said he came into the year
thinking that Al would boost productivity
for brokers. When the selloff was unfolding,
he was moving between meetings and
fielding calls from companies asking what
was going on.

“I would not have predicted what
happened,” he said. “In fact, if anything I'm
actually more positive on the insurance
brokers in 2026.”

Of course it wasn'’t just those defrosting

in Florida who were being inundated with
questions. Citizens analyst Devin Ryan
was in his Manhattan office on a phone
meeting with a flooded inbox and “a
multitude of emails coming in, and every
channel that | have that people can reach
out to me is blowing up.”

“I was trading e-mails and Team messages
and Bloomberg chats, and my phone was
ringing,” Ryan recalled.

CLASSIFIED @ ADVERTISING

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER / QA/QC ENGINEER (C.Eng
(I), M.Tech) with 13+ years’ experience in Supreme
Committee & FIFA 2022, Qatar Energy and LNG projects.
Expertise in LV/ELV systems, fire alarm installation,
testing & commissioning, with experience as MEP
Manager. Available forimmediate joining with transferable
visa. Email: vinodkumare999@gmail.com / Contact:
70170779.

UPDA-CERTIFIED ARCHITECT DESIGNER with seven

years of end-to-end residential villa experience, leading
design development, technical detailing, and site
coordination across exterior, interior fit-out, and
landscape works. Contact: +974-50919886, email:
jhanesngc@gmail.com

COORDINATOR/ADMIN AND HR ASSIST./Secretary/
Teacher. Female Filipina with Over 5 years of experience.
Experience in coordination, document
management,scheduling, training and Admin tasks.
Bachelors degree holder. With transferable work visa.
Email: sha.bmvi@gmail.com /Contact: +974-51867160.

HR / ADMIN OFFICER / MBA — HR/ GCC Experience. 1+
year GCC experience in recruitment (220+ skilled
workers), onboarding & payroll. Strong communication
skills, MS Office proficient. NOC available, immediate
joining. Email: anumariasam11@gmail.com / Contact
no. 50021277.

ACCOUNTANT/ACCOUNTANT CUM ADMIN. Indian
female, MBA in Finance with experience in Qatar. Skilled
in GL,AR,AP,Payroll,Bank reconciliation, Financial
reporting & Compliance. Holds valid QID with Qatar
Driving License. Available to join immediately. Email:
mrsramija02@gmail.com / Contact: 55058945.

MECHANICAL FORMAN With 8 years experience in
GCC. Skilled in automotive repair, maintenance, testing
and fault diagnostics. Am an experienced; Heavy Truck
Equipment Mechanic, Heavy duty Machinery Mechanic
and a Light Vehicle Mechanic. With a valid Qatar driving
license. Have NOC, and can join immediately. Contact:
70191895, email: gebrehiwotalemu53@gmail.com

SENIOR PROCUREMENT OFFICER / Supervisor /
Manager Over 23+ years of experience in CIVIL, MEP,
Fit-Out, SCM, PMV Fleet Management. Well-experienced
in Forecasting and Demand planning, Cost-reduction
strategies, Vendor Management, Team Player, Strong
Negotiation Skills in Both Local & International. Vast
Experience in SAP, e-Sourcing Platform and ERP.
Available immediate Joining with a Transferable Visa.
Contact: 30041858, email: venkateshravada@gmail.com

EGYPTIAN OPERATIONS EXECUTIVE with experience
in Qatar and UAE seeks opportunities in Doha. Skilled in
operations management, document control, and
business development across waste management, and
engineering. Fluent in Arabic and English with
professional translation Contact: +974 77589801 | md
sabrii@yahoo.com

FINANCE MANAGER / FINANCIAL CONTROLLER/CFO
(Indian Male, MCom, MBA, CA Inter) 20+ years
experience in Accounts, Audit,Vat,MIS,IFRS,Budgeting,
Fund Mgt,ERP softwares (Implementation Expert in
various ERP like Microsoft Dynamics, Winhms, Mycom,
Agile Septa Plus, Prologic, Tally, Sage) for Retalil,
Hospitality, Restaurants, Hypermarkets, Medical
Equipments, Trading & Mfg industries in Qatar, UAE with
Driving license and NOC seeks placement. Contact:
33737613, email: dineshkarolil@yahoo.com

FOOD SAFETY OFFICER - NIGERIAN MALE, with over
2 years of Qatar experience in Food Safety inspections,
HACCP & ISO 22000 implementation, Regulatory
compliance with Qatar MOPH and also staff training. Self
motivated and ready to work. Transferable visa. Contact:
60069398, Email: kenechiobinna89@gmail.com

WAREHOUSE IN-CHARGE, Logistics Officer, Store
Supervisor, Assistant Warehouse Manager, or Senior
Storekeeper. | hold a Bachelor of Business Administration
(BBA) and have over 15 years of experience in
warehouse and logistics operations, inventory control,
and team supervision. Available immediately. Contact:
30553917, email: safaribenson180@gmail.com

SKILLED HARDWARE TECHNICIAN with hands
experience in diagnosis,repairing and maintaining
computer hardware printers,and peripheral devices
proficient in installing operation system. Replacing
components and troubleshooting system issue, providing
technical support and reliable details oriented, minimizing
downtime and ensuring smooth IT operations with 15
years experience and 3 years in accounting experience.
Contact: 30209098, email: shaiksaddam1994 @gmail.com

AM A PROACTIVE AND HIGHLY Organized professional
with a track record of coordinating tasks, managing
schedules, and ensuring smooth workflow of daily
operations. | bring strong skills in project planning,
documentation, communication, stakeholder engagement
with strong proficiency in tools like Primavera P6 and
Microsoft office. Recognized for reliability, adaptability,
good communication and problem-solving skills. Contact:
51701120, email: folarin507 @gmail.com

FACILITY MANAGER MEP / Sr Facility Engineer. UPDA
-A Grade, CFM from IFMA Boston USA, BE in
Instrumentation, Diploma in Electrical & MBA, having 15
years experience in Facility Operation & Maintenance at
Qatar Foundation, FIFA 2022 Stadium, DCP & Honda
Plant, looking for a job of Facility Manager or Sr Facility
Engineer. Contact Email: vivekgaur1183@gmail.com,
77108977.

SITUATION WANTED

GL ACCOUNTANT / SENIOR ACCOUNTANT: Indian
male with Master's degree in Commerce and 14 years of
progressive accounting experience across FMCG,
Trading, and Contracting sectors. Expertise in AP/AR,
WPS, fixed assets, reconciliation,FS preparation as per
IFRS, month-end closing, GL review. Proven ability to
ensure accuracy and compliance in financial operations.
Available immediately with transferable visa. Contact:
66466591, Email: zakariyakommachi@gmail.com

FINANCE MANAGER / CHIEF ACCOUNTANT: Having
over 14 years of experience in Accounting/ Finance/
Audit-big4). Qualified: CIMA-UK, BSc-UK, and MBA-UK.
Having experience in Finalization of Accounts, Monthend
& Yearend Reporting, Preparation of Financial
Statements, Handing Internal & External Audits,
Knowledge of IFRS, Advance Excel, SAP Hana system.
NOC Available. (Email-:krrishan10@gmail.com) (Mobile:
+974-33315161).

DEPENDABLE PROFESSIONAL with strong foundation
in electrical system and safety protocols,coupled with
exceptional problem solving and analytical skills. Higher
National Diploma Electrical Electronic Engineering and
certified T-BOSIET. Tank Cleaning supervisor role.
Available to join immediately. Contact: 31382031, email:
olanipekunfagbamila@gmail.com

HR AND ADMIN: INDIAN FEMALE with 3+ years of GCC
experience. Seeking a suitable position as administration,
HR Assistant and accountant(payroll) with strong
knowledge of ms office. Available for immediate joining.
Contact: 33173397, email: rakshayaraj@yahoo.com

ENGINEERING MANAGEMENT PROFESSIONAL with
MSc from USA and two years operations and analytics
experience seeking Project Management roles in Qatar/
GCC. Skilled Excel, SQL, Tableau. Immediate availability
valid QID. Email: azhermhmd27 @gmail.com / Contact:
77354743.

EXPERIENCED FORKLIFT OPERATOR Seeking
Employment. Reliable and MOI and licensed forklift
operator with TUV and over 5 years of experience in
forklift, warehouse, and logistics operations. Skilled in
operating multiple forklift types, maintaining safety
standards, and managing inventory efficiently. Licensed
and certified with a clean safety record. Available
immediately and seeking opportunities. Contact:
66169252, email: kennedyodira520 @gmail.com

HSE MANAGER/ENGINEER with 16 years working
experience, having QP & Ashgal approval in Road
infrastructure work, Building construction, oil & gas,
Drainage and Tunnelling work having MS.c Safety,
BS.c,CMIOSH,NVQ Level 6, NEBOSH,IOSH,OSHA-30.
1ISO 45001 Lead auditor, have valid Qatar driving licence.
Seeking job with immediate joining. Contact: 72046403,
email: muyeeuk@gmail.com

EXPERIENCED QUANTITY SURVEYOR/ Estimator with 3+
years of experience in Civil, Interior Fit-Out, and
Infrastructure Projects with Gulf Experience. Skilled in
Quantity Take-Offs, Cost Estimation, Value Engineering,
BOQ Preparation, Billing, and Sub-Contractor Management.
Proficient in MS Office, AutoCAD, and Plan swift.
Transferable visa with NOC available, Available in Qatar
and can join immediately. Email: alakarethnamkethees@
gmail.com / Contact: +974 70089598.

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER UPDA with over 12 yrs of
proven experience in infrastructure and High rise
Buildings for Design, installation of LV MV systems, ELV
systems, fire Alarm systems along with expertise in
vendor management,subcontract management Well-
versed in project submittals, inspections, material
handling. NOC Available. Contact: 77969636, Email:
rafimohiuddin1993@gmail.com

CHIEF ACCOUNTANT/ACCOUNTANT, Sri Lankan, 15+
years Qatar experience. B.Com, AAT, part-qualified
ACCA. ERP: Oracle, MS Dynamics, QuickBooks, Tally,
MS Office. Qatar driving license, NOC available. Contact:
74050575, email: p_mathan_1984@yahoo.com

STOREKEEPER & DRIVER: Experienced Storekeeper
with 10 years, including 6 years F&B sector in Qatar.
Graduate with valid Qatar driving license. Skilled in
inventory control, stock management, ERP systems,
documentation, and logistics coordination & office
Messenger. Seeking suitable opportunity. Available
immediately & Contract job or transferable Visa. Contact:
77261979, email: milad59sgs@yahoo.com

SENIOR SALES & MARKETING - Executive - Professional
with 15 yrs experience in sales & Marketing, B2B
sales,creating marketing competitor analysis and
customer service. Have Valid Qatar driving license with
transferable work visa. Contact mob: +974 - 51198650 /
mamlayique @gmail.com

PROCUREMENT / PURCHASING Professional.
Experienced and certified in strategic sourcing, vendor
negotiation, and supply chain management. Skilled in
cost control, contract management, and procurement
operations across healthcare and retail sectors. Certified:
CPPM, CPDW, CPP, IOSH & MDP. Contact: 70723989,
email: madejcua@gmail.com

REGISTERED GENERAL NURSE: 3+ years of clinical
experience delivering safe, compassionate and patient-
centered care. Skilled in managing patients in fast-paced
settings, with strong communication, team work and
critical thinking abilities. Committed to continuous
professional growth and maintaining high standards of
nursing practice. Email: arinzefaustina@gmail.com /
Contact: 30210514.

OFFICER/ADMINISTRATOR: Indian female with 5 years
experience in Qatar. Completed MBA in HRM and
Finance proficient in MS office and MS excel under
family sponsorship ready to join immediately please
contact mob: 50639717 email: shemimony@gmail.com

PROCUREMENT OFFICER with 13 years of experience in
Qatar including 8 years in procurement. Skilled in
sourcing, supplier negotiation, cost control and inventory
management, food division. Contact: 30197474, Email:
riyazkalima@gmail.com

FINANCE & ACCOUNTING CONSULTANT (Part-time)
with 8+ vyears’ experience offering accounting,
bookkeeping, finalizing year-end audit, tax compliance,
internal audit, SOPs, and monthly performance reviews.
Clear financial reports, cost control, and business
restructuring for SMEs and individuals in Qatar.
Confidential, accurate, and dependable service. Call for
consultation. Email: insamam.edu@gmail.com / Mob:
31290117.

LOOKING FOR A PART TIME pick and drop driving job. |
have valid Qatar Driving License and own car. | have 5
years experience in driving. Contact: 30932434, email:
chuks4young@yahoo.com

QAQC/MATERIAL ENGINEER: B. Tech degree in civil
engineering, certified MMUP & QMS ISO 9001:2015
(Lead Auditor) with over 16 years of working experience
in civil engineering construction works (building, oil &
gas, Ashghal infrastructure projects). Experience in the
implementation of Quality Assurance & Quality Control of
a projects. Looking for the suitable company to join and
driving license available. Contact: 55274527, email:
murphymyhope @yahoo.com

SENIOR PROCUREMENT OFFICER: 7+ years experience
in Qatar. Currently working in Amwaj. Skilled in
negotiation, contracts, vendor management using ERP
including SAP. Having valid QID. Looking for immediate
hiring. Email: sherly.manesha@gmail.com / Contact:
66834545.

QA/QC, FOOD SAFETY AND HYGIENE OFFICER And
Housekeeping Officer, F&B Production Manager. 8 Yrs
experience, 3 years Qatar Experience. Certificates: M.Sc
microbiology, ISO 22000:2018. HACCP L3 L4, FOOD
SAFETY L3. Food And Beverage Management. Available
to join immediately. Email: andrewdctr@gmail.com /
Contact: 71896076.

ACCOUNTANT - INDIAN MALE. With 10 years of
experience in Qatar. Financial report, Accounts
Receivables & Payables,GL,Budgeting,BRS,General
accounting, Cash flow, Payrolls-WPS, Proficient in ERP
system and accounting softwares. Holding Valid QID
with NOC. Valid Qatar Driving License. Mob: 30904916,
Email: azharkarumban@gmail.com

AERONAUTICAL ENGINEER / Technical Support. BS
Aeronautical Engineering graduate. Advanced
Professional Proficiency in English (TOEIC 970). Trained
in CAMO, Technical Records, MEL/CDL, QMS & SMS.
Strong documentation skills. Father sponsor visa, valid
QID. Email: lloydhanz.yap@gmail.com / Contact: +974
59904059.

COMPLETION ENGINEER / SUPERVISOR. Over 12
years of experience in Energy companies. Specialized in
installation of Lower completion, upper completions and
Liner hanger. Email: chikejoel2002@yahoo.com /
Contact: 30388524.

ASSISTANT ACCOUNTANT (INDIAN FEMALE). Over 3
Years Work Experience. Expertise in Taxation,Tally
ERP,MS Office,AR/AP. Having valid family residence
visa. Ready to join Immediate. Contact: 70189612,
Email: keerthykarthikeyan01@gmail.com

CHIEF ACCOUNTANT / Finance Manager / Assistant
Finance Manager. Indian male CMA | ASA (CPA) & MBA
Qualified finance professional with 14+ years of GCC
experience across Retail, F&B, Oil&Gas, Contracting,
Trading & Construction. Strong expertise in IFRS
financial statements, budgeting, cash flow, cost control,
VAT (Qatar/UAE/Bahrain & KSA), WPS payroll, audits,
ERP systems & multi-entity operations. Transferable visa
Contact: 55125840, Email: samuelzcma@gmail.com

HR, ADMIN PROFESSIONAL / MANAGER (Native
Arabic & Fluent English) with strong and different
experiences in HR Management, Recruitment, Employee
Relations, Administration, Public Relations and whole
Business Support and Service Management within all
local and global business sectors, expertise in Qatari
immigration and laws, can looking for new opportunity
and can join immediately with NOC. Contact No:
66988962, email: sidiq.ahmad@hotmail.com

SENIOR ACCOUNTANT / CHIEF ACCOUNTANT: Indian
Male with 13 years GCC experience MBA in AP, AR, GL,
BR, Financial Reporting, Cash Flow, Budgeting, Fixed
Asset. Proficient in 6 ERP softwares including SAP S/4
HANA. Immediate joining. Transferable QID with Qatar
DL. Email: hishamthangal63@gmail.com / Contact:
33938155.

CURRENTLY WORK AS AN HR AND ADMIN Coordinator
in Doha, where | handle documentation, calls emails and
CRM, excel and ensure compliance with Qatar Labour
Law. Before this, | use to work with Qatar Airways which
strengthened my communication, teamwork and
customer service skills. Overall i bring a strong
combination of HR coordination experience and people
management skills. Email: ayezal192@gmail.com /
Contact: 31122956.

PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANT & Internal Auditor.
Egyptian Accountant with 15+ years of experience in
accounting, financial reporting, cost control and financial
systems. Experience across industrial, commercial,
educational, contracting, real estate and agricultural
sectors. Available for full-time or part-time employment.
Contact: 70073084.

FILIPINA - FEMALE with 11 years of proven experience in
Qatar. Looking for Procurement Officer/Document
Controller/Admin/Accounts Asst/Technical Support In
Process Control Instrumentation. Knowledgeable in
Quick Books Software. Holds a valid Metro PIC Level 1
certificate. Having Qatar driving license. Available to join
in 1 month notice period. Transferable Visa. Mobile:
66985968, Email: maria.clores@yahoo.com

ADMIN/EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT MBA Marketing
Graduate (UK) with 9 years of diverse global experience
in the UK, India, and Qatar. Seeking Executive Assistant
or Admin Assistant roles. Proven expertise in high-level
coordination, office management, and strategic support.
Transferable visa with NOC. Contact: 33767107, email:
akshaypraveen71@gmail.com

BILINGUAL UNIVERSITY GRADUATE in Buss.Admin.
looking for a job in Acct., Proc. E Sales or HR. Good
background. Has a Driv. Lic. & NOC. Contact: 55313914,
email: tmwhasib@yahoo.com

A DETAIL-ORIENTED DOCUMENT Controller/Admin with
12 years of’ experience in Qatar. Proficient in ACONEX,
SharePoint, Ashghal CTS, Procore, and MS Office;
expert in version control and full document lifecycle
management. Email: shengcuizon@gmail.com /
77749279.

HR & ADMIN PROFESSIONAL - 15+ years experience in
Qatar. Proficientin recruitment,payroll,HR policies,employ
relation,onboard & offboarding, welfare & camp
management, compensation & benefits, Qatar laws.
Having a valid driving license & Transferable visa. Ready
to join immediately. Email: vijesh2006 @gmail.com /
Contact: 33546824.

PRO (MANDOUB) CUM LOGISTICS OFFICER and
banking works higher experience is seeking for job ready
to join with NOC. Mobile/WhatsApp: 50054971, email:
ibrahimovicnajjar@gmail.com

QA/QC ENGINEER / MULTI INSPECTOR (Welding/
Painting) - with 11+ years experience in steel structures
and pipeline in oil and gas sector. Contact: Mobile:
51021777, Email: rjkr63@gmail.com

ELECTRICAL & ELV DRAUGHTSMAN - more than 15
Years of experience in Qatar. Preparation of all kind of
detailed design electrical & ELV systems. Contact:
33888615, email: manojka000@gmail.com

ACCOUNTANT /ASSISTANT ACCOUNTANT, 6+ year's
experience in Accountant. Maintenance daily accounting
transaction, Petty cash, AP/AR, Bank Reconciliation,
Making monthly P&L. Tally ERP, MS Excel,. Contact:
77607457, Email: adilsageer5@gmail.com

ACCOUNTANT: (45 years old), Indian Male (Kerala),
M. Com. 20 years experience. Can handle all accounting
responsibilities : account finalisation & auditing, budget,
cashflow, bank facility, MIS report, WPS & Payroll,
Account Reconciliation, AR, AP. Valid RP, Visa
Transferable. Email - anishjiji26 @gmail.com / Contact:
31467127.

SAFETY OFFICER (HSE), Looking for a opportunity with
03+ year's of experience in construction with Strong
ability to deliver HSE trainings like safety induction,
toolbox talk (TBT). Having NEBOSH IGC, IOSH, OSHA,
degree from university, with Qatar Driving License can
join immediately with Transferable Visa-NOC. email:
mohammedabdulawaiz1999@gmail.com / Contact:
31260995.

MECHANICAL ENGINEER (GRADE A) with 14 years of
experience in HVAC, Firefighting & Plumbing (MEP)
systems in Qatar. Extensive experience in site execution,
testing & commissioning, and project handover for major
projects. Immediately available with transferable visa
and valid NOC. Open to new opportunities. Contact:
70714445 / Email: melebshihy @yahoo.com

ASSISTANT TEACHER. CLASS TEACHER, Subject
Teacher (Maths, Economics, English) with B/A
Economics education with over 6 years experience plus
special expertise, methodology of teaching. Dedicated to
child’s growth and expanding their knowledge whiles
making learning fun. Email (mr.pkayone@gmail.com) /
Contact (51042347).

CIVIL ENGINEER: Applying for the post of Sr.Site engineer
/ Site engineer i have totally 13 years of experience in
building construction with high rise building with villas
and museum for execution and supervision work on site
premises and ready to join immediately with valid QID
and NOC. Email: umairengineer234@gmail.com /
Contact: 70551403.

FINANCIAL CONTROLLER / Senior Accountant. Indian
male. MBA Finance, CPA (pursuing). 15 years experience
in Finance and HR, Across construction, retail, hospital
and consultancy sectors. Seeking suitable position in
Qatar. Email: riswanmpm@gmail.com / Contact:
55910135.
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The Qatar Stock Exchange  week with total traded value of QSE Index and Volume
(QSE) gained by 16045 QR294.5mn. 11600 300,000,000
points or 14% to close at Traded volume increased 21.3% : =N

11,515.81 for the week. Market
capitalisation increased 1.0%
to QR686.5bn from QR679.8bn
at the end of the previous trad-
ing week. Of the 54 companies
traded, 44 ended the week high-
er, nine ended lower and one

to 7045mn shares compared
with 580.9mn shares in the prior
trading week. The number of
transactions moved up by 10.5%
to 134,260 vs 121,531 in the prior
week. Baladna (BLDN was the top
volume stock traded during the

S
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Weekly Market

11,300
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+ 150,000,000
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Market Indices Close WTD%

remained unchanged. Widam week with total traded volume of Total Return 27,558.08 15 1.9 7.1

(WDAM) was the best performing  118.9mn shares. ALL Share Index 4.347.88 1.3 2.0 71 11,000 ; :

stock for the week, rising 15.3%. Foreign institutions remained e ’f"l’ Histanclat Sorvioes :'Z:Zi: ;: 2; :‘: 10-Feb 11-Feb 12-Feb

Meanwhile, Mosanada (MFMS)  bullish, ending the week with net ~ —p—>= s = (L 2 o \olume = QF Index

was the worst performing stock  buyingof QR737Imnvs net buying Real Estate 1,594.18 1.9 0.4 42

for the week, falling 4.9%. of QR2274mn in the prior week. Insurance 2,721.70 0.6 43 88 .

Qatar Islamic Bank (QIBK),  Qatari institutions remained bear- Lemroms — ;-::?;: ;; ;: :‘: Source: Qatar Stock Exchange (QSE)
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Technical analysis of the QSE index

after pausing its rally for the past two weeks, moved higher on the back of its
bullish momentum. Last week we mentioned the trend of the index remains on
the upside which manifested in this week’s movement. Any corrections can be used
for accumulation purposes to strengthen the position. We maintain our support level

The QE Index closed up by 1.4% to 11,515.81 from the week before. The Index,

SI (Relative Strength Index) indica-
Rtor - RSI is a momentum oscilla-
tor that measures the speed and
change of price movements. The RSI

oscillates between O to 100. The index is
deemed to be overbought once the RSI
approaches the 70 level, indicating that a
correction is likely. On the other hand, if

the RSI approaches 30, it is an indication
that the index may be getting oversold and
1 therefore likely to bounce back.

MACD (Moving Average Convergence Di-

Mar Jun
2

Har

vergence) indicator - The indicator consists

Source: Bloomberg
Source: Bloomberg

of the MACD line and a signal line. The diver-
gence or the convergence of the MACD line

at 10,500 points and our immediate resistance level to the 11,740 level.

Definitions of key terms
used in technical analysis

with the signal line indicates the strength in
the momentum during the uptrend or down-
trend, as the case may be. When the MACD
crosses the signal line from below and trades
above it, it gives a positive indication. The re-
verse is the situation for a bearish trend.
Candlestick chart - A candlestick chart
is a price chart that displays the high, low,
open, and close for a security. The ‘body’ of
the chart is portion between the open and
close price, while the high and low intraday
movements form the ‘shadow’. The candle-
stick may represent any time frame. We use a
one-day candlestick chart (every candlestick
represents one trading day) in our analysis.
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Chinese Al models festoon Spring
Festival a year after DeepSeek shock

Reuters
Beijing

As China prepares for Lunar New Year holidays
starting on Sunday, rivals to DeepSeek are
scrambling to release artificial-intelligence models
a year after it burst onto the scene with its game-
changing R1and V3 models.

With DeepSeek set to launch its next-generation
V4 model soon, according to tech news site The
Information, many other Chinese Al firms have
released or are preparing to launch their own
models in the hopes of stealing the spotlight — or
at least avoid being off-guard again during this
year’s Spring Festival.

Below are the companies and models looking to
make a Spring Festival splash.

DEEPSEEK: The Hangzhou-based startup’s V4
would replace last year’s V3 model, which pow-
ered the Al assistant app that overtook ChatGPT
to become the top-rated free application available
on Apple’s App Store in the US Investors and
industry insiders are also on the lookout for R2,
successor to the R1 model.

This week DeepSeek fuelled anticipation when

its web and mobile chatbot upgraded its “context
window” — the amount of information it can re-
member and handle in a single task, from 128,000
tol mn tokens, the unit of data processed by the
Al model.

This means the chatbot can now process book-
length passages of text to answer a single user
command.

BYTEDANCE: The makers of short-video platform
TikTok released the Doubao 2.0 chatbot, the
company said on Saturday. The new model is
capable of deep thinking and long, multi-step
task execution that matches the capabilities of US
rival OpenAl’s GPT 5.2 and Google’s Gemini 3 Pro,
Bytedance said.

Doubao is China’s most popular Al chatbot app,

in terms of weekly active users, according to data
published by Quest Mobile in December.
Thursday’s release of video-generation Al model
Seedance 2.0 has generated comparisons to
DeepSeek’s global rise, going viral on Chinese
social media and drawing widespread praise

on X, including from the platform’s owner, Elon
Musk. Seedance 2.0 can produce high-quality
cinematic videos based on a few prompts, or
even one.

The tech giant released picture-generation model
Seedream 5.0 Lite on Friday.

ALIBABA: Alibaba, the first Chinese firm to
respond to DeepSeek’s viral ascent last year, with

The makers of short-video platform TikTok released the Doubao 2.0 chatbot, the
company said on Saturday. The new model is capable of deep thinking and long,

multi-step task execution that matches the capabilities of US rival OpenAI’'s GPT

5.2 and Google’s Gemini 3 Pro, Bytedance said

Qwen 2.5-Makx, is preparing to launch Qwen 3.5.
The e-commerce giant’s Qwen app is riding a
wave of growing domestic usage after it spent
3bn yuan ($400mn) last week on a coupon
giveaway campaign to promote “agentic com-
merce”, where Al handles consumers’ online
shopping.

This drove more than 120mn consumer orders in
the six days through Wednesday, the company
said.

ZHIPU: Zhipu Al released its open-source GLM-5
model on Wednesday, with enhanced coding ca-
pabilities and the ability to perform long-running
agent tasks.

Zhipu is considered one of China’s “Al tigers” —
promising startups vying with the US to win the Al
race. Zhipu went public on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange last month, alongside rival MiniMax,
another Al tiger.

Both stocks have rallied strongly as investors
bet on the companies benefiting from China’s Al
boom. Zhipu plans a secondary listing in Shanghai,
a regulatory filing on Friday showed.

MINIMAX: MiniMax released its M2.5 open-
source model on its overseas agent website on
Wednesday. The company’s Hong Kong listing
raised HK$4.8bn ($620mn), higher than Zhipu’s
$558mn.

Shanghai-based MiniMax has developed popular

apps like Hailuo Al, a video generation tool, and
Talkie, a character interaction app that enables us-
ers to engage with Al-powered virtual personas.
TENCENT: Tencent’s Hunyuan team on Tuesday
released a low-storage, compressed Al model,
HY-1.8B-2Bit, designed to be used on consumer
hardware including mobile phones.

IFLYTEK: iFlytek on Wednesday released Spark
X2, trained entirely on Chinese-made chips. The
company said the upgrade focuses on practi-

cal deployment in sectors including education,
healthcare, automotive and agent-based applica-
tions.

NETEASE YOUDAO: NetEase Youdao on Wednes-
day launched LobsterAl, a desktop-level personal
assistant agent that can perform tasks such as
information retrieval, scheduling and data analysis
by executing workflows locally on a user’s compu-
ter after authorisation.

The product supports mobile and PC connec-
tions and allows remote interaction via enterprise
apps popular among Chinese companies such as
DingTalk and Feishu.

DEXMAL: Embodied-intelligence startup Dexmal
on Tuesday unveiled DMO, an Al model designed
for robot-related scenarios. DMO integrates multi-
modal internet data with driving, navigation and
robotic operation data, and was trained across
multiple robot platforms.

Favourable terms key to US
deals, says India LNG importer

Bloomberg
New Delhi

India will need favorable terms to en-
ter into long-term liquefied natural
gas purchase deals with the US as
the market is highly price sensitive,
according to the chief executive
officer of the country’s top LNG
importer.

“India is looking to source energy at
the most competitive and affordable
price for consumers,” Petronet LNG
Ltd’s Akshay Kumar Singh said. “No
one is saying you buy at any cost.”
The comments comes as US President
Donald Trump’s administration pushes
New Delhi to ramp up energy pur-
chases — including crude oil, liquefied
petroleum gas, LNG and coking coal

— as part of an interim trade deal that
seeks to boost American exports to
about $500bn.

The US was India’s third-largest LNG
supplier last year — behind Qatar and
the United Arab Emirates — account-
ing for 12% of total imports of 25mn
tons, according to Kpler data. India’s
overall buying could jump fourfold as

the South Asian nation aims to lift the
share of gas in its energy mix to 15%
from 6% by the end of the decade.
For countries such as the US and Qa-
tar, that would open up an important
market, particularly as new lique-
faction plants start operations and
production increases. However, higher
freight and logistics risks make US
LNG less attractive for Indian buyers.
Rigid long-term take-or-pay contract
structures add to buyers’ discomfort.
Long-term LNG deals aren’t just about
settling at a price, but include clauses
such as penalties to be paid if buyers
fail to lift agreed volumes, Singh said.
Most of the US supply deals are linked
to Henry Hub, the benchmark for
natural gas prices, that can swing
sharply due to weather and storage
levels in the domestic market. Indian
buyers favor Brent-linked contracts as
those prices are generally less volatile.
Last month, a US delegation met with
Indian energy companies on the side-
lines of the India Energy Week confer-
ence in Goa to explore opportunities
for long-term contracts for US crude
oil and LNG, according to a statement
by the US embassy.

Gas-hungry Europe may getrare LNG
shipment reloaded from China

Bloomberg
Singapore

A liquefied natural gas shipment reload-
ed from China — the world’s top buyer
of the fuel — is heading to Europe, a rare
move that highlights the continent’s
push to refill dwindling inventories.

The Seapeak Glasgow tanker loaded

a cargo from the Zhejiang Ningbo ter-
minal in late January and was headed
south toward Singapore, signaling
Europe as its next destination, accord-
ing to ship-tracking data compiled by
Bloomberg. Vessel tracking firm Kpler
also showed the ship heading to the
continent.

If delivered, it would mark the first time
reloaded LNG from China has been sent

Bloomberg QuickTake Q&A

to Europe in four years. Europe’s LNG
imports have surged to a seasonal high
this year, as the region is turning to the
seaborne fuel to replace a drop in Rus-
sian pipeline deliveries after the 2022
invasion of Ukraine.

Itisn’t guaranteed that Seapeak Glas-
gow will offload the fuel in Europe, as it
is common for ships to change course
or be resold to other buyers.

While China is the largest LNG importer,
its demand has lagged over the last
year as the nation’s end-users turn to
cheaper alternatives. Chinese import-
ers have maintained high inventories
through winter, and have opted to resell
shipments from their terminals to other
Asian nations.

China’s CNOOC Ltd has sold shipments
for reloading over the past few weeks.

Why Chinais retreating further from US Treasuries

By Tian Chen

It’s the biggest pile of debt in the world — the
$30tn US Treasuries market. It’s been built
with the help of foreign central banks and
investors, who have clamored to buy US gov-
ernment bonds through good times and bad.

But what happens if their
appetite wanes?

China’s government has been steadily
trimming its holdings over the past decade.
While it’s still one of the biggest foreign
owners of US Treasuries, its stockpile has
almost halved since reaching a peak in 2013,
dropping to $683bn in November, the lowest
since 2008.

Now, Beijing has urged Chinese banks to
scale back their private holdings. Cutting
those positions would reduce China’s reliance
on the US — bolstering financial and national
security, especially in times of tensions. But
an overly rapid selloff in Treasuries might
send the yuan higher and undermine China’s
powerful export engine.

What prompted Beijing’s
guidance on US Treasuries?

Chinese officials have framed the move as an
effort to help banks generally reduce concen-
tration risk and limit their exposure to market
volatility. But the broader context points to
Beijing’s strategic goal: reducing the country’s
reliance on US assets as tensions persist over
trade relations, technology and Taiwan.
Policymakers are mindful of the precedent
setin 2022, when the US and its allies froze
about $300bn of Russia’s central bank
reserves after the invasion of Ukraine. The
worry is that if tensions were to escalate, the
US could — in an extreme scenario — restrict

China's US Treasury Stockpile the Smallest Since 2008
China has been cutting its holdings of US government bonds for a decade

access to China’s state and privately held dol-
lar assets in a similar fashion.

Are there disadvantages for
China?

China’s government has been building its
gold stockpile for a decade and sharply ac-
celerated purchases in 2025, making it one of
the world’s largest official holders. But beyond
bullion, China has few viable alternatives for
investing its roughly $3.4tn in foreign-curren-
cy reserves — the world’s largest stash — and
its domestic banks face the same problem.
Other sovereign bond markets, for exam-

ple those in Europe and Japan, are sizable
but lack the depth and liquidity of the US
Treasury market. And because countries
such as Germany, France and Japan are US
allies, it’s possible they would coordinate with
Washington and impose similar sanctions if
the US were to freeze China’s holdings. Other
markets, such as equities or real estate, are
either too risky or insufficiently liquid.

There are also potential repercussions for
China’s economy and balance sheet. A rapid,
large-scale selloff would likely push Treasury
prices down and US yields up, which could in
turn weigh on the US dollar. A weaker dollar
would make US exports more competitive
and in turn dampen demand for Chinese
goods — especially on top of tariffs imposed
by US President Donald Trump. A falling
dollar would also reduce the value of China’s
remaining dollar-denominated assets.

Finally, an overt move away from Treasuries
could invite retaliation from the US, undercut-
ting the financial stability China wants to
preserve.

Are thererepercussions for the
Us?

The initial dip in Treasury prices that followed

/7 China's holdings of Treasury Securities
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Beijing’s call to curb banks” holdings was brief,
suggesting investors see limited repercus-
sions for the market and are not expecting a
sharp deterioration in China-US relations as
aresult.

A more aggressive shift, however, could prove
problematic. If China were to stop purchases
altogether — or in an extreme scenario sold

a large number of Treasuries — it would

push bond prices lower and yields higher.
That would mean increased borrowing costs
across the US economy, including mortgage
rates, corporate loans and government
financing.

Such a selloff could also prompt other
countries to follow suit, potentially denting
the dollar’s status as a global haven. That said,

@ China's off
Billion dollars
1,400

2021

Bloomberg

billion dollars)

lars into yuan through the banking system,
many exporters choose to keep their dollar
earnings offshore and invest them in foreign
securities, paying workers from their yuan
revenues instead, because it’s more finan-
cially advantageous.

For the central bank, holding a large reserve
of Treasuries also serves a strategic purpose.
It gives the People’s Bank of China firing
power in a crisis, allowing it to support the
yuan and stabilize local markets by selling
their reserves when needed, just as it did in
the aftermath of a shock devaluation in 2015.

Are other countries or
institutions selling their US
Treasuries?

1,000

Bloomberg

Denmark’s AkademikerPension — a $25bn
pension fund — said in January after US
President Donald Trump threatened to ac-
quire Greenland that it would sell the roughly
$100mn of Treasuries it held. Dutch pension
fund Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP says it’s re-
duced its exposure to US government bonds,
cutting holdings by roughly €10bn to €19bn

in the six months through September.

an outright dumping of Treasuries is widely
viewed as unlikely.

Outside Europe, India’s holdings have fallen
to a five-year low as authorities have acted to

support the rupee and diversify its reserves.

Why does China hold so much
US debt in thefirst place?

China’s massive stockpile of US debt isn’'t
simply an investment choice. It is largely a
byproduct of its export-led economy. Due to
the low cost of its products, the Asian nation
has for decades sold far more goods to the
US — such as toys, apparel and electronics
— than it has bought. Those trade surpluses
have generated a steady inflow of dollars.
Chinese exporters can’t use dollars directly
to pay wages or expand their businesses at
home. While they can, in theory, convert dol-

ial holdings of gold

2022

Source: The People's Bank of Ch

Brazil has also reduced its long-term Treasury
holdings.

Meanwhile, Japan, the UK and Canada each
increased their holdings of Treasuries over
the year through November 2025, according
to official data.

Overall, foreign holdings of Treasuries hit a
record $9.4tn in November, but foreign inves-
tors now account for a smaller share of the
total debt market than they have previously,
reflecting the rapid growth of US government
borrowing. Overseas investors now hold
about 31% of Treasuries, down from roughly
50% at the beginning of 2015.

China's Gold Reserves Have Grown in Recent Years
Move comes as global investors diversify away from dollar assets

Billion dollars

Bloomberg
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Wagers on Fed rate cuts seal Treasuries’ best week in months

Bloomberg
Washington

agers that slowing inflation will

s N ; allow the Federal Reserve to cut

interest rates at least twice this

year drove Treasury yields to their lowest

levels of the year, adding to the biggest
weekly gain in months.

Yields across maturities declined by
at least three basis points on Friday, led
by shorter-maturity tenors that are most
sensitive to Fed rate changes. The two-
year note’s fell as much as six basis points
to about 3.4%, the lowest since October
and its lowest closing level since 2022.
Longer-maturity yields also reached
year-to-date lows.

On the week, the bond market over-
came stronger-than-anticipated em-
ployment data, released Wednesday, that
prompted traders to flee wagers on a Fed
rate cut before mid-year and Wall Street
banks to abandon forecasts for a move in
March. By June, the central bank may be

Stellantis restores diesel

led by former Fed Governor Kevin Warsh,
US President Donald Trump'’s pick to suc-
ceed Jerome Powell and an advocate of
cutting rates.

The weekly move — in which five- to
30-year yields declined by about 15 basis
points — was aided by haven buying of
Treasuries amid volatility in stocks, com-
modities and cryptocurrencies. An auc-
tion of new 30-year bonds on Thursday
drew historically strong demand.

“The labor market is in the driver’s seat
for Fed policy, but they’re anxiously hop-
ing that inflation continues to moderate,
and this report is positive in that respect,’
said Tim Musial, head of fixed income at
CIBC Private Wealth Group. In the mean-
time, “the Treasury market is going to take
cues from risk markets.”

The consumer price index rose less than
estimated in January, potentially allaying
the concerns of some Fed policymakers
that inflation remains too high to cut rates
further in response to signs of weakness in
the job market.

Traders reacted by pricing in roughly 63

basis points of easing by year-end — equiv-
alent to two quarter-point cuts and about
half of a third — up from 58 basis points on
Thursday. They continued to fully priceina
Fed rate cut in July, as well as a strong like-
lihood of a move in June. Policymakers left
rates unchanged in January following three
cuts at the end of 2025.

The CPI data “was pretty encourag-
ing under the surface,” Tiffany Wilding,
economist at Pacific Investment Manage-
ment Co, said on Bloomberg Television.
“You should have a Federal Reserve that
feels more comfortable cutting interest
rates. Getting a couple more cuts in this
year seems reasonable.”

The consumer price index rose 0.2% in
January, the smallest gain since July, Fri-
day’s data showed. The core CPI, which
excludes food and energy, increased 0.3%
as expected. While the annual rates slowed
from December, Chicago Fed President
Austan Goolsbee said services inflation in
particular remains too high, warranting
caution on rate cuts.

At the same time, Treasuries “have also

benefited from some of the risk-off cross-
asset moves over the past few weeks,’
said Molly Brooks, US rates strategist at
TD Securities. The 10-year tumbled from
as high as 4.25% at one point Monday to
briefly trade below 4.05% on Friday, its
lowest since early December.

The S&P 500 Index, which reached
record levels last month, has fallen nine
of the past 12 sessions. Consumer dis-
cretionary and technology companies led
the declines, which reflect anxiety about
inflated valuations tied to artificial intel-
ligence usage.

“Easing inflation and limited supply ahead
will extend the constructive tone in Treasur-
ies. The soft CPI reading is supporting the
front-end and reinvigorating a Goldilocks
scenario for bonds right now even if inflation
shows up later this year;’ says Alyce Andres,
Macro Strategist, Markets Live.

The 30-year bond auction was awarded
at 4.75%, about two basis points lower
than its yield in pre-auction trading, an
indication that investors were willing to
accept a return lower than dealers ex-

pected. Also, investors won the more than
94% of the issue, leaving the so-called
primary dealers that are required to par-
ticipate a record low 5.9% share.

The results suggested that Treasury in-
vestors have confidence that yields won’t
resume rising, even as concern about
frayed alliances and large US deficits have
weakened the value of the dollar. Next
week’s auctions include 20-year bonds
on Wednesday and 30-year Treasury in-
flation-protected securities on Thursday.

The positive reaction to the inflation
data was limited by the prospect on con-
tinued improvement in the labor market
that alleviates the need for additional Fed
rate cuts, said Jonathan Cohn, head of US
rates desk strategy at Nomura Securities
International Inc.

“Tt reaffirms that the presumed sensi-
tivity for the Fed remains on the employ-
ment side of the mandate” Cohn said.
“I think a good bit of the repricing we’ve
seen this week is in response to softening
risk sentiment as opposed to the econom-
ic data we’ve received”

Wall Street investors

cars across Europe
amid EV retreat

Reuters
Paris

iat-to-Jeep owner Stellantis
F is quietly restoring diesel ver-

sions of at least seven car and
passenger van models across Europe
as it retreats from electric vehicles,
according to a review of dealer web-
sites and company statements to
Reuters.

In a previously unreported stra-
tegic shift, world No 4 automaker
Stellantis began in late 2025 to re-
introduce diesel versions in Europe
for models ranging from various
passenger vans to the Peugeot 308
and premium DS No 4 hatchback.

EV sales have lagged expecta-
tions, and the shift comes as Europe
waters down emissions targets that
would allow combustion engines to
stay around for longer.

The United States, Stellantis’
main market, is also retreating
from EVs under President Donald
Trump, whose administration this
week repealed a scientific finding
that greenhouse gas emissions en-
danger human health, eliminating
car and truck tailpipe emissions
standards.

“We have decided to keep die-
sel engines in our product portfolio
and - in some cases - to increase our
powertrain offer,” the company told
Reuters in a response to the news
agency’s findings.

“At Stellantis we want to generate
growth, that’s why we are focused
on customer demand.”

As recently as 2015, diesel vehi-
cles made up at least 50% of new
car sales in Europe but they have
been declining since the ‘Dieselgate’
scandal that year, when some of
the world’s largest carmakers were
found to have manipulated emis-
sions tests.

According to data from European
car lobby group ACEA, diesel vehi-
cles made up just 7.7% of new car
sales across the continent in 2025,
while fully electric cars accounted
for 19.5%.

Many automakers have shelved
diesels altogether, while Stellantis
itself offers only a handful of models
versus dozens just five years ago.

But crucially, it is a segment

where rising Chinese rivals special-
ising in EVs do not compete. Diesels
also carry a much lower price tag
than fully electric models - giving
them a competitive advantage at a
time when carmakers are struggling.
Stellantis last week announced
22.2bn euros ($26.4bn) in charges
as it scales back its EV ambitions,
sending its shares to their low-
est since the group’s 2021 creation
through the merger of Fiat Chrysler
and Peugeot maker PSA.

The company previously said
fully electric cars should make up
100% of its European sales and 50%
of US sales by 2030, but demand in
both markets has fallen short of ex-
pectations.

Stellantis has already brought
back popular combustion-engine
models like the Jeep Cherokee and
its powerful ‘Hemi’ eight-cylinder
engine as part of its strategy to re-
gain US market share. Last year it
added a petrol hybrid version of
the Fiat 500 alongside an electric
version.

In Europe - where the company’s
sales fell 3.9% in 2025 and 7.3% in
2024 - diesel versions of the Opel
Astra, Opel Combo van, the seven-
seater SUV Peugeot Rifter, the Cit-
roén Berlingo passenger van and
others are being brought back, Reu-
ters found.

It will also continue producing
diesel-powered models like the pre-
mium DS7 SUV, and the Tonale and
Stelvio SUVs and Giulia sedan from
Alfa Romeo “in response to sus-
tained customer demand”, the com-
pany said.

Data from online marketplace
CarGurus shows total new diesel
models in the UK have also fallen, to
57 in 2025 from 167 in 2020. Collec-
tively, the brands Stellantis sells in
Britain, for example, offer just four
diesel models today, down from 26
in 2020.

“If you look at the direction of
travel when it comes to diesel, Stel-
lantis now seems to be bucking the
trend,” said Chris Knapman, Car-
Gurus’ UK editorial director.

Knapman said diesel still makes
sense for car buyers that need to
drive long distances without refu-
elling or who need more power to
tow trailers.

will be on guard

further volatilit

Al disruption fears hit
industries, investors eye
nextshoe to drop; Walmart
earnings in focus after
retailer tops $1tn in market
cap; economic data due
include PCE inflation gauge,
Q4 GDP

Reuters
New York

S stock investors will be

l | on guard next week for

further volatility induced

by fears of artificial intelligence

disruption as they also assess the

durability of a rotation beneath

the market’s surface, along with

upcoming earnings from Wal-
mart and fresh economic data.

The benchmark S&P 500
closed on Thursday down 0.2%
for the year, but that modest
change belies significant swings
in pockets of the market.

After sinking shares of soft-
ware companies this month,
fears that new AI tools will dis-
rupt various industries, includ-
ing insurance, wealth man-
agement and transportation,
slammed stocks this week.

“It’s all this whack-a-mole
game of trying to figure out what
Al is going to destroy next in a
world where you can invent a
narrative, because this technol-
ogy is so new that artificial intel -
ligence is likely going to end up
eating the whole world,” said Art
Hogan, chief market strategist at
B Riley Wealth.

“That’s probably not the case,
but that’s where we are right now
in that sentiment.” The swoons
for various industries to start
2026 contrast with much of last
year, when optimism over AI-
driven profits and capital spend-
ing helped drive a broad swath of
stocks higher.
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Traders work on the floor of the New York Stock Exchange. US stock investors will be on guard next week
for further volatility induced by fears of artificial intelligence disruption as they also assess the durability of a
rotation beneath the market’s surface, along with upcoming earnings from Walmart and fresh economic data.

AI winner and loser moves in
single stocks “are getting more
and more extreme,” Jonathan
Krinsky, BTIG’s chief market
technician, said in a note on
Thursday morning.

“At a certain point ... we begin
getting concerned that the weak-
ness supersedes the strength and
the broad market becomes vul-
nerable,” Krinsky said.

Pressure from AI has also
contributed to declines for the
heavyweight technology sector,
which has mostly led the gains
for the bull market that began in
October 2022, but was last down
over 4% this year.

Broadening gains have helped
offset tech’s troubles, with in-
vestors moving into groups that
have lagged. Four sectors are up
at least 10% in 2026 - energy,

consumer staples, materials and
industrials - while small-cap
stocks have also posted outsized
increases.

“We're starting to get an em-
bedded leadership shift that’s
undeniable at this point,” said
Mark Hackett, chief market
strategist at Nationwide. “This
shift is now getting embedded
into the psychology of investors.”

Tech retains a major pres-
ence in U.S. indexes, including a
one-third weighting in the S&P
500. Even if tech weakness drags
down the market barometers, in-
vestors have said wider partici-
pation in equity gains bodes well
for the market’s health.

“It’s been really difficult to
make those new all-time highs
because of the absence of tech
leadership,” said Kevin Gordon,

head of macroresearch and strat -
egy at Charles Schwab. “But this
is not necessarily a bad thing.”

Walmart’s quarterly results
headline the batch of corporate
earnings reports due in the com-
ing week as the fourth-quarter
reporting season winds down.
The retailing bellwether offers
Wall Street a view into consumer
spending trends after data this
week showed US retail sales were
unexpectedly unchanged in De-
cember. Other retailers will fol-
low with their reports over the
next few weeks, including Home
Depot, Lowe’s and Target.

With its stock up 20% this year,
Walmart recently pushed its mar-
ket capitalisation above $1tn. It is
by far the biggest company by mar-
ket value in the consumer staples
sector, which is up 15% in 2026.

High-conviction bets turn toxic in week of Wall Street reversals

Bloomberg
New York

Wall Street entered 2026 all-in —
record-low cash, minimal hedging,
maximum conviction. Six weeks
later, a slew of consensus trades
are misfiring.

Al was supposed to be the can't-
miss trade. Instead, it became the
threat — not to the companies
building it, but to the asset-light
businesses it could replace.
Software firms, wealth managers,
brokers, tax advisers — across
the white-collar world, a decade
of margin expansion repriced

in weeks, sending shock waves
through private debt markets
loaded with loans to the same
companies.

This week crystallised the damage.
The S&P 500 headed for its worst
stretch since November before
Friday’s rebound on a benign
inflation print, with Al disruption
fears cascading through markets
of all stripes.

But the pain didn't stop at stocks.
Gold whipsawed, briefly dipping
below $5,000 on Thursday before

recovering to end the week higher.
Silver swung 11% in a single session.
Bitcoin, still nearly half off its October
high, briefly sank below $66,000.
Even in credit, the consensus bet
broke down: Junk bonds, while
roughly flat, lagged investment
grade by the widest margin in
months. Across asset classes, the
favored trades are losing to the
unfavoured ones — fast.

Two forces are making it worse.
One is positioning. Bank of
America Corp’s January investor
survey found cash at a record
low of 3.2%, with nearly half of
managers holding no downside
protection, the least since 2018.
The other is the web of leverage
linking seemingly unrelated
portfolios, where a liquidation in
one corner fuels selling in another.
The trades nobody wanted —
energy, staples, Treasuries — are
leading the year. The favourites
are trailing the underdogs. The
consensus coming into 2026 has
gone wrong in six weeks flat. The
crowding that caused it is putting
portfolio managers on high alert.
“The big risk here is additional
vol-shock type episodes,” said

Demand for Hedging
Tradi in be

James Athey, a portfolio manager
at Marlborough Investment
Management. “Everything looks
highly correlated and thus selling
in one asset can force selling
across the others.”

Years of stable asset relationships
have emboldened money
managers to double down on their
positions. According to a model
designed by Jordi Visser at 22V

Bloomberg

Research, market co-movements
are surging even as the Cboe
Volatility Index, or VIX, remains
subdued and the S&P 500 holds
above its 50-day average — a
combination he reads as market
stress hiding beneath a calm
surface. In the past two years or
S0, such stress signals fired up
about once every month. Fewer
than two months into this year,

there have been a dozen. Angst
resurfaced this week as the threat
of Al disruptions claimed new
causalities in the stock market
almost daily. The VIX surpassed the
widely watched level of 20. While
the reading showed no signs of
panic, the market demonstrated a
clear desire for safety — hitting the
risk-on crowd.

An ETF tracking investment-grade
bonds (LQD) had its best week
since October relative to its high-
yield counterpart (HYG), extending
its lead for the year. That’s bad
news for fund managers, who
according to BofA’s survey, were
favoring riskier debt for the first
time in four years.

Rather than languishing, Treasuries
have climbed as demand for
havens grew — first on geopolitical
jitters, then on Friday’s softer-than-
expected inflation data, which
prompted traders to ratchet up
wagers on interest-rate cuts. The
iShares 20+ Year Treasury Bond
ETF (TLT) ended the week with its
best rally since April.

By contrast, stocks fell for the
fourth week in five even as
corporate earnings continued to

beat analysts’ estimates. An S&P
500-tracking ETF (SPY) has lagged
TLT by 2 percentage points since
December, the worst start to a year
in a decade.

One force upending the long-
stocks, short-bonds trade is Al itself.
Investors who cheered massive
capital spending by tech giants are
now questioning the payoff timeline
— and whether the cash left over
can still fund buybacks. Al will
almost certainly boost productivity
over time. Whether that’s good

for stocks right now is another
question entirely.

“Over the last several months, Al
has been hurting more stocks than
it’s helping,” said Adam Crisafulli,
co-founder at Vital Knowledge.

For now, big moves have yet to
morph into sustained market
meltdowns. The S&P 500 still
hovers near an all-time high and
credit spreads are stuck near
decade lows. Yet Thursday’s
violent swings in gold and silver —
triggered by no obvious catalyst
other than stock weakness —
hinted at how quickly turbulence
can jump between asset classes
when positioning is this crowded.



Sunday, February 15, 2026

GULF @ TIMES

BUSINESS

WEEKLY ENERGY MARKET REVIEW

www.abhafoundation.org

Oil

Oil prices settled marginally higher
on Friday after data showed an
overall slowdown in US inflation,
helping offset supply concerns

as Opect is leaning towards a
resumption in production increases.
Brent crude futures settled at $67.75,
and US West Texas Intermediate
crude (WTI) finished at $62.89. For
the week, Brent fell 0.4%, while

WTI fell 1.0%. US consumer prices
increased less than expected in
January amid cheaper gasoline
prices and a moderation in

rental inflation. Reuters reported
that Opec is leaning towards a
resumption in oil output increases
from April, ahead of upcoming peak
summer fuel demand. Oil prices
rose earlier in the week on fears the
US could attack Iran over its nuclear
programme, but fell after President
Donald Trump said a deal with
Tehran could be reached within a
month.

Gas
Asia spot liquefied natural gas fell
last week, amid a drop in Japanese

Oilrises on US inflation optimism despite Opec supply concern

Small cargo ship next to an LNG tanker on the Tagus River off Lisbon.
Asia spot liquefied natural gas fell last week, amid a drop in Japanese
inventories, while overall demand remains weak ahead of the Lunar New
Year holiday. Picture supplied by the Abdullah bin Hamad Al-Attiyah
International Foundation for Energy and Sustainable Development.

inventories, while overall demand
remains weak ahead of the Lunar
New Year holiday.

The average LNG price for
March delivery into north-east
Asia was $10.65 per million
British thermal units (mmBtu),
down from $11.70 per mmBtu

the week before. Amid weak
economic data from China and
the approaching Lunar New
Year, portfolio managers lacked
strong reasons to make market
moves.

In Europe, the Dutch TTF gas
price settled at $11.30 per
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mmBtu on Friday, posting a
weekly loss of 6.4%, ahead
of a drop in temperatures
over the weekend. Still, with
EU gas storage at seasonally

low levels, demand is likely to
stay firm through summer, as

Northwest Europe cannot afford

a cold March that could drive
inventories to critical levels.

W This article was supplied by
the Abdullah bin Hamad
Al-Attiyah International
Foundation for Energy and
Sustainable Development.

QNB predicts significant
economic gains from
Mercosur-EU trade deal

QNA
Doha

NB expects the trade agreement be-
tween the Southern Common Mar-
ket (Mercosur) and the European
Unio yield significant economic gains
for both sides, while also strengthening ini-
tiatives aimed at countering protectionism.

In its weekly commentary, QNB said,
“Last year, the global economic outlook
was marked by a sharp escalation of geopo-
litical uncertainty and major policy shocks.
In April, the US administration under Pres-
ident Trump abruptly announced sweeping
tariffs, centred on a 10% baseline levy on
imports, with even higher rates on selected
countries. This represented a massive neg-
ative shock for trade, as the US accounts for
26% of the global economy, and was previ-
ously predominantly open to trade with an
average tariff rate of less than 2%.

As aresult, the outlook for international
trade, as well as for the global economy,
began to deteriorate sharply, on fears of the
impact of massive supply-chain disrup-
tions and potentially escalating trade wars.
Similar worries resurfaced this year as the
US continued to signal the use of tariffs as
an “economic weapon” to achieve broader
foreign policy objectives.

“However, rising US protectionism did
not trigger widespread tariff wars as was ini-
tially feared. In fact, even as the US increased
the burden for its trade partners, and against
a backdrop of trade fragmentation, the rest
of the world has continued to move towards
deeper integration. Most major economies
continue to view trade as essential to their
growth models and are actively pursuing
deeper integration via new or deeper trade
agreements. “Previously delayed trade ne-
gotiations have regained momentum, as
countries seek further diversification of
their partners to mitigate the fallout of US
protectionism. Among these initiatives, the
European Union-Mercosur trade deal re-
turned to the centre stage, after 25 years of
arduous negotiations.

Despite large potential gains, the dealhad
been delayed over resistance to the Mer-
cosur’s agricultural market access to the
EU, and environmental governance in the
South American bloc. However, the balance
of strategic priorities has shifted, as grow-
ing geopolitical fragmentation and trade
risks have increased pressure on the EU to
accelerate trade integration. “European
Commission President Ursula von der Ley-
en finally signed the agreement last month
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with the South American Mercosur bloc,
encompassing Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay,
and Uruguay. The deal could create one of
the largest free trade areas in the world,
with 31 countries, 721mn people, and close
to 21% of global GDP. However, the deal
still faces obstacles, with a narrow major-
ity in the Parliament referring the agree-
ment to the EU Court of Justice (EUC]). The
EUC] could take up to 2 years to determine
whether it is compatible with European
law. In the meantime, the European Com-
mission can implement a provisional appli-
cation of the treaty, until hurdles for the full
implementation are passed.

“Despite the expected resistance, the
potential economic gains are consider-
able. The agreement provides for the gradual
elimination of tariffs on around 92% of bi-
lateral trade. Transition periods extend up
to 15 years for the most sensitive products.
Nevertheless, progress on this landmark ac-
cord would be an encouraging sign. Even as
the world adjusts to a more protectionist US,
the outlook on trade policy across the world
is being mitigated by non-US initiatives.”

The bank pointed out, “First, prospec-
tive gains in trade volumes are significant,
especially for the smaller and relatively
less trade-integrated Mercosur. Total bi-
lateral trade in goods and services is close
to EURI153bn per year, which represents less
than 1% of total combined GDP. In compar -
ison, thisis only a fraction of the 3.5% figure
for bilateral trade in goods and services be-
tween the US and the EU, indicating a large
margin for increasing bilateral flows.

“For Mercosur, the agreement offers im-
proved access to one of the world’s largest
and highest-income markets. The phased
elimination of tariffs on the vast majority
of exports to the EU is expected to support
agricultural and agri-industrial exports,
as well as export diversification towards

manufacturing. For the EU, the deal will
expand access to a large South American
market with over 271mn consumers, low-
ering trade costs for industrial goods, ma-
chinery, chemicals, and services, while pro-
viding improved access to valuable natural
resources. Additionally, it is considered an
important geopolitical win, in times of
stern competition with China and the US.

“Second, the agreement will lead to larg-
er investment flows and therefore growth,
particularly for the less-developed Merco-
sur. EU firms already account for roughly
35-45% of the total FDI stock in Merco-
sur, making the EU the largest investor
bloc. The total is equivalent to more than
EUR390bn, with strong exposure to manu-
facturing, energy, and financial services.

The new agreement will provide im-
proved market access and legal certainty,
supporting additional greenfield invest-
ments. In areasonable scenario, the EU FDI
stock could grow by 10-20% over the next
10 years, which could generate a boost to
GDP of over 0.6%. For the EU, Mercosur
countries hold significant potential in re-
newable energies and critical raw materi-
als, creating opportunities aligned with the
EU’s industrial strategies.

QNB concluded, “All in all, the Mer-
cosur-EU trade agreement offers signifi-
cant potential economic gains, as well
as adds to the initiatives challenging the
narrative of increased protectionism.
GDP gains, backed by trade and invest-
ment flows, are expected to be under-
standably larger for the less-developed
Mercosur. The EU stands to gain through
improved market access for its compa-
nies, investment opportunities in high-
growth sectors, and enhanced diversi-
fication of supply chains, particularly
in areas related to energy transition and
critical raw materials.”
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) Doha Chapter recently conducted
its flagship event, bringing together over 150 members for a thought-provoking
professional session followed by the 44th Annual General Meeting 2026'.

ICAI Doha holds AGM,
elects new committee

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India (ICAI) Doha Chapter recently con-
ducted its flagship event, bringing together
over 150 members for a thought-provoking
professional session followed by the 44th
Annual General Meeting 2026’

The technical session was themed ‘Be-
yond Numbers: Future-Ready CA, reflecting
the evolving role of chartered accountants
in a dynamic global landscape. The event
was graced by chief guest Suresh Prabhu,
India’s former Minister of Commerce &
Industry, and keynote speaker Aniket Talati,
former ICAI president. Both speakers shared
valuable insights on the future of the profes-
sion and the need for adaptability, leader-
ship, and innovation.

The AGM marked the successful comple-
tion of the 2025 term of the ICAI Doha Chap-
ter under the exemplary leadership of ICAI
Doha Chapter outgoing chairperson Kishore
Alex. The Annual Activity Report was pre-
sented during the AGM, and the accounts for
the year were adopted, reflecting a year of
impactful initiatives, strong collaborations,
and unwavering support from the chapter’s
members.

The Chief Election officer and Immedi-
ate Past chairperson, Kamlesh Tibrewal,
announced the newly elected Managing
Committee for the term 2026-2027: Arun
Somanath (chairperson), Dewaki Nandan
Tibrewal (vice chairperson), Rakesh Bahety
(secretary), Rajesh Singh (treasurer), and
executive members Aswathy Nandan, Man-

ish Kumar, Dinesh Babu, and Dhaval Shah.
In another milestone, the ICAI Doha Chapter
was awarded the Gold Shield for ‘Best
Overseas Chapter Award - 2025 (Category II:
100-500 Members)’ by the ICAI. The award
was received by the Doha Chapter’s ExCom
team from Arjun Ram Meghwal, Honourable
Minister of Law & Justice, at the ICAl Annual
Function held recently at the India Expo
Centre and Mart Limited (IEML), Greater
Noida, during the World Forum of Account-
ants (WOFA).

The award stands as a significant recogni-
tion of the chapter’s consistent excellence
and commitment to professional develop-
ment and acknowledges the chapter’s high-
quality technical programmes, impactful
member engagement, strong governance
practices, and sustained contribution to the
global CA fraternity.

The prestigious honour reflects the
collective efforts of the chapter’s leader-
ship, Executive Committee, volunteers, past
chairpersons, and members, whose dedica-
tion and teamwork have positioned ICAI
Doha Chapter as one of the leading overseas
chapters worldwide.

Speaking on the achievement, Alex
emphasised that the award “truly belongs to
every member,” and reiterated his belief that
“together, nothing is impossible.”

Members of the ICAI residing in Qatar and
aspiring to join the ICAl Doha Chapter may
contact Arun Somanath at 5506 0695 for
further information.

Al fears weigh on call centre operator’s $600mn bond sale

Bloomberg
New York

C oncentrix Corp, a US firm that pro-
vides outsourced customer service
and call-centre operations for oth-
er companies, paid a hefty price this week
to refinance debt amid fears that artificial
intelligence will undermine its business.
The company, which has two credit rat -
ings on the cusp of junk, sold $600mn
of bonds on Thursday. To sell the bonds,
it had to add provisions to its bonds that
would force it to pay more interest if it
facesrating downgrades — a condition not
found in its outstanding bonds.
Concentrix also had to pay up, offering

a yield equal to 1.3 percentage point more
than the yield on its existing debt. That ex-
tra yield, known as the new issue conces-
sion, is usually much lower for high-grade
companies’ borrowing in the US: It has av-
eraged just 0.02 percentage point this year.
Fears about how AI will upend industries
from software to logistics have sent stocks
plunging and pushed billions of dollars of
debt into distressed territory. For Concen-
trix, the rise of artificial intelligence could
translate to businesses using AI bots to
handle more of their customer service in
house and outsourcing less. The company
has more than 455,000 employees and op-
erations spanning Canada to Australia.
“Labour-intensive outsourcing sits
in generative AI’s direct line of fire, as

routine customer interactions rapidly
get automated,” said Grant Nachman,
founder and chief investment officer at
Shorecliff Asset Management. “Coming
to market now means investors need to
price in fast-moving structural threats to
volumes and margins, forcing issuers to
pay steep premiums.”

Concentrix didn’t respond to a request
for comment. Spokespeople for JPMorgan
Chase & Co and Bank of America Corp,
which managed the bond offering, de-
clined to comment.

Concentrix has sought to ease investor
concerns about the risks AI tools pose to
its business. Adoption of the technology
has proved to be a “tailwind” for the com-
pany as it moves to automate some serv-

ices, Chief Executive Officer Christopher
Caldwell said last month on a conference
call with analysts.

But the company’s stock lost 24% this
week through Thursday’s close. Its bonds
have weakened relative to Treasuries too:
The spread on its $800mn of notes due
2028 has almost doubled in February.

Earlier this month, Fitch Ratings said
the medium-term outlook for Concen-
trix’s ratings is negative, citing disrup-
tion risks posed by Al. The firm — which
in recent years embarked on a series of
acquisitions — is taking longer than pre-
viously expected to reduce its debt burden
as it also grapples with industry softness,
higher offshore costs and excess capac-
ity, Fitch said. The bond grader rates the

company at BBB, or two steps above junk,
while Moody’s Ratings and S&P Global
Ratings have the company a notch lower.

“Automation will grab 20% of the out-
sourced customer-care market by 2028,
our calculations show, but industry lead-
ers are already pivoting to counter therisk.
Enterprise clients will increasingly choose
hybrid human/AI delivery models, which
deliver more consistent resolution qual-
ity and reduce hand-off errors compared
with autonomous-only systems”, says
Bloomberg Intelligence’s Tamlin Bason.

There were other signs of weak demand
for the company’s bonds this week. Inves-
tors placed orders equal to less than twice
the amount of bonds for sale, according to
data compiled by Bloomberg News.
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